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Part I - Financial Information
Item I - Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

 
Garmin Ltd. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income (Unaudited)
(In thousands, except per share information)

 
  13-Weeks Ended   39-Weeks Ended  

  
September 

28, 2024   
September 

30, 2023   
September 

28, 2024   
September 

30, 2023  
Net sales  $ 1,586,022   $ 1,277,531   $ 4,474,342   $ 3,745,751  
Cost of goods sold   634,423    548,962    1,857,712    1,604,945  
Gross profit   951,599    728,569    2,616,630    2,140,806  
             
Research and development expense   249,162    221,572    734,848    667,451  
Selling, general and administrative expenses   264,962    236,628    803,869    721,649  
Total operating expense   514,124    458,200    1,538,717    1,389,100  
             
Operating income   437,475    270,369    1,077,913    751,706  
Other income (expense):             

Interest income   28,830    19,803    83,143    54,461  
Foreign currency gains (losses)   18,131    (11,539 )   15,584    6,946 
Other income   1,814   938    2,623   4,206 

Total other income (expense)   48,775    9,202   101,350    65,613  
             
Income before income taxes   486,250    279,571    1,179,263    817,319  
Income tax provision   87,139    22,328    203,560    69,810  
Net income  $ 399,111   $ 257,243   $ 975,703   $ 747,509  
             
Net income per share:             

Basic  $ 2.08   $ 1.34   $ 5.08   $ 3.91  
Diluted  $ 2.07   $ 1.34   $ 5.06   $ 3.90  
             

Weighted average common shares outstanding:             
Basic   192,201    191,435    192,055    191,409  
Diluted   193,171    191,868    192,940    191,772  

 
See accompanying notes.
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Garmin Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Unaudited)

(In thousands)
 

  13-Weeks Ended   39-Weeks Ended  

  
September 

28, 2024   
September 

30, 2023   
September 

28, 2024   
September 

30, 2023  
Net income  $ 399,111   $ 257,243   $ 975,703   $ 747,509  
Foreign currency translation adjustment   62,176    (48,342 )   (17,199 )   (56,793 )
Change in fair value of available-for-sale marketable securities, net of 
deferred taxes   25,123    2,815   32,118    10,499  
Comprehensive income  $ 486,410   $ 211,716   $ 990,622   $ 701,215  
 
See accompanying notes.
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Garmin Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited)

(In thousands)
 

  
September 28,

2024   
December 30,

2023  
Assets       
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 2,009,361   $ 1,693,452  
Marketable securities   414,701    274,618  
Accounts receivable, net   922,034    815,243  
Inventories   1,505,536    1,345,955  
Deferred costs   23,385    16,316  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   334,488    318,556  

Total current assets   5,209,505    4,464,140  
       
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $1,120,096 and $1,030,588   1,220,113    1,224,097  
Operating lease right-of-use assets

  
137,665

   
143,724

 
Noncurrent marketable securities   1,106,532    1,125,191  
Deferred income tax assets   787,849    754,635  
Noncurrent deferred costs   7,994    11,057  
Goodwill   611,884    608,474  
Other intangible assets, net   168,230    186,601  
Other noncurrent assets   97,960    85,650  
Total assets  $ 9,347,732   $ 8,603,569  
       
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity       
Current liabilities:       

Accounts payable  $ 374,025   $ 253,790  
Salaries and benefits payable   218,941    190,014  
Accrued warranty costs   57,983    55,738  
Accrued sales program costs   75,802    98,610  
Other accrued expenses   222,925    245,874  
Deferred revenue   113,049    101,189  
Income taxes payable   227,735    225,475  
Dividend payable   288,204    139,997  

Total current liabilities   1,578,664    1,310,687  
       
Deferred income tax liabilities

  
104,996

   
114,682

 
Noncurrent income taxes payable   16,864    16,521  
Noncurrent deferred revenue   30,227    36,148  
Noncurrent operating lease liabilities   109,832    113,035  
Other noncurrent liabilities   602    436  
       
Stockholders’ equity:       

Common shares (194,901 and 195,880 shares authorized and issued;
    192,136 and 191,777 shares outstanding)   19,490    19,588  
Additional paid-in capital   2,218,170    2,125,467  
Treasury shares (2,765 and 4,103 shares)   (243,994 )   (330,909 )
Retained earnings   5,563,576    5,263,528  
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)   (50,695 )   (65,614 )

Total stockholders’ equity   7,506,547    7,012,060  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 9,347,732   $ 8,603,569  
 
See accompanying notes.
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Garmin Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)

(In thousands)
 

  39-Weeks Ended  

  
September 28,

2024   
September 30,

2023  
Operating Activities:       
Net income  $ 975,703   $ 747,509  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
   operating activities:       

Depreciation   102,343    98,483  
Amortization   30,849    33,751  
Gain on sale or disposal of property and equipment   (48)   (50)
Unrealized foreign currency (gains) losses   (25,486 )   9,927 
Deferred income taxes   (53,966 )   (90,214 )
Stock compensation expense   101,039    66,214  
Realized loss on marketable securities   29    56  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:       

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts   (103,567 )   (54,756 )
Inventories   (163,865 )   111,459  
Other current and noncurrent assets   (47,413 )   28,288  
Accounts payable   124,315    55,340  
Other current and noncurrent liabilities   (6,987)   430  
Deferred revenue   5,885   7,063 
Deferred costs   (3,987)   (1,152)
Income taxes   13,737    (102,024 )

Net cash provided by operating activities   948,581    910,324  
       
Investing activities:       
Purchases of property and equipment   (108,869 )   (144,876 )
Purchase of marketable securities   (363,783 )   (116,039 )
Redemption of marketable securities   277,334    145,094  
Net cash from (payments for) acquisitions   5,011   (150,853 )
Other investing activities, net   (458 )   (1,018)
Net cash used in investing activities   (190,765 )   (267,692 )
       
Financing activities:       
Dividends   (428,373 )   (419,166 )
Proceeds from issuance of treasury shares related to equity awards   24,530    21,946  
Purchase of treasury shares related to equity awards   (16,313 )   (9,397)
Purchase of treasury shares under share repurchase plan   (29,278 )   (79,533 )
Net cash used in financing activities   (449,434 )   (486,150 )
       
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   7,536   (12,854 )
       
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash   315,918    143,628  
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period   1,694,156    1,279,912  
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period  $ 2,010,074   $ 1,423,540  
 
 See accompanying notes.
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Garmin Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Unaudited)

For the 13-Weeks Ended September 28, 2024 and September 30, 2023
(In thousands)

 

  
Common
Shares   

Additional
Paid-In
Capital   

Treasury
Shares   

Retained
Earnings   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)   Total  

Balance at July 1, 2023  $ 19,588   $ 2,077,540   $ (322,688 )  $ 4,464,682   $ (115,300 )  $ 6,123,822  
Net income   —    —    —    257,243    —    257,243  
Translation adjustment   —    —    —    —    (48,342 )   (48,342 )

Adjustment related to unrealized gains (losses) 
on available-for-sale securities net of income tax 
effects of $686   —    —    —    —    2,815    2,815  

Comprehensive income                  211,716  
Dividends   —    —    —    (370 )   —    (370 )
Issuance of treasury shares related to equity 
awards   —    —    —    —    —    —  
Stock compensation   —    22,817    —    —    —    22,817  
Purchase of treasury shares related to equity 
awards   —    —    —    —    —    —  
Purchase of treasury shares under share 
repurchase plan, including any associated excise 
tax   —    —    (8,705 )   —    —    (8,705 )
Cancellation of treasury shares   —    —    —    —    —    —  
Share capital currency change   —    —    —    —    —    —  

Balance at September 30, 2023  $ 19,588   $ 2,100,357   $ (331,393 )  $ 4,721,555   $ (160,827 )  $ 6,349,280  
                   

  
Common
Shares   

Additional
Paid-In
Capital   

Treasury
Shares   

Retained
Earnings   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)   Total  

Balance at June 29, 2024  $ 19,490   $ 2,183,158   $ (223,899 )  $ 5,164,227   $ (137,994 )  $ 7,004,982  
Net income   —    —    —    399,111    —    399,111  
Translation adjustment   —    —    —    —    

62,176
   

62,176
 

Adjustment related to unrealized gains (losses) 
on available-for-sale securities net of income tax 
effects of $8,613   —    —    —    —    25,123    25,123  

Comprehensive income                  486,410  
Dividends   —    —    —    238    —    238  
Issuance of treasury shares related to equity 
awards   —    (43 )   43    —    —    —  
Stock compensation

  —    
35,055

   —    —    —    
35,055

 
Purchase of treasury shares related to equity 
awards   —    —    (49 )   —    —    (49 )
Purchase of treasury shares under share 
repurchase plan, including any associated excise 
tax   —    —    (20,089 )   —    —    (20,089 )
Cancellation of treasury shares      —    —    —    —    —  
Share capital currency change   —    —    —    —    —    —  

Balance at September 28, 2024
 $ 19,490   $

2,218,170
  $ (243,994 )  $

5,563,576
  $ (50,695 )  $

7,506,547
 

                   
 
See accompanying notes.
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Garmin Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Unaudited)

For the 39-Weeks Ended September 28, 2024 and September 30, 2023
(In thousands)

 

  
Common
Shares   

Additional
Paid-In
Capital   

Treasury
Shares   

Retained
Earnings   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)   Total  

Balance at December 31, 2022  $ 17,979   $ 2,042,472   $ (475,095 )  $ 4,733,517   $ (114,533 )  $ 6,204,340  
Net income   —    —    —    747,509    —    747,509  
Translation adjustment   —    —    —    —    (56,793 )   (56,793 )
Adjustment related to unrealized gains (losses) 
on available-for-sale securities net of income tax 
effects of $2,327   —    —    —    —    10,499    10,499  

Comprehensive income                  701,215  
Dividends   —    —    —    (558,882 )   —    (558,882 )
Issuance of treasury shares related to equity 
awards   —    (6,482 )   28,428    —    —    21,946  
Stock compensation   —    66,214    —    —    —    66,214  
Purchase of treasury shares related to equity 
awards   —    —    (9,397 )   —    —    (9,397 )
Purchase of treasury shares under share 
repurchase plan, including any associated excise 
tax   —    —    (76,156 )   —    —    (76,156 )
Cancellation of treasury shares   (238 )   —    200,827    (200,589 )   —    —  
Share capital currency change   1,847    (1,847 )   —    —    —    —  

Balance at September 30, 2023  $ 19,588   $ 2,100,357   $ (331,393 )  $ 4,721,555   $ (160,827 )  $ 6,349,280  
                   

  
Common
Shares   

Additional
Paid-In
Capital   

Treasury
Shares   

Retained
Earnings   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)   Total  

Balance at December 30, 2023  $ 19,588   $ 2,125,467   $ (330,909 )  $ 5,263,528   $ (65,614 )  $ 7,012,060  
Net income   —    —    —    975,703    —    975,703  
Translation adjustment   —    —    —    —    (17,199 )   (17,199 )
Adjustment related to unrealized gains (losses) 
on available-for-sale securities net of income tax 
effects of $10,810   —    —    —    —    32,118    32,118  

Comprehensive income                  990,622  
Dividends   —    —    —    (576,580 )   —    (576,580 )
Issuance of treasury shares related to equity 
awards   —    (8,336 )   32,866    —    —    24,530  
Stock compensation   —    101,039    —    —    —    101,039  
Purchase of treasury shares related to equity 
awards   —    —    (16,313 )   —    —    (16,313 )
Purchase of treasury shares under share 
repurchase plan, including any associated excise 
tax   —    —    (28,811 )   —    —    (28,811 )
Cancellation of treasury shares   (98 )   —    99,173    (99,075 )   —    —  
Share capital currency change   —    —    —    —    —    —  

Balance at September 28, 2024  $ 19,490   $ 2,218,170   $ (243,994 )  $ 5,563,576   $ (50,695 )  $ 7,506,547  
                   

 
See accompanying notes.
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Garmin Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

September 28, 2024
(In thousands, except per share information)

 
1. Accounting Policies
 
Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation
 

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Garmin Ltd. and its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries (collectively, we, our, us, the Company or Garmin). Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

 
The condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for interim 

financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and 
footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, the condensed 
consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments, which are normal and recurring in nature, necessary for fair financial statement presentation. 
The condensed consolidated balance sheet at December 30, 2023 has been derived from the audited financial statements at that date, but does not 
include all of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. Additionally, the 
condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with Part I, Item 2, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations” of this Form 10-Q, and the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 30, 2023. 

 
The Company's operating results are subject to fluctuations associated with seasonal demand for consumer products, the timing of new 

product introductions, and original equipment manufacturer (OEM) customer production schedules. Therefore, operating results for the 13-week and 39-
week periods ended September 28, 2024 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 28, 2024.
 

The Company’s fiscal year is based on a 52- or 53-week period ending on the last Saturday of the calendar year. Therefore, the financial 
results of certain 53-week fiscal years, and the associated 14-week quarters, will not be exactly comparable to the prior and subsequent 52-week fiscal 
years and the associated 13-week quarters. The quarters ended September 28, 2024 and September 30, 2023 both contain operating results for 13 
weeks.

 
Changes in Classification and Allocation
 

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified or presented to conform to the current period presentation.
 
In the first quarter of fiscal 2024, the Company changed the presentation of operating expense to include advertising expense within selling, 

general and administrative expenses on the Company's condensed consolidated statements of income, which management believes to be a more 
meaningful presentation. As a result, the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of income have been recast for the 13-week and 39-week 
periods ended September 30, 2023 to conform with the current period presentation. This change had no effect on the Company’s consolidated operating 
or net income.
 
Significant Accounting Policies
 

For a description of the significant accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of the Company’s condensed consolidated financial 
statements, refer to Note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of the 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2023. There were no material changes to the Company’s significant 
accounting policies during the 39-week period ended September 28, 2024.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
 

There are no recently adopted accounting standards that have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements, 
accounting policies, processes, or systems.
 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
 
Income Taxes

 
In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-09, Income Taxes 

(Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (“ASU 2023-09”) to enhance the transparency and decision usefulness of income tax disclosures, 
primarily related to the income tax rate reconciliation and income taxes paid. ASU 2023-09 will require the Company to disclose specified additional 
information in its income tax rate reconciliation, provide additional information for certain reconciling items, and disaggregate its disclosure of income 
taxes paid by federal, state and foreign taxes, with further disaggregation required for significant individual jurisdictions. ASU 2023-09 is effective for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The amendments may be applied using either a prospective or retrospective 
approach.

 
Segment Reporting

 
In November 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to 

Reportable Segment Disclosures (“ASU 2023-07”) to improve reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures. ASU 
2023-07 will require the Company to disclose additional information about certain significant segment expenses, as well as how the Company’s chief 
operating decision maker (CODM) uses segment profit or loss information in assessing segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources. 
ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. 
The Company will adopt ASU 2023-07 using a retrospective transition method.

 
2. Revenue
 

 In order to further depict how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of the Company's revenue and cash flows are affected by economic 
factors, we disaggregate revenue (“net sales”) by geographic region, major product category, and pattern of recognition.
 

Disaggregated revenue by geographic region (Americas, APAC, and EMEA) is presented in Note 11 – Segment Information and Geographic 
Data. Note 11 also contains disaggregated revenue information of the five major product categories identified by the Company – fitness, outdoor, 
aviation, marine, and auto OEM.
  

A large majority of the Company’s sales are recognized on a point in time basis, usually once the product is shipped and title and risk of loss 
have transferred to the customer. Sales recognized over a period of time are primarily within the outdoor, aviation, and auto OEM segments and relate to 
performance obligations that are satisfied over the contractual service period or estimated life of the product. Revenue disaggregated by the timing of 
transfer of the goods or services is presented in the table below:
 

  13-Weeks Ended   39-Weeks Ended  

  
September 

28, 2024   
September 

30, 2023   
September 

28, 2024   
September 

30, 2023  
Point in time  $ 1,496,940   $ 1,200,676   $ 4,231,561   $ 3,532,960  
Over time   89,082    76,855    242,781    212,791  

Net sales  $ 1,586,022   $ 1,277,531   $ 4,474,342   $ 3,745,751  
 

Transaction price and costs associated with the Company’s unsatisfied performance obligations are reflected as deferred revenue and 
deferred costs, respectively, on the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets. Such amounts are recognized ratably over the applicable 
service period or estimated useful life. Changes in deferred revenue and costs during the 39-week period ended September 28, 2024 are presented 
below:
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39-Weeks Ended

September 28, 2024  

  
Deferred

 Revenue   
Deferred 
Costs  

Balance, beginning of period  $ 137,337   $ 27,373  
Deferrals in period   248,720    47,371  
Recognition of deferrals in period   (242,781 )   (43,365 )

Balance, end of period  $ 143,276   $ 31,379  
 

(1) Deferred revenue is comprised of both deferred revenue and noncurrent deferred revenue per the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
 

(2) Deferred costs are comprised of both deferred costs and noncurrent deferred costs per the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
 

Of the $242,781 of deferred revenue recognized in the 39-week period ended September 28, 2024, approximately $84,371 was deferred as of 
the beginning of the period. Of the $143,276 of deferred revenue as of September 28, 2024, the Company expects to recognize approximately 90% 
ratably over a total period of three years or less.

 
3. Earnings Per Share
 

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income per share. Stock options, stock appreciation rights, and restricted 
stock units are collectively referred to as “equity awards”. 
 

  13-Weeks Ended   39-Weeks Ended  

  
September 

28, 2024   
September 

30, 2023   
September 

28, 2024   
September 

30, 2023  
Numerator:             

Numerator for basic and diluted net income per share – net income  $ 399,111   $ 257,243   $ 975,703   $ 747,509  
             

Denominator:             
Denominator for basic net income per share – weighted-average common shares   192,201    191,435    192,055    191,409  
             
Effect of dilutive equity awards   970    433    885    363  
             
Denominator for diluted net income per share – adjusted weighted-average 
common shares   193,171    191,868    192,940    191,772  
             

Basic net income per share  $ 2.08   $ 1.34   $ 5.08   $ 3.91  
             
Diluted net income per share  $ 2.07   $ 1.34   $ 5.06   $ 3.90  
             
Shares excluded from diluted net income per share calculation:             

Anti-dilutive equity awards   —    —    —    215  
 

4. Marketable Securities
 

Accounting Standards Codification Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, defines fair value as the price that would be received 
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (exit price). The accounting 
guidance classifies the inputs used to measure fair value into the following hierarchy:
 
 Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for the identical asset or liability
 

 Level 2 Observable inputs for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, 
quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or inputs other than quoted prices that are observable 
for the asset or liability

 

 Level 3 Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability
 

(1) (2)
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The Company endeavors to utilize the best available information in measuring fair value. Financial assets and liabilities are classified in their 
entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Valuation is based on prices obtained from an independent 
pricing vendor using both market and income approaches. The primary inputs to the valuation include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in 
active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, contractual cash flows, benchmark yields, and credit 
spreads.
 

The method described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair 
values. Furthermore, while the Company believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different 
methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement at the 
reporting date. 
 

Marketable securities classified as available-for-sale securities are summarized below:
 

  
Available-For-Sale Securities

as of September 28, 2024  

  
Fair Value 

Level  Amortized Cost   

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains   

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses   Fair Value  
U.S. Treasury securities  Level 2  $ 4,869  $ 20   $ —   $ 4,889 
Agency securities  Level 2   25,955    145    (333 )   25,767  
Mortgage-backed securities  Level 2   34,910    —    (3,605)   31,305  
Corporate debt securities  Level 2   1,203,805    9,573   (21,262 )   1,192,116  
Municipal securities  Level 2   274,323    508    (10,435 )   264,396  
Other  Level 2   2,874   —    (114 )   2,760 
Total    $ 1,546,736   $ 10,246   $ (35,749 )  $ 1,521,233  
 

  
Available-For-Sale Securities

as of December 30, 2023  

  

Fair Value 
Level

 Amortized Cost   

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains   

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses   Fair Value  
U.S. Treasury securities  Level 2  $ 2,971  $ 1   $ —   $ 2,972 
Agency securities  Level 2   23,692    32    (585 )   23,139  
Mortgage-backed securities  Level 2   38,743    —    (4,731)   34,012  
Corporate debt securities  Level 2   1,104,834    1,680   (46,073 )   1,060,441  
Municipal securities  Level 2   294,240    98    (18,430 )   275,908  
Other  Level 2   3,760   —    (423 )   3,337 
Total    $ 1,468,240   $ 1,811   $ (70,242 )  $ 1,399,809  

 
The primary objectives of the Company’s investment policy are to preserve capital, maintain an acceptable degree of liquidity, and maximize 

yield within the constraint of low credit risk. The fair value of securities varies from period to period due to changes in interest rates, the performance of 
the underlying collateral, and the credit performance of the underlying issuer, among other factors. 

 
Accrued interest receivable, which totaled $13,386 as of September 28, 2024, is excluded from both the fair value and amortized cost basis of 

available-for-sale securities and is included within prepaid expenses and other current assets on the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets. 
The Company writes off impaired accrued interest on a timely basis, generally within 30 days of the due date, by reversing interest income. No accrued 
interest was written off during the 39-week period ended September 28, 2024.
 

The Company recognizes impairments relating to credit losses of available-for-sale securities through an allowance for credit losses and other 
income (expense) on the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of income. Impairment not relating to credit losses is recorded in accumulated 
other comprehensive income (loss) on the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific 
identification method. Approximately 72% of securities in the Company’s portfolio were at an unrealized loss position as of September 28, 2024.
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The following tables display additional information regarding gross unrealized losses and fair value by major security type for available-for-sale 
securities in an unrealized loss position as of September 28, 2024 and December 30, 2023.

 
  As of September 28, 2024  
  Less than 12 Consecutive Months   12 Consecutive Months or Longer   Total  

  
Gross Unrealized 

Losses   Fair Value   
Gross Unrealized 

Losses   Fair Value   

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses   Fair Value  
Agency securities  $ —   $ 1,000   $ (333 )  $ 6,667   $ (333 )  $ 7,667  
Mortgage-backed securities   —    —    (3,605 )   31,305    (3,605 )   31,305  
Corporate debt securities   (127 )   36,935    (21,135 )   688,156    (21,262 )   725,091  
Municipal securities   —    —    (10,435 )   235,171    (10,435 )   235,171  
Other   —    —    (114 )   2,760    (114 )   2,760  

Total  $ (127 )  $ 37,935   $ (35,622 )  $ 964,059   $ (35,749 )  $ 1,001,994  
 

  As of December 30, 2023  
  Less than 12 Consecutive Months   12 Consecutive Months or Longer   Total  

  
Gross Unrealized 

Losses   Fair Value   
Gross Unrealized 

Losses   Fair Value   

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses   Fair Value  
Agency securities

 $ (31 )  $
10,923

  $ (554 )  $ 6,446   $ (585 )  $
17,369

 
Mortgage-backed securities   —    —    (4,731 )   34,012    (4,731 )   34,012  
Corporate debt securities   (702 )   64,637    (45,371 )   889,785    (46,073 )   954,422  
Municipal securities   (32 )   2,654    (18,398 )   261,651    (18,430 )   264,305  
Other   —    —    (423 )   3,337    (423 )   3,337  

Total  $ (765 )  $ 78,214   $ (69,477 )  $ 1,195,231   $ (70,242 )  $ 1,273,445  
 

As of September 28, 2024 and December 30, 2023, the Company had not recognized an allowance for credit losses on any securities in an 
unrealized loss position. 
 

The Company has not recorded an allowance for credit losses and charge to other income (expense) for the unrealized losses on agency, 
mortgage-backed, corporate debt, municipal, and other securities presented above because the Company does not consider the declines in fair value to 
have resulted from credit losses. The Company has not observed a significant deterioration in credit quality of these securities, which are highly rated 
with moderate to low credit risk. Declines in value are largely attributable to current global economic conditions. The securities continue to make timely 
principal and interest payments, and the fair values are expected to recover as they approach maturity. Management does not intend to sell the 
securities, and it is not more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the securities, before the respective recoveries of their amortized 
cost bases, which may be maturity.

 
The amortized cost and fair value of marketable securities at September 28, 2024, by maturity, are shown below.
 

  Amortized Cost   Fair Value  
Due in one year or less  $ 421,840   $ 414,701  
Due after one year through five years   1,108,518    1,092,026  
Due after five years through ten years   7,588   7,001 
Due after ten years   8,790   7,505 
Total  $ 1,546,736   $ 1,521,233  

 
5. Income Taxes
 

The Company recorded income tax expense of $87,139 in the 13-week period ended September 28, 2024, compared to income tax expense of 
$22,328 in the 13-week period ended September 30, 2023. The effective tax rate was 17.9% in the third quarter of 2024, compared to 8.0% in the third 
quarter of 2023. The increase in effective tax rate between comparative periods was primarily due to the increase in the combined federal and cantonal 
Switzerland statutory tax rate in response to the implementation of global minimum tax requirements.

 
The Company recorded income tax expense of $203,560 in the 39-week period ended September 28, 2024, compared to income tax expense 

of $69,810 in the 39-week period ended September 30, 2023. The effective tax rate was 17.3% in the first three quarters of 2024, compared to 8.5% in 
the first three quarters of 2023. The increase in effective tax rate between comparative periods was primarily due to the increase in the combined federal 
and cantonal Switzerland statutory tax rate in response to the implementation of global minimum tax requirements.
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6. Inventories
 

The components of inventories consist of the following:
 

  
September 28,

2024   
December 30, 

2023  
Raw materials  $ 565,253   $ 493,493  
Work-in-process   227,701    160,919  
Finished goods   712,582    691,543  
Inventories  $ 1,505,536   $ 1,345,955  
 

7. Warranty Reserves
 

The Company accrues for estimated future warranty costs at the time products are sold. The Company’s standard warranty obligation to retail 
partners generally provides for a right of return of any product for a full refund in the event that such product is not merchantable, is damaged, or is 
defective. The Company’s standard warranty obligation to its end-users provides for a period of one to two years from the date of shipment, while certain 
aviation, marine, and auto OEM products have a warranty period of two years or more from the date of installation. The Company’s estimates of costs to 
service its warranty obligations are based on historical experience and management’s expectations and judgments of future conditions, with most claims 
resolved within a year of the sale. The following reconciliation presents details of the changes in the Company's accrued warranty costs:
 

  13-Weeks Ended   39-Weeks Ended  
  September 28, 2024   September 30, 2023   September 28, 2024   September 30, 2023  

Balance - beginning of period  $ 58,253   $ 52,352   $ 55,738   $ 50,952  
Accrual for products sold   19,039    17,398    64,334    58,124  
Expenditures   (19,309 )   (16,217 )   (62,089 )   (55,543 )
Balance - end of period  $ 57,983   $ 53,533   $ 57,983   $ 53,533  
 

(1) Changes in cost estimates related to pre-existing warranties were not material and are aggregated with accruals for new warranty contracts in the ‘accrual for 
products sold’ line.

 
8. Commitments and Contingencies
 
Commitments

 
The Company is party to certain commitments that require the future purchase of goods or services (“unconditional purchase obligations”). The 

Company’s unconditional purchase obligations primarily consist of payments for inventory, capital expenditures, and other indirect purchases in 
connection with conducting its business. The aggregate amount of purchase orders and other commitments open as of September 28, 2024 that may 
represent noncancelable unconditional purchase obligations having a remaining term in excess of one year was approximately $339,000.

 
Certain cash balances are held as collateral in relation to bank guarantees. This restricted cash is reported within other assets on the 

condensed consolidated balance sheets and totaled $713 and $704 on September 28, 2024 and December 30, 2023, respectively. The total of the cash 
and cash equivalents balance and the restricted cash reported within other assets in the condensed consolidated balance sheets equals the total cash, 
cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows.

 
Contingencies

 
Management of the Company currently does not believe it is reasonably possible that the Company may have incurred a material loss, or a 

material loss in excess of recorded accruals, with respect to loss contingencies in the aggregate, for the fiscal quarter ended September 28, 2024. The 
results of legal proceedings, investigations and claims, however, cannot be predicted with certainty. An adverse resolution of one or more of such matters 
in excess of management’s expectations could have a material adverse effect in the particular quarter or fiscal year in which a loss is recorded, but 
based on information currently known, the Company does not believe it is likely that losses from such matters would have a material adverse effect on 
the Company’s business or its consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

 

(1)
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The Company settled or resolved certain matters during the 13-week and 39-week periods ended September 28, 2024 that did not individually 
or in the aggregate have a material impact on the Company’s business or its consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

 
9. Stockholders' Equity
 
Dividends
 

Under Swiss corporate law, dividends must be approved by shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company’s shareholders. 
Approved dividends are payable in four equal installments on dates to be determined by the Board of Directors. A reduction of retained earnings and a 
corresponding liability are recorded at the time of shareholders' approval and are periodically adjusted based on the number of applicable shares 
outstanding.

 
The Company's shareholders approved the following dividends:
 

Approval Date  Dividend Payment Date  Record Date  
Dividend Per 

Share  
Fiscal 2024        
June 7, 2024  June 28, 2024  June 17, 2024  $ 0.75  
June 7, 2024  September 27, 2024  September 13, 2024  $ 0.75  
June 7, 2024  December 27, 2024  December 13, 2024  $ 0.75  
June 7, 2024  March 28, 2025  March 14, 2025  $ 0.75  
Total      $ 3.00  
        
Fiscal 2023        
June 9, 2023  June 30, 2023  June 20, 2023  $ 0.73  
June 9, 2023  September 29, 2023  September 15, 2023  $ 0.73  
June 9, 2023  December 29, 2023  December 15, 2023  $ 0.73  
June 9, 2023  March 29, 2024  March 15, 2024  $ 0.73  
Total

 
 

   $ 2.92
 

        
Fiscal 2022        
June 10, 2022  June 30, 2022  June 20, 2022  $ 0.73  
June 10, 2022  September 30, 2022  September 15, 2022  $ 0.73  
June 10, 2022  December 30, 2022  December 15, 2022  $ 0.73  
June 10, 2022  March 31, 2023  March 15, 2023  $ 0.73  
Total      $ 2.92  

 
Share Repurchase Programs
 

On April 22, 2022, the Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program (the “2022 Program”) authorizing the Company to repurchase 
up to $300,000 of the common shares of Garmin Ltd., exclusive of the cost of any associated excise tax. As of December 30, 2023, the Company had 
repurchased 3,176 shares for $300,000, leaving $0 available to repurchase additional shares under the 2022 Program when the share repurchase 
authorization expired on December 29, 2023. 

 
On February 16, 2024, the Board of Directors approved a new share repurchase program (the “2024 Program”) authorizing the Company to 

repurchase up to $300,000 of the common shares of Garmin Ltd., exclusive of the cost of any associated excise tax. The timing and volume of share 
repurchases are subject to market conditions, business conditions and applicable laws, and are at management’s discretion. Share repurchases may be 
made from time to time in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, including under plans complying with the provisions of Rule 10b5-1 and 
Rule 10b-18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The 2024 Program does not require the purchase of any minimum number of shares 
and may be suspended or discontinued at any time. The share repurchase authorization expires on December 26, 2026. As of September 28, 2024, the 
Company had repurchased 176 shares for $29,802, leaving $270,198 available to repurchase additional shares under the 2024 Program.
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Treasury Shares
 

In March 2024, the Board of Directors authorized the cancellation of 979 shares previously purchased under our share repurchase program. 
The capital reduction by cancellation of these shares became effective in March 2024. Total stockholders’ equity reported for the Company was not 
affected.

 
10. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
 

The following provides required disclosure of changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) balances by component for the 13-
week and 39-week periods ended September 28, 2024:

 
  13-Weeks Ended September 28, 2024  

  

Foreign currency
translation 
adjustment   

Net gains (losses) 
on available-for-sale 

securities   Total  
Balance - beginning of period  $ (90,883 )  $ (47,111 )  $ (137,994 )

Other comprehensive income before reclassification, net of income tax expense of $8,613   62,176    25,123    87,299  
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to other income 
(expense), net of income tax of $0 included in income tax provision   —    —    —  

Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss)   62,176    25,123    87,299  
Balance - end of period  $ (28,707 )  $ (21,988 )  $ (50,695 )

 
  39-Weeks Ended September 28, 2024  

  

Foreign currency
translation 
adjustment   

Net gains (losses) 
on available-for-sale 

securities   Total  
Balance - beginning of period  $ (11,508 )  $ (54,106 )  $ (65,614 )

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassification, net of income tax expense of 
$10,805   (17,199 )   32,094    14,895  
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to other income 
(expense), net of income tax benefit of $5 included in income tax provision   —    24    24  

Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss)   (17,199 )   32,118   $ 14,919  
Balance - end of period  $ (28,707 )  $ (21,988 )  $ (50,695 )
 

11. Segment Information and Geographic Data
 

Garmin is organized in the five operating segments of fitness, outdoor, aviation, marine, and auto OEM. These operating segments represent 
the Company's reportable segments.

 
 The Company’s Chief Executive Officer, who has been identified as the CODM, primarily uses operating income as the measure of profit or 

loss to assess segment performance and allocate resources. Operating income represents net sales less costs of goods sold and operating expenses. 
Net sales are directly attributed to each segment. Most costs of goods sold and the majority of operating expenses are also directly attributed to each 
segment, while certain other costs of goods sold and operating expenses are allocated to the segments in a reasonable manner considering the specific 
facts and circumstances of the expenses being allocated.
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Net sales (“revenue”), gross profit, and operating income for each of the Company’s five reportable segments are presented below.
 
  Fitness   Outdoor   Aviation   Marine   Auto OEM   Total  
13-Weeks Ended September 28, 
2024

                  

Net sales  $ 463,887   $ 526,551   $ 204,631   $ 222,244   $ 168,709   $ 1,586,022  
Gross profit   283,325    358,693    154,138    122,433    33,010    951,599  
Operating income (loss)   147,768    208,866    44,278    37,839    (1,276 )   437,475  
                   
13-Weeks Ended September 30, 
2023

                  

Net sales  $ 352,976   $ 433,997   $ 198,160   $ 182,248   $ 110,150   $ 1,277,531  
Gross profit   190,685    270,774    148,364    95,186    23,560    728,569  
Operating income (loss)   74,614    136,401    49,269    23,850    (13,765 )   270,369  
                   
39-Weeks Ended September 28, 
2024

                  

Net sales  $ 1,235,182   $ 1,332,617   $ 639,739   $ 821,933   $ 444,871   $ 4,474,342  
Gross profit   723,375    885,646    478,131    449,472    80,006    2,616,630  
Operating income (loss)   323,511    451,408    146,899    185,422    (29,327 )   1,077,913  
                   
39-Weeks Ended September 30, 
2023

                  

Net sales  $ 932,561   $ 1,210,773   $ 629,195   $ 677,026   $ 296,196   $ 3,745,751  
Gross profit   484,759    755,800    463,774    365,162    71,311    2,140,806  
Operating income (loss)   139,651    351,399    169,730    142,135    (51,209 )   751,706  

 
Net sales to external customers by geographic region for the 13-week and 39-week periods ended September 28, 2024 and September 30, 

2023 are presented below. Note that APAC includes Asia Pacific and Australian Continent and EMEA includes Europe, the Middle East and Africa.
 

  13-Weeks Ended   39-Weeks Ended  

  
September 28, 

2024   
September 30, 

2023   
September 28, 

2024   
September 30, 

2023  
Americas  $ 724,572   $ 628,157   $ 2,181,266   $ 1,881,710  
EMEA   612,658    439,123    1,618,058    1,252,526  
APAC   248,792    210,251    675,018    611,515  

Net sales to external customers  $ 1,586,022   $ 1,277,531   $ 4,474,342   $ 3,745,751  
 

 
12. Subsequent Events
 

On September 30, 2024, the Company acquired Lumishore, a privately-held company that designs and manufactures high-performance above 
and underwater LED lighting systems for boats. This acquisition was not material.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 

The discussion set forth below, as well as other portions of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, contain statements concerning potential future 
events. Such forward-looking statements are based upon assumptions by management, as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including 
assumptions about risks and uncertainties faced by the Company. Readers can identify these forward-looking statements by their use of such words as 
"future", "expects", "anticipates", "believes", “estimates”, “would”, “could”, “can”, “may,” or other similar words or other comparable terms. If any of the 
Company’s assumptions prove incorrect or should unanticipated circumstances arise, actual results could materially differ from those anticipated by such 
forward-looking statements. The differences could be caused by a number of factors or combination of factors including, but not limited to, those factors 
identified in Part II, Item 1A of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 30, 
2023. Readers are strongly encouraged to consider those factors when evaluating any forward-looking statement concerning the Company. These 
forward-looking statements are made as of the date hereof, and the Company disclaims any obligation to update any forward-looking statements in this 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to reflect future events or developments, except as required by law.
 

The information contained in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be read in 
conjunction with the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the audited 
financial statements and notes thereto in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 30, 2023. Unless the context 
otherwise requires, references in this document to "we", "us", "our", the "Company" and similar terms refer to Garmin Ltd. and its subsidiaries.

 
Unless otherwise indicated, amounts set forth in the discussion below are in thousands.

 
Company Overview
 

The Company is a leading worldwide provider of wireless devices, many of which feature Global Positioning System (GPS) navigation, and 
applications that are designed for people who live an active lifestyle. We are organized in the five operating segments of fitness, outdoor, aviation, 
marine, and auto OEM. Our products are sold through a variety of indirect distribution channels, including a large worldwide network of independent 
retailers, dealers, distributors, installation and repair shops, and original equipment manufacturers (OEMs). We also sell our products and services 
directly through our online webshop (garmin.com), subscriptions for connected services, and our own retail stores.
 
Results of Operations
 

As indicated in Note 1 to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, in the first quarter of fiscal 2024, the Company changed the 
presentation of operating expense to include advertising expense within selling, general and administrative expenses on the Company's condensed 
consolidated statements of income, which management believes to be a more meaningful presentation.

 
This change in presentation had no effect on the Company's consolidated operating or net income. The amounts presented below for selling, 

general and administrative expenses for the 13-week and 39-week periods ended September 30, 2023 have been recast to conform with the current 
period presentation.
 
Comparison of 13-Weeks Ended September 28, 2024 and September 30, 2023 
 
Net Sales
 

Net Sales  
13-Weeks Ended

September 28, 2024   
Year-over-Year 

Change   
13-Weeks Ended

September 30, 2023  
Fitness  $ 463,887    31 %  $ 352,976  
Percentage of Total Net Sales   29 %      27 %

Outdoor   526,551    21 %   433,997  
Percentage of Total Net Sales   33 %      34 %

Aviation   204,631    3 %   198,160  
Percentage of Total Net Sales   13 %      16 %

Marine   222,244    22 %   182,248  
Percentage of Total Net Sales   14 %      14 %

Auto OEM   168,709    53 %   110,150  
Percentage of Total Net Sales   11 %      9 %

Total  $ 1,586,022    24 %  $ 1,277,531  
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Net sales increased 24% for the 13-week period ended September 28, 2024 when compared to the year-ago quarter. Total unit sales in the 
third quarter of 2024 increased to 4,620 when compared to total unit sales of 3,997 in the third quarter of 2023, which differs from the percent increase in 
revenue primarily due to shifts in segment and product mix. Outdoor was the largest portion of our revenue mix at 33% in the third quarter of 2024 
compared to 34% in the third quarter of 2023.

 
The increase in fitness revenue was driven by sales growth across all categories, led by strong demand for wearables. Outdoor revenue 

increased primarily due to sales growth in adventure watches. The increase in aviation revenue was driven by sales growth in aftermarket product 
categories. The increase in marine revenue was primarily driven by contributions from the Company's acquisition of JL Audio. Auto OEM revenue 
increased primarily due to growth in domain controllers.
   
Gross Profit
 

Gross Profit  
13-Weeks Ended

September 28, 2024   
Year-over-Year 

Change   
13-Weeks Ended

September 30, 2023  
Fitness  $ 283,325    49 %  $ 190,685  
Percentage of Segment Net Sales   61 %      54 %

Outdoor   358,693    32 %   270,774  
Percentage of Segment Net Sales   68 %      62 %

Aviation   154,138    4 %   148,364  
Percentage of Segment Net Sales   75 %      75 %

Marine   122,433    29 %   95,186  
Percentage of Segment Net Sales   55 %      52 %

Auto OEM   33,010    40 %   23,560  
Percentage of Segment Net Sales   20 %      21 %

Total  $ 951,599    31 %  $ 728,569  
Percentage of Total Net Sales   60 %      57 %
 

 Gross profit dollars in the third quarter of 2024 increased 31%, primarily due to the increase in net sales when compared to the year-ago 
quarter, as described above. Consolidated gross margin increased 300 basis points when compared to the year-ago quarter primarily due to lower costs 
of goods and favorable product mix within certain segments, partially offset by unfavorable segment mix.

 
The fitness, outdoor, and marine gross margin increases of 710 basis points, 570 basis points, and 290 basis points, respectively, were 

primarily attributable to lower costs of goods and favorable product mix. The aviation gross margin was relatively flat when compared to the year-ago 
quarter. The auto OEM gross margin decrease of 180 basis points was primarily attributable to unfavorable product mix.

 
Operating Expense
 

Operating Expense  
13-Weeks Ended

September 28, 2024   
Year-over-Year 

Change   
13-Weeks Ended

September 30, 2023  
Research and development expense   249,162    12 %   221,572  
Percentage of Total Net Sales   16 %      17 %

Selling, general and administrative expenses   264,962    12 %   236,628  
Percentage of Total Net Sales   17 %      19 %

Total  $ 514,124    12 %  $ 458,200  
Percentage of Total Net Sales   32 %      36 %
 

Total operating expense in the third quarter of 2024 increased 12% in absolute dollars and decreased 350 basis points as a percent of revenue 
when compared to the year-ago quarter.

 
Research and development expense increased 12% in absolute dollars and decreased 160 basis points as a percent of revenue when 

compared to the year-ago quarter. The absolute dollar expense increase was primarily due to higher engineering personnel costs.
 

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased 12% in absolute dollars and decreased 180 basis points when compared to the year-
ago quarter. The absolute dollar expense increase was primarily attributable to increased personnel-related expenses.
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Operating Income
 

Operating Income (Loss)  
13-Weeks Ended

September 28, 2024   
Year-over-Year 

Change   
13-Weeks Ended

September 30, 2023  
Fitness  $ 147,768    98 %  $ 74,614  
Percentage of Segment Net Sales   32 %      21 %

Outdoor   208,866    53 %   136,401  
Percentage of Segment Net Sales   40 %      31 %

Aviation   44,278    (10 %)   49,269  
Percentage of Segment Net Sales   22 %      25 %

Marine   37,839    59 %   23,850  
Percentage of Segment Net Sales   17 %      13 %

Auto OEM   (1,276 )   (91 %)   (13,765 )
Percentage of Segment Net Sales   (1 %)      (12 %)

Total  $ 437,475    62 %  $ 270,369  
Percentage of Total Net Sales   28 %      21 %
  

Total operating income in the third quarter of 2024 increased 62% in absolute dollars and increased 640 basis points as a percent of revenue 
when compared to the year-ago quarter. The increase in operating income as a percent of revenue was driven by increased sales, increased gross 
margin as a percent of revenue, and lower operating expenses as a percent of revenue, as described above. The improved performance in fitness, 
outdoor, marine, and auto OEM was partially offset by a decrease in aviation.
 
Other Income (Expense) 
 

Other Income (Expense)  
13-Weeks Ended

September 28, 2024   
13-Weeks Ended

September 30, 2023  
Interest income  $ 28,830   $ 19,803  
Foreign currency gains (losses)   18,131    (11,539 )
Other income   1,814    938  
Total  $ 48,775   $ 9,202  

 
The average interest rate return on cash and investments during the third quarter of 2024 was 3.3%, compared to 2.8% during the same 

quarter of 2023. 
 
Foreign currency gains and losses for the Company are driven by movements of a number of currencies in relation to the U.S. Dollar. The 

Taiwan Dollar is the functional currency of Garmin Corporation, the Euro is the functional currency of several subsidiaries, and the U.S. Dollar is the 
functional currency of Garmin (Europe) Ltd., although some transactions and balances are denominated in British Pounds. Other notable currency 
exposures include the Australian Dollar, Chinese Yuan, Japanese Yen, and Polish Zloty. The majority of the Company’s consolidated foreign currency 
gain or loss is typically driven by the significant cash and marketable securities, receivables and payables held in a currency other than the functional 
currency at a given legal entity. 

 
The $18.1 million currency gain recognized in the third quarter of 2024 was primarily due to the U.S. Dollar weakening against the British 

Pound Sterling, Euro, and Polish Zloty, partially offset by the U.S. Dollar weakening against the Taiwan Dollar, within the 13-week period ended 
September 28, 2024. During this period, the U.S. Dollar weakened 3.7% against the British Pound Sterling, 4.2% against the Euro, and 5.3% against the 
Polish Zloty, resulting in gains of $3.2 million, $8.9 million, and $9.3 million, respectively, while the U.S. Dollar weakened 2.9% against the Taiwan Dollar, 
resulting in a loss of $10.4 million. The remaining net currency gain of $7.1 million was related to the impacts of other currencies, each of which was 
individually immaterial.
 

The $11.5 million currency loss recognized in the third quarter of 2023 was primarily due to the U.S. Dollar strengthening against the Polish 
Zloty, Australian Dollar, and British Pound Sterling, partially offset by the U.S. Dollar strengthening against the Taiwan Dollar within the 13-week period 
ended September 30, 2023. During this period, the U.S. Dollar strengthened 6.8% against the Polish Zloty, 2.9% against the Australian Dollar, and 4.0% 
against the British Pound Sterling, resulting in losses of $18.4 million, $2.4 million, and $1.9 million, respectively, partially offset by the U.S. Dollar 
strengthening 3.4% against the Taiwan Dollar, resulting in a gain of $15.2 million. The remaining net currency loss of $4.0 million was related to the 
impacts of other currencies, each of which was individually immaterial.
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Income Tax Provision 
 

The Company recorded income tax expense of $87.1 million in the 13-week period ended September 28, 2024, compared to income tax 
expense of $22.3 million in the 13-week period ended September 30, 2023. The effective tax rate was 17.9% in the third quarter of 2024, compared to 
8.0% in the third quarter of 2023. The increase in effective tax rate between comparative periods was primarily due to the increase in the combined 
federal and cantonal Switzerland statutory tax rate in response to the implementation of global minimum tax requirements.

 
Net Income 
 

As a result of the above, net income for the 13-week period ended September 28, 2024 was $399.1 million compared to $257.2 million for the 
13-week period ended September 30, 2023, an increase of $141.9 million.

 
Comparison of 39-Weeks Ended September 28, 2024 and September 30, 2023 
 
Net Sales
 

Net Sales  
39-Weeks Ended

September 28, 2024   
Year-over-Year 

Change   39-Weeks Ended
September 30, 2023  

Fitness  $ 1,235,182    32 %  $ 932,561  
Percentage of Total Net Sales   28 %      25 %

Outdoor   1,332,617    10 %   1,210,773  
Percentage of Total Net Sales   30 %      32 %

Aviation   639,739    2 %   629,195  
Percentage of Total Net Sales   14 %      17 %

Marine   821,933    21 %   677,026  
Percentage of Total Net Sales   18 %      18 %

Auto OEM   444,871    50 %   296,196  
Percentage of Total Net Sales   10 %      8 %

Total  $ 4,474,342    19 %  $ 3,745,751  
 

Net sales increased 19% for the 39-week period ended September 28, 2024 when compared to the year-ago period. Total unit sales in the first 
three quarters of 2024 increased to 13,165 when compared to total unit sales of 11,369 in the first three quarters of 2023, which differs from the percent 
increase in revenue primarily due to shifts in segment and product mix. Outdoor was the largest portion of our revenue mix at 30% in the first three 
quarters of 2024 compared to 32% in the first three quarters of 2023.

 
The increase in fitness revenue was driven by sales growth across all categories, led by strong demand for wearables. Outdoor revenue 

increased primarily due to sales growth in adventure watches. Aviation revenue increased primarily due to growth in OEM product categories. Marine 
revenue increased primarily driven by contributions from the Company's acquisition of JL Audio. Auto OEM revenue increased primarily due to growth in 
domain controllers.
 
Gross Profit
 

Gross Profit  
39-Weeks Ended

September 28, 2024   
Year-over-Year 

Change   
39-Weeks Ended

September 30, 2023  
Fitness  $ 723,375    49 %  $ 484,759  
Percentage of Segment Net Sales   59 %      52 %

Outdoor   885,646    17 %   755,800  
Percentage of Segment Net Sales   66 %      62 %

Aviation   478,131    3 %   463,774  
Percentage of Segment Net Sales   75 %      74 %

Marine   449,472    23 %   365,162  
Percentage of Segment Net Sales   55 %      54 %

Auto OEM   80,006    12 %   71,311  
Percentage of Segment Net Sales   18 %      24 %

Total  $ 2,616,630    22 %  $ 2,140,806  
Percentage of Total Net Sales   58 %      57 %
 

 Gross profit dollars in the first three quarters of 2024 increased 22%, primarily due to the increase in net sales when compared to the year-ago 
period, as described above. Consolidated gross margin increased 130 basis points when compared to the year-ago period primarily due to favorable 
product mix within certain segments and lower costs of goods, partially offset by unfavorable segment mix.
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The fitness and outdoor gross margin increases of 660 and 400 basis points, respectively, were primarily attributable to favorable product mix 
and lower costs of goods. The aviation gross margin increase of 100 basis points was primarily attributable to lower warranty costs. The marine gross 
margin was relatively flat when compared to the year-ago period. The auto OEM gross margin decrease of 610 basis points was primarily attributable to 
unfavorable product mix.

 
Operating Expense
 

Operating Expense  
39-Weeks Ended

September 28, 2024   
Year-over-Year 

Change   
39-Weeks Ended

September 30, 2023  
Research and development expense  $ 734,848    10 %  $ 667,451  
Percentage of Total Net Sales   16 %      18 %

Selling, General and administrative expenses   803,869    11 %   721,649  
Percentage of Total Net Sales   18 %      19 %

Total  $ 1,538,717    11 %  $ 1,389,100  
Percentage of Total Net Sales   34 %      37 %
 

Total operating expense in the first three quarters of 2024 increased 11% in absolute dollars and decreased 270 basis points as a percent of 
revenue when compared to the year-ago period.
 

Research and development expense increased 10% in absolute dollars and decreased 140 basis points as a percent of revenue when 
compared to the year-ago period. The absolute dollar expense increase was primarily due to higher engineering personnel costs.
 

Selling, general and administrative expense increased 11% in absolute dollars and decreased 130 basis points as a percent of revenue 
compared to the year-ago period. The absolute dollar expense increase was primarily attributable to increased personnel-related expenses, including the 
impact of the Company's acquisition of JL Audio.
 
Operating Income
 

Operating Income (Loss)  
39-Weeks Ended

September 28, 2024   
Year-over-Year 

Change   
39-Weeks Ended

September 30, 2023  
Fitness  $ 323,511    132 %  $ 139,651  
Percentage of Segment Net Sales   

26
%      

15
%

Outdoor   451,408    28 %   351,399  
Percentage of Segment Net Sales   34 %      29 %

Aviation   146,899    (13 %)   169,730  
Percentage of Segment Net Sales   23 %      27 %

Marine   185,422    30 %   142,135  
Percentage of Segment Net Sales   23 %      21 %

Auto OEM   (29,327 )   (43 %)   (51,209 )
Percentage of Segment Net Sales   (7 %)      (17 %)

Total  $ 1,077,913    43 %  $ 751,706  
Percentage of Total Net Sales   24 %      20 %
 

Total operating income in the first three quarters of 2024 increased 43% in absolute dollars and 400 basis points as a percent of revenue when 
compared to the year-ago period. The increase in operating income as a percent of revenue was due to increased sales, increased gross margin as a 
percent of revenue, and lower operating expenses as a percent of revenue, as described above. The improved performance in fitness, outdoor, marine, 
and auto OEM was partially offset by a decrease in aviation.
 
Other Income (Expense)
 

Other Income (Expense)  
39-Weeks Ended

September 28, 2024   
39-Weeks Ended

September 30, 2023  
Interest income  $ 83,143   $ 54,461  
Foreign currency gains   15,584    6,946  
Other income   2,623    4,206  
Total  $ 101,350   $ 65,613  
 

The average interest rate returns on cash and investments during the 39-week periods ended September 28, 2024 and September 30, 2023 
were 3.3% and 2.6%, respectively. 
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Foreign currency gains and losses for the Company are driven by movements of a number of currencies in relation to the U.S. Dollar. The 
Taiwan Dollar is the functional currency of Garmin Corporation, the Euro is the functional currency of several subsidiaries, and the U.S. Dollar is the 
functional currency of Garmin (Europe) Ltd., although some transactions and balances are denominated in British Pounds. Other notable currency 
exposures include the Australian Dollar, Chinese Yuan, Japanese Yen, and Polish Zloty. The majority of the Company’s consolidated foreign currency 
gain or loss is typically driven by the significant cash and marketable securities, receivables and payables held in a currency other than the functional 
currency at a given legal entity. 

 
The $15.6 million currency gain recognized in the 39-week period ended September 28, 2024 was primarily due to the U.S. Dollar 

strengthening against the Taiwan Dollar within the 39-week period ended September 28, 2024. During this period, the U.S. Dollar strengthened 2.8% 
against the Taiwan Dollar, resulting in a gain of $19.6 million. The remaining net currency loss of $4.0 million was related to the impacts of other drivers, 
each of which was individually immaterial.
 

The $6.9 million currency gain recognized in the 39-week period ended September 30, 2023 was primarily due to the U.S. Dollar strengthening 
against the Taiwan Dollar, partially offset by the U.S. Dollar strengthening against the Australian Dollar, Chinese Yuan and Japanese Yen and U.S. Dollar 
volatility with the Polish Zloty within the 39-week period ended September 30, 2023. During this period, the U.S. Dollar strengthened 4.9% against the 
Taiwan Dollar, resulting in a gain of $21.1 million, partially offset by the U.S. Dollar strengthening 5.2% against the Australian Dollar, 4.6% against the 
Chinese Yuan, and 12.2% against the Japanese Yen, resulting in losses of $2.9 million, $2.9 million, and $2.8 million, respectively, while volatility with 
the Polish Zloty resulted in a net loss of $4.5 million as the loss in the third quarter more than offset gains in previous quarters. The remaining net 
currency loss of $1.1 million was related to the impacts of other currencies, each of which was individually immaterial.
 
Income Tax Provision 
 

The Company recorded income tax expense of $203.6 million in the first three quarters of 2024, compared to income tax expense of $69.8 
million in the first three quarters of 2023. The effective tax rate was 17.3% in the first three quarters of 2024, compared to 8.5% in the first three quarters 
of 2023. The increase in effective tax rate between comparative periods was primarily due to the increase in the combined federal and cantonal 
Switzerland statutory tax rate in response to the implementation of global minimum tax requirements.

 
Net Income 
 

As a result of the above, net income for the 39-week period ended September 28, 2024 was $975.7 million compared to $747.5 million for the 
39-week period ended September 30, 2023, an increase of $228.2 million.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

We primarily use cash flow from operations, and expect that future cash requirements may be used, to fund our capital expenditures, support 
our working capital requirements, pay dividends, fund share repurchases, and fund strategic acquisitions. We believe that our existing cash balances and 
cash flow from operations will be sufficient to meet our short- and long-term projected working capital needs, capital expenditures, and other cash 
requirements.
 
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Marketable Securities
 

As of September 28, 2024, we had approximately $3.5 billion of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. Management invests idle or 
surplus cash in accordance with the Company's investment policy, which has been approved by the Company’s Board of Directors. The investment 
policy’s primary objectives are to preserve capital, maintain an acceptable degree of liquidity, and maximize yield within the constraint of low credit risk. 
Garmin’s average interest rate returns on cash and investments during the first three quarters of 2024 and 2023 were 3.3% and 2.6%, respectively. The 
fair value of our securities varies from period to period due to changes in interest rates, the performance of the underlying collateral, and the credit 
performance of the underlying issuer, among other factors. See Note 4 in the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional 
information regarding marketable securities.
 
Cash Flows
 

Cash provided by operating activities totaled $948.6 million for the first three quarters of 2024, compared to $910.3 million for the first three 
quarters of 2023. The increase was primarily due to an increase in cash received from customers primarily driven by higher net sales as well as less 
cash paid for income taxes, partially offset by increases in cash paid for cost of goods sold and operating expenses in the first three quarters of 2024 
compared to the first three quarters of 2023.
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Cash used in investing activities totaled $190.8 million for the first three quarters of 2024, compared to $267.7 million for the first three quarters 

of 2023. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in cash used for acquisitions and a decrease in purchases of property and equipment, partially 
offset by net purchases of marketable securities in the first three quarters of 2024, compared to net redemptions of marketable securities in the first three 
quarters of 2023.

 
Cash used in financing activities totaled $449.4 million for the first three quarters of 2024, compared to $486.2 million for the first three quarters 

of 2023. This decrease was primarily due to lower purchases of treasury shares under share repurchase plans and partially offset by higher cash 
dividend payments in the first three quarters of 2024 compared to the first three quarters of 2023. 
 
Use of Cash
 
Operating Leases
 

The Company has lease arrangements for certain real estate properties, vehicles, and equipment. Leased properties are typically used for 
office space, distribution, and retail. As of September 28, 2024, the Company had fixed lease payment obligations of $161.8 million, with $33.4 million 
payable within 12 months.

 
Inventory Purchase Obligations 
 

The Company obtains various raw materials and components for its products from a variety of third party suppliers. The Company’s inventory 
purchase obligations are primarily noncancelable. As of September 28, 2024, the Company had inventory purchase obligations of $847.2 million, with 
$673.2 million payable within 12 months.

 
Other Purchase Obligations
 

The Company’s other purchase obligations primarily consist of noncancelable commitments for capital expenditures and other indirect 
purchases in connection with conducting our business. As of September 28, 2024, the Company had other purchase obligations of $316.6 million, with 
$122.1 million payable within 12 months.
 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 
General
 

Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon the Company’s condensed consolidated financial 
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The presentation of these 
financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to 
customer sales programs and incentives, product returns, bad debts, inventories, investments, intangible assets, income taxes, warranty obligations, and 
contingencies and litigation. We base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

 
For a description of the significant accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of the Company’s condensed consolidated financial 

statements, refer to Note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 and 
“Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” in Part II, Item 7 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 
2023. There were no significant changes to the Company’s critical accounting policies and estimates in the 13-week and 39-week periods ended 
September 28, 2024. 
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
 

There are numerous market risks that can affect our future business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition to the other 
information set forth in this report, you should carefully consider the factors discussed in Part II, Item 7A, "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About 
Market Risk” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2023. There have been no material changes during the 13-
week and 39-week periods ended September 28, 2024 in the risks described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K related to market sensitivity, inflation, 
foreign currency exchange rate risk and interest rate risk.
 
Item 4. Controls and Procedures 
 
(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. The Company maintains a system of disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to 
provide reasonable assurance that information, which is required to be timely disclosed, is accumulated and communicated to management in a timely 
fashion. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the 
control system are met. As of September 28, 2024, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the 
Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure 
controls and procedures. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded as of September 28, 2024 that 
our disclosure controls and procedures were effective such that the information relating to the Company, required to be disclosed in our Securities and 
Exchange Commission (SEC) reports (i) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and 
(ii) is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to 
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
 
(b) Changes in internal control over financial reporting. There has been no change in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting that 
occurred during the Company’s fiscal quarter ended September 28, 2024 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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Part II - Other Information 
 
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
 

In the normal course of business, the Company and its subsidiaries are parties to various legal claims, actions, and complaints, including 
matters involving patent infringement, other intellectual property, product liability, customer claims and various other risks. It is not possible to predict with 
certainty whether or not the Company and its subsidiaries will ultimately be successful in any of these legal matters, or if not, what the impact might be. 
However, the Company’s management does not expect that the results in any of these legal proceedings will have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, results of operations, financial position or cash flows. For additional information, see Note 8, "Commitments and Contingencies" in 
the above Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and Part I, Item 3, “Legal Proceedings” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
fiscal year ended December 30, 2023.

 
Item 1A. Risk Factors

 
There are many risks and uncertainties that can affect our future business, financial performance or share price. In addition to the other 

information set forth in this report, you should carefully consider the factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2023. There have been no material changes during the 39-week period ended September 28, 2024 in the risks 
described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. These risks, however, are not the only risks facing our Company. Additional risks and uncertainties, 
including those not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial, also may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition 
and/or operating results.
 
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
 
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

 
Share repurchase activity during the 13-week period ended September 28, 2024, summarized on a trade-date basis, was as follows (in 

thousands, except per share amounts):
 

Period  
Total Number of 

Shares Purchased   
Average Price Paid 

Per Share   

Total Number of Shares 
Purchased as Part of 
Publicly Announced 
Plans or Programs   

Approximate Dollar Value 
of Shares That May Yet Be 

Purchased Under the 
Program  

June 30, 2024 - July 27, 2024   38   $ 168.18    38   $ 283,896  
July 28, 2024 - August 24, 2024   18   $ 176.22    18   $ 280,724  
August 25, 2024 - September 28, 2024   60   $ 176.32    60   $ 270,198  
Total   116       116     

 
(1) The Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program on February 16, 2024 (the "2024 Program"), which was announced on February 21, 2024. The 2024 

Program authorizes the Company to purchase up to $300 million of its common shares, exclusive of the cost of any associated excise tax. Share 
repurchases may be made in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, including under plans complying with the provisions of Rule 10b5-1 
and Rule 10b-18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The timing and volume of share repurchases are subject to market conditions, 
business conditions and applicable laws, and are at management’s discretion. The 2024 Program does not require the purchase of any minimum number 
of shares and may be suspended or discontinued at any time. The 2024 Program expires on December 26, 2026. Refer to Note 9 in the Notes to the 
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information related to share repurchases.
 

(2) Average price paid per share includes costs associated with the repurchases, except for the cost of any associated excise tax.
 

 
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
 

None.
 

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
 

Not applicable.
 

(1) (2)
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Item 5. Other Information
 

(c)    Trading Plans
 
During the 13-week period ended September 28, 2024, no directors or officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934) of the Company adopted or terminated any “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined 
in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K, except as follows:

 

•On August 12, 2024, Douglas Boessen, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, adopted a new written trading plan intended to satisfy the 
affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) under the Exchange Act for the potential sale of up to 5,418 shares of our common shares, 
subject to certain conditions. The first trade date will not occur until December 16, 2024 at the earliest, and the plan's maximum duration is until 
May 1, 2025.
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Item 6. Exhibits
 
Exhibit 3.1  Articles of Association of Garmin Ltd., as amended and restated on June 7, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the 

Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 11, 2024).
   
Exhibit 3.2  Organizational Regulations of Garmin Ltd., as amended on October 25, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the 

Registrant’s Amendment No.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on November 21, 2019).
   
Exhibit 10.1*‡  Garmin Ltd. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated on October 25, 2024.
   
Exhibit 10.2*‡  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement pursuant to the Garmin Ltd. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, for Swiss grantees.
   
Exhibit 10.3*‡  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement pursuant to the Garmin Ltd. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, for Canadian grantees.
   
Exhibit 10.4*‡  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement pursuant to the Garmin Ltd. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, for non-Swiss and non-

Canadian grantees.
   
Exhibit 10.5*‡  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement pursuant to the Garmin Ltd. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, for awards of 

performance-based and time-based vesting restricted stock unit awards to non-Swiss and non-Canadian grantees who are 
executive officers.

   
Exhibit 10.6*‡  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement pursuant to the Garmin Ltd. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, for awards of 

performance-based and time-based vesting restricted stock unit awards to Swiss grantees who are not executive officers.
   
Exhibit 10.7*‡  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement pursuant to the Garmin Ltd. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, for awards of 

performance-based and time-based vesting restricted stock unit awards to Canadian grantees who are not executive officers.
   
Exhibit 10.8*‡  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement pursuant to the Garmin Ltd. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, for awards of 

performance-based and time-based vesting restricted stock unit awards to non-Swiss and non-Canadian grantees who are not 
executive officers.

   
Exhibit 31.1‡  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a).
   
Exhibit 31.2‡  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a).
   
Exhibit 32.1†  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002.
   
Exhibit 32.2†  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002.
   
Exhibit 101.INS‡  Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are 

embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
   
Exhibit 101.SCH‡  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema With Embedded Linkbase Documents
   
Exhibit 104‡  Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)
 
* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement pursuant to 601(b)(10)(iii)(A) of Regulation S-K.
‡ Filed herewith.
† Furnished herewith.

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1121788/000095017024071684/grmn-ex10_2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1121788/000121390019024259/f8k103019a1ex3-2_garmin.htm
file:///tmp/T14641/grmn-ex10_1.htm
file:///tmp/T14641/grmn-ex10_2.htm
file:///tmp/T14641/grmn-ex10_3.htm
file:///tmp/T14641/grmn-ex10_4.htm
file:///tmp/T14641/grmn-ex10_5.htm
file:///tmp/T14641/grmn-ex10_6.htm
file:///tmp/T14641/grmn-ex10_7.htm
file:///tmp/T14641/grmn-ex10_8.htm
file:///tmp/T14641/grmn-ex31_1.htm
file:///tmp/T14641/grmn-ex31_2.htm
file:///tmp/T14641/grmn-ex32_1.htm
file:///tmp/T14641/grmn-ex32_2.htm
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 
 GARMIN LTD.
   
 By /s/ Douglas G. Boessen
  Douglas G. Boessen
  Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial Officer and
  Principal Accounting Officer)

 
Dated: October 30, 2024
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EXHIBIT 10.1
GARMIN LTD.

2005 Equity Incentive Plan
 

as amended and restated on October 25, 2024
 

Article 1.  Establishment, Objectives and Duration
 
1.1 Establishment and Amendment of the Plan. The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Garmin Ltd., a Swiss company (the “Company”), hereby establishes the 

incentive compensation plan to be known as the Garmin Ltd. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). The Plan was adopted by the Board of Directors of 
Garmin Ltd., a Cayman Islands company (“Garmin Cayman”), on March 1, 2005 and was approved by the shareholders of Garmin Cayman on June 3, 2005. 
The Plan is effective as of June 3, 2005 (the “Effective Date”). In 2006, Garmin Cayman effected a two-for-one stock split of its common Shares (the “Stock 
Split”). Subject to approval of the shareholders of Garmin Cayman, the Board of Directors of Garmin Cayman adopted an amended and restated plan effective 
June 5, 2009 with certain amendments reflecting the Stock Split, updated changes in the law and an expanded type of performance-based awards eligible to 
be granted under the Plan. The Plan was amended and restated on June 27, 2010 following the redomestication transaction on June 27, 2010 pursuant to 
which the shares of Garmin Cayman were exchanged for shares of the Company and the Company became the public holding company of Garmin Cayman 
and its subsidiaries. The Plan was amended and restated again on June 7, 2013,  on October 21, 2016, on June 7, 2019, on April 22, 2022, on June 10, 2022, 
on June 9, 2023 and on June 7, 2024.

1.2 Objectives of the Plan. The Plan is intended to allow employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries to acquire or increase equity ownership in the Company, or to 
be compensated under the Plan based on growth in the Company’s equity value, thereby strengthening their commitment to the success of the Company and 
stimulating their efforts on behalf of the Company, and to assist the Company and its Subsidiaries in attracting new employees and retaining existing 
employees. The Plan is also intended to optimize the profitability and growth of the Company through incentives which are consistent with the Company’s 
goals; to provide incentives for excellence in individual performance; and to promote teamwork.

1.3 Duration of the Plan. The Plan shall commence on the Effective Date and shall remain in effect, subject to the right of the Board to amend or terminate the Plan at 
any time pursuant to Article 13 hereof, until all Shares subject to it shall have been purchased or acquired according to the Plan’s provisions.

 

Article 2.  Definitions
 
Whenever used in the Plan, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:
 
2.1 “Article” means an Article of the Plan.

2.2 “Award” means Options, Restricted Shares, Bonus Shares, SARs, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Units or Performance Shares granted under the Plan.

2.3 “Award Agreement” means a written agreement by which an Award is evidenced.

2.4 “Beneficial Owner” has the meaning specified in Rule 13d-3 of the SEC under the Exchange Act.

2.5 “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

2.6 “Bonus Shares” means Shares that are awarded to a Grantee without cost and without restrictions in recognition of past performance (whether determined by 
reference to another employee benefit plan of the Company or otherwise) or as an incentive to become an employee of the Company or a Subsidiary.

2.7 “Cause” means, unless otherwise defined in an Award Agreement,

(a) a Grantee’s conviction of, plea of guilty to, or plea of nolo contendere to a felony or other crime that involves fraud, dishonesty or moral turpitude,
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(b) any willful action or omission by a Grantee which would constitute grounds for immediate dismissal under the employment policies of the Company or the 
Subsidiary by which Grantee is employed, including but not limited to intoxication with alcohol or illegal drugs while on the premises of the Company or 
any Subsidiary, or violation of sexual harassment laws or the internal sexual harassment policy of the Company or the Subsidiary by which Grantee is 
employed, irrespective of whether the applicable law would allow an immediate dismissal in these cases,

(c) a Grantee’s habitual neglect of duties, including but not limited to repeated absences from work without reasonable excuse, or

(d) a Grantee’s willful and intentional material misconduct in the performance of his duties that results in financial detriment to the Company or any Subsidiary;

 

provided, however, that for purposes of clauses (b), (c) and (d), Cause shall not include any one or more of the following: bad judgment, negligence or any act or 
omission believed by the Grantee in good faith to have been in or not opposed to the interest of the Company (without intent of the Grantee to gain, directly or 
indirectly, a profit to which the Grantee was not legally entitled). A Grantee who agrees to resign from his affiliation with the Company or a Subsidiary in lieu of being 
terminated for Cause may be deemed to have been terminated for Cause for purposes of the Plan.
 

2.8 “Change of Control” means, unless otherwise defined in an Award Agreement, any one or more of the following:

 

(a) any Person other than (i) a Subsidiary, (ii) any employee benefit plan (or any related trust) of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or (iii) any Excluded 
Person, becomes the Beneficial Owner of 35% or more of the shares of the Company representing 35% or more of the combined voting power of the 
Company (such a person or group, a “35% Owner”), except that (i) no Change of Control shall be deemed to have occurred solely by reason of such 
beneficial ownership by a corporation with respect to which both more than 60% of the common shares of such corporation and Voting Securities 
representing more than 60% of the aggregate voting power of such corporation are then owned, directly or indirectly, by the persons who were the direct 
or indirect owners of the shares of the Company immediately before such acquisition in substantially the same proportions as their ownership, 
immediately before such acquisition, of the shares of the Company, as the case may be and (ii) such corporation shall not be deemed a 35% Owner; or

(b) the Incumbent Directors (determined using the Effective Date as the baseline date) cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the directors of 
the Company then serving; or

(c) the consummation by the Company (whether directly involving the Company or indirectly involving the Company through one or more intermediaries) of a 
merger, reorganization, consolidation, or similar transaction, or the sale or other disposition of all or substantially all (at least 40%) of the consolidated 
assets of the Company or a resolution of dissolution of the Company (any of the foregoing transactions, a “Reorganization Transaction”) which is not an 
Exempt Reorganization Transaction.

 

The definition of “Change of Control” may be amended at any time prior to the occurrence of a Change of Control, and such amended definition shall be applied to all 
Awards granted under the Plan whether or not outstanding at the time such definition is amended, without requiring the consent of any Grantee. Notwithstanding the 
occurrence of any of the foregoing events, (a) a Change of Control shall be deemed not to have occurred with respect to any Section 16 Person if such Section 16 
Person is, by agreement (written or otherwise), a participant on such Section 16 Person’s own behalf in a transaction which causes the Change of Control to occur 
and (b) a Change of Control shall not occur with respect to a Grantee if, in advance of such event, the Grantee agrees in writing that such event shall not constitute a 
Change of Control.
 

2.9 “Change of Control Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.6(c).

2.10 “Change of Control Value” means the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of a Change of Control.

2.11 “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, and regulations and rulings thereunder. References to a particular section of 
the Code include references to successor provisions of the Code or any successor statute.

2.12 “Company” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1.
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2.13 “Disabled” or “Disability” means an individual (i) is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental 
impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months or (ii) is, by reason 
of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not 
less than twelve (12) months, receiving income replacement benefits for a period of not less than 3 months under a Company-sponsored accident and health 
plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to an Incentive Stock Option, “Disability” means a permanent and total disability, within the meaning of Code 
Section 22(e)(3), as determined by the Board in good faith, upon receipt of medical advice from one or more individuals, selected by the Board, who are 
qualified to give professional medical advice.

2.14 “Effective Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1.

2.15 “Eligible Person” means any employee (including any officer) of the Company or any Subsidiary, including any such employee who is on an approved leave of 
absence or has been subject to a disability which does not qualify as a Disability.

2.16 “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. References to a particular section of the Exchange Act include references to 
successor provisions.

2.17 “Excluded Person” means any Person who, along with such Person’s Affiliates and Associates (as such terms are defined in Rule 12b-2 of the General Rules 
and Regulations under the Exchange Act) is the Beneficial Owner of 15% or more of the Shares outstanding as of the Effective Date.

2.18 “Exempt Reorganization Transaction” means a Reorganization Transaction which (i) results in the Persons who were the direct or indirect owners of the 
outstanding shares of the Company immediately before such Reorganization Transaction becoming, immediately after the consummation of such 
Reorganization Transaction, the direct or indirect owners of both more than 60% of the then-outstanding common shares of the Surviving Corporation and 
Voting Securities representing more than 60% of the aggregate voting power of the Surviving Corporation, in substantially the same respective proportions as 
such Persons’ ownership of the shares of the Company immediately before such Reorganization Transaction, or (ii) after such transaction, more than 50% of 
the members of the board of directors of the Surviving Corporation were Incumbent Directors at the time of the Board’s approval of the agreement providing for 
the Reorganization Transaction or other action of the Board approving the transaction (or whose election or nomination was approved by a vote of at least two-
thirds of the members who were members of the Board at that time).

2.19 “Fair Market Value” means, unless otherwise determined or provided by the Board in the circumstances, (A) with respect to any property other than Shares, the 
fair market value of such property determined by such methods or procedures as shall be established from time to time by the Board, and (B) with respect to 
Shares, (i) the last sale price (also referred to as the closing price) of a Share on such U.S. securities exchange as the Shares are then traded, for the 
applicable date, (ii) if such U.S. securities exchange is closed for trading on such date, or if the Shares do not trade on such date, then the last sales price 
used shall be the one on the date the Shares last traded on such U.S. securities exchange, or (iii) in the event that there shall be no public market for the 
Shares, the fair market value of the Shares as determined in good faith by the Board using a method consistently applied. Notwithstanding the above, for all 
Options, SARs and Deferred Shares (RSUs) granted before June 5, 2009, Fair Market Value for purposes of establishing Option Prices, Exercise Prices or 
values of Shares, respectively, was established based on the average of the high and low trading prices on the New York Stock Exchange (or, if no sale of 
Shares was reported for such date, on the next preceding date on which a sale of Shares was reported).

2.20 “Freestanding SAR” means any SAR that is granted independently of any Option.

2.21 “Good Reason” means any action by the Company or the Subsidiary employing a Grantee which results in any of the following without the Grantee’s consent: (a) 
a material diminution or other material adverse change in the Grantee’s position, authority or duties, (b) requiring the Grantee to be based at any office or 
location more than 50 miles from the location where he or she was previously based; (c) a material diminution in the Grantee’s compensation in the aggregate, 
other than a diminution applicable to all similarly situated employees. A Grantee shall not have Good Reason to terminate his or her position unless, (1) within 
60 days following the event or circumstance set forth above in (a), (b) or (c), the Grantee notifies the Company of such event or circumstance, (2) the Grantee 
gives the Company 30 days to correct the event or circumstance, and (3) the Company does not correct, in all material respects, such event or circumstance.

2.22 “Grant Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.2.

2.23 “Grantee” means an individual who has been granted an Award.

2.24 “Including” or “includes” mean “including, without limitation,” or “includes, without limitation”, respectively.
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2.25 “Incumbent Directors” means, as of any specified baseline date, individuals then serving as members of the Board who were members of the Board as of the date 
immediately preceding such baseline date; provided that any subsequently-appointed or elected member of the Board whose election, or nomination for 
election by shareholders of the Company or the Surviving Corporation, as applicable, was approved by a vote or written consent of a majority of the directors 
then comprising the Incumbent Directors shall also thereafter be considered an Incumbent Director, unless the initial assumption of office of such 
subsequently-elected or appointed director was in connection with (i) an actual or threatened election contest, including a consent solicitation, relating to the 
election or removal of one or more members of the Board, (ii) a “tender offer” (as such term is used in Section 14(d) of the Exchange Act), or (iii) a proposed 
Reorganization Transaction.

2.26 “Option” means an option granted under Article 6 of the Plan, including an incentive stock option.

2.27 “Option Price” means the price at which a Share may be purchased by a Grantee pursuant to an Option.

2.28 “Option Term” means the period beginning on the Grant Date of an Option and ending on the expiration date of such Option, as specified in the Award 
Agreement for such Option and as may, consistent with the provisions of the Plan, be extended from time to time by the Board prior to the expiration date of 
such Option then in effect.

2.29 “Performance Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.2.

2.30 “Performance Share” or “Performance Unit” has the meaning set forth in Article 10.

2.31 “Period of Restriction” means the period during which the transfer of Restricted Shares is limited in some way (based on the passage of time, the achievement of 
performance goals, or upon the occurrence of other events as determined by the Board) or the Shares are subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture, as provided 
in Article 8.

2.32 “Person” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(a)(9) of the Exchange Act and used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) thereof, including a “group” 
as defined in Section 13(d) thereof.

2.33 “Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1.

2.34 “Plan Committee” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.

2.35 “Reorganization Transaction” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.9(c).

2.36 “Restricted Shares” means Shares that are issued as an Award under the Plan that is subject to Restrictions.

2.37 “Restricted Stock Units” (f/k/a “Deferred Shares”) means units awarded to Grantees pursuant to Article 9 hereof, which are convertible into Shares at such time 
as such units are no longer subject to Restrictions as established by the Board. Restricted Stock Units are the same as “Deferred Shares” previously referred 
to and granted under the Plan prior to this Amended and Restated Plan becoming effective.

2.38 “Restriction” means any restriction on a Grantee’s free enjoyment of the Shares or other rights underlying Awards, including (a) that the Grantee or other holder 
may not sell, transfer, pledge, or assign a Share or right, and (b) such other restrictions as the Board may impose in the Award Agreement that are permissible 
under Swiss law. Restrictions may be based on the passage of time or the satisfaction of performance criteria or the occurrence of one or more events or 
conditions, and shall lapse separately or in combination upon such conditions and at such time or times, in installments or otherwise, as the Board shall 
specify. Awards subject to a Restriction shall be forfeited if the Restriction does not lapse prior to such date or the occurrence of such event or the satisfaction 
of such other criteria as the Board shall determine.

2.39 “Rule 16b-3” means Rule 16b-3 promulgated by the SEC under the Exchange Act, together with any successor rule, as in effect from time to time.

2.40 “SAR” means a stock appreciation right and includes both Tandem SARs and Freestanding SARs.

2.41 “SAR Term” means the period beginning on the Grant Date of a SAR and ending on the expiration date of such SAR, as specified in the Award Agreement for 
such SAR and as may, consistent with the provisions of the Plan, be extended from time to time by the Board prior to the expiration date of such SAR then in 
effect.

2.42 “SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, or any successor thereto.

2.43 “Section” means, unless the context otherwise requires, a Section of the Plan.

2.44 “Section 16 Person” means a person who is subject to obligations under Section 16 of the Exchange Act with respect to transactions involving equity securities of 
the Company.

2.45 “Share” means a registered share, USD $0.10 par value, of the Company.
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2.46 “Subsidiary” means with respect to any Person (a) any corporation of which more than 50% of the Voting Securities are at the time, directly or indirectly, owned 
by such Person, and (b) any partnership or limited liability company in which such Person has a direct or indirect interest (whether in the form of voting power 
or participation in profits or capital contribution) of more than 50%. Solely with respect to a grant of an incentive stock option under the requirements of Section 
422 of the Code, “Subsidiary” means a “subsidiary corporation” as defined in Section 424(f) of the Code.

2.47 “Substitute Option” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.3.

2.48 “Surviving Corporation” means the corporation resulting from a Reorganization Transaction or, if Voting Securities representing at least 50% of the aggregate 
voting power of such resulting corporation are directly or indirectly owned by another corporation, such other corporation.

2.49 “Tandem SAR” means a SAR that is granted in connection with, or related to, an Option, and which requires forfeiture of the right to purchase an equal number 
of Shares under the related Option upon the exercise of such SAR; or alternatively, which requires the cancellation of an equal amount of SARs upon the 
purchase of the Shares subject to the Option.

2.50 “Tax Withholding” has the meaning set forth in Section 14.1(a).

2.51 “Termination of Affiliation” occurs on the first day on which an individual is for any reason no longer providing services to the Company or any Subsidiary in the 
capacity of an employee, or with respect to an individual who is an employee of a Subsidiary, the first day on which such Subsidiary ceases to be a 
Subsidiary. A Termination of Affiliation shall have the same meaning as a “separation from service” under Code Section 409A(2)(A)(i).

2.52 “Voting Securities” of a corporation means securities of such corporation that are entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, but not including any other 
class of securities of such corporation that may have voting power by reason of the occurrence of a contingency.

 

Article 3.  Administration
 
3.1 Board and Plan Committee. Subject to Article 13, and to Section 3.2, the Plan shall be administered by the Board, or a committee of the Board appointed by the 

Board to administer the Plan (“Plan Committee”). To the extent the Board considers it desirable for transactions relating to Awards to be eligible to qualify for 
an exemption under Rule 16b-3, the Plan Committee shall consist of two or more directors of the Company, all of whom qualify as “non-employee directors” 
within the meaning of Rule 16b-3. 

 

Any references herein to “Board” are, except as the context requires otherwise, references to the Board or the Plan Committee, as applicable.
 

3.2 Powers of the Board. Subject to the express provisions of the Plan, the Board has full and final authority and sole discretion as follows:

(a) taking into consideration the reasonable recommendations of management, to determine when, to whom and in what types and amounts Awards should be 
granted and the terms and conditions applicable to each Award, including the Option Price, the Option Term, the Restrictions, the benefit payable under 
any SAR, Performance Unit or Performance Share and whether or not specific Awards shall be granted in connection with other specific Awards, and if 
so whether they shall be exercisable cumulatively with, or alternatively to, such other specific Awards;

(b) to determine the amount, if any, that a Grantee shall pay for Restricted Shares, whether and on what terms to permit or require the payment of cash 
dividends thereon to be deferred, when Restrictions on Restricted Shares (including Restricted Shares acquired upon the exercise of an Option) shall 
lapse and whether such shares shall be held in escrow;

(c) to construe and interpret the Plan and to make all determinations necessary or advisable for the administration of the Plan;

(d) to make, amend, and rescind rules relating to the Plan, including rules with respect to the exercisability and nonforfeitability of Awards and lapse of 
Restrictions upon the Termination of Affiliation of a Grantee;
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(e) to determine the terms and conditions of all Award Agreements (which need not be identical) and, with the consent of the Grantee, to amend any such 
Award Agreement at any time, among other things, to permit transfers of such Awards to the extent permitted by the Plan; provided that the consent of 
the Grantee shall not be required for any amendment which (A) does not adversely affect the rights of the Grantee, or (B) is necessary or advisable (as 
determined by the Board) to carry out the purpose of the Award as a result of any new or change in existing applicable law;

(f) to cancel, with the consent of the Grantee, outstanding Awards and to grant new Awards in substitution therefor; provided that any replacement grant that 
would be considered a repricing shall be subject to shareholder approval;

(g) to accelerate the exercisability (including exercisability within a period of less than six months after the Grant Date) of, and to accelerate or waive any or all 
of the terms conditions or Restrictions applicable to, any Award or any group of Awards for any reason and at any time, including in connection with a 
Termination of Affiliation;

(h) subject to Section 5.3, to extend the time during which any Award or group of Awards may be exercised;

(i) to make such adjustments or modifications to Awards to Grantees who are working outside the United States as are advisable to fulfill the purposes of the 
Plan or to comply with applicable local law, and to authorize foreign Subsidiaries to adopt plans as provided in Article 15;

(j) to delegate to any member of the Board or committee of Board members such of its powers as it deems appropriate, including the power to subdelegate, 
except that only a member of the Board of Directors of the Company (or a committee thereof) may grant Awards from time to time to specified categories 
of Eligible Persons in amounts and on terms to be specified by the Board; provided that no such grants shall be made other than by the Board or the 
Plan Committee to individuals who are then Section 16 Persons;

(k) to delegate to officers, employees or independent contractors of the Company matters involving the routine administration of the Plan and which are not 
specifically required by any provision of the Plan to be performed by the Board of Directors of the Company;

(l) to delegate its duties and responsibilities under the Plan with respect to foreign Subsidiary plans, except its duties and responsibilities with respect to Section 
16 Persons, and (A) the acts of such delegates shall be treated hereunder as acts of the Board and (B) such delegates shall report to the Board regarding 
the delegated duties and responsibilities;

(m) to correct any defect or supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency, and construe and interpret the Plan, the rules and regulations, any Award 
Agreement or any other instrument entered into or relating to an Award under the Plan, and to make all determinations, including factual determinations, 
necessary or advisable for the administration of the Plan;

(n) to impose such additional terms and conditions upon the grant, exercise or retention of Awards as the Board may, before or concurrently with the grant 
thereof, deem appropriate, including limiting the percentage of Awards which may from time to time be exercised by a Grantee; and

(o) to take any other action with respect to any matters relating to the Plan for which it is responsible.

 

All determinations on any matter relating to the Plan or any Award Agreement may be made in the sole and absolute discretion of the Board, and to the fullest extent 
permitted by the applicable law all such determinations of the Board shall be final, conclusive and binding on all Persons. To the fullest extent permitted by the 
applicable law no member of the Board shall be liable for any action or determination made with respect to the Plan or any Award.
 

Article 4.  Shares Subject to the Plan
 
4.1 Number of Shares Available.

(a) Plan Limit. Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4.2, the number of Shares hereby reserved for delivery under the Plan is eighteen million 
(18,000,000) Shares. The maximum number of Shares that may be delivered pursuant to the exercise of Options (including incentive stock options under 
Code Section 422) or SARs is ten million (10,000,000) Shares. The maximum number of Shares that may be delivered as Restricted Shares or pursuant 
to Performance Units or Restricted Stock Units is seventeen million (17,000,000) Shares. The maximum number of Bonus Shares that may be awarded 
is one million (1,000,000) Shares. If any Shares subject to an Award granted hereunder are forfeited or an Award or any portion thereof otherwise 
terminates or is settled without the issuance of Shares, the Shares subject to such Award, to the extent of any such forfeiture, termination or settlement, 
shall again be available for grant under the Plan. The Board may from time to time determine the appropriate methodology for calculating the number of 
Shares issued pursuant to the Plan.



 

Page 7 of 18

(b) Individual Limit. No individual Grantee may be granted Options, SARs, Restricted Shares, Restricted Stock Units, Bonus Shares, Performance Units or 
Performance Shares in Shares, or in any combination thereof, relating to an aggregate number of Shares under the Plan that exceeds two million 
(2,000,000) Shares in any 5-year period. If a previously granted Option, SAR, Restricted Stock Unit, Performance Unit, or Performance Share is forfeited, 
canceled or repriced, such forfeited, canceled or repriced Award as the case may be, shall continue to be counted against the maximum number of 
Shares subject to Awards that may be delivered to any Grantee under this Section 4.1(b).

4.2 Adjustments in Shares.

(a) Adjustment Principle. In the event that the Board determines that any dividend or other distribution (whether in the form of cash, Shares, other securities, or 
other property), recapitalization, share split, reverse share split, subdivision, consolidation or reduction of capital, reorganization, merger, scheme of 
arrangement, split-up, spin-off or combination involving the Company or repurchase or exchange of Shares or other rights to purchase Shares or other 
securities of the Company, or other similar corporate transaction or event affects the Shares such that any adjustment is determined by the Board to be 
appropriate in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under the Plan, then the Board 
shall, in such manner as it may deem equitable, adjust any or all of (i) the number and type of Shares (or other securities or property of the Company or 
any Person that is a party to a Reorganization Transaction with the Company) with respect to which Awards may be granted, (ii) the number and type of 
Shares (or other securities or property of the Company or any Person that is a party to a Reorganization Transaction with the Company) subject to 
outstanding Awards, and (iii) the grant or exercise price with respect to any Award or, if deemed appropriate, make provision for a cash payment to the 
holder of an outstanding Award or the substitution of other property for Shares subject to an outstanding Award; provided, that the number of Shares 
subject to any Award denominated in Shares shall always be a whole number.

(b) Example. By way of illustration, and not by way of limitation, the following illustrates how the foregoing adjustment principles would apply in the context of a 
stock split: Assume a Grantee holds an Option to purchase 1,000 shares of Company stock at an Option Price of $50 per share. Assume further that the 
Company completes a two-for-one share split such that every shareholder on the requisite record date receives two Shares for every one Share held on 
the record date. Pursuant to the adjustment principles set forth above in Section 4.2(a), the Grantee’s Option would be adjusted such that, after such 
adjustment, the Grantee would hold an Option to purchase 2,000 Shares at an Option Price of $25 per Share. All other terms and conditions of the 
Option would remain the same. Similar adjustment principles would apply to SARs, Performance Shares, Performance Units, Bonus Shares and 
Deferred Shares. This Section 4.2(b) is for illustrative purposes only, assumes hypothetical facts, and shall not, under any event or circumstance, be 
interpreted as the adjustment outcome with respect to specific factual situations.

 

Article 5.  Eligibility and General Conditions of Awards
 
5.1 Eligibility. The Board may grant Awards to any Eligible Person, whether or not he or she has previously received an Award.

5.2 Grant Date. The Grant Date of an Award shall be the date on which the Board grants the Award or such later date as specified by the Board (i) in the Board’s 
resolutions or minutes addressing the Award grants or (ii) in the Award Agreement.

5.3 Maximum Term. Subject to the following proviso, the Option Term or other period during which an Award may be outstanding shall not extend more than 10 years 
after the Grant Date, and shall be subject to earlier termination as herein specified.

5.4 Award Agreement. To the extent not set forth in the Plan, the terms and conditions of each Award (which need not be the same for each grant or for each Grantee) 
shall be set forth in an Award Agreement.

5.5 Restrictions on Share Transferability. The Board may include in the Award Agreement such restrictions on any Shares acquired pursuant to the exercise or vesting 
of an Award as it may deem advisable, including restrictions under applicable federal securities laws.

5.6 Termination of Affiliation. Except as otherwise provided in an Award Agreement (including an Award Agreement as amended by the Board pursuant to Section 
3.2), and subject to the provisions of Section 13.1, the extent to which the Grantee shall have the right to exercise, vest in, or receive payment in respect of an 
Award following Termination of Affiliation shall be determined in accordance with the following provisions of this Section 5.6.

(a) For Cause. If a Grantee has a Termination of Affiliation for Cause:

(i) the Grantee’s Restricted Shares that are forfeitable immediately before such Termination of Affiliation shall automatically be forfeited on such date, 
subject in the case of Restricted Shares to the provisions of Section 8.5 regarding repayment of certain amounts to the Grantee;

(ii) the Grantee’s Restricted Stock Units shall automatically be forfeited; and
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(iii) any unexercised Option or SAR, and any Performance Share or Performance Unit with respect to which the Performance Period has not ended 
immediately before such Termination of Affiliation, shall terminate effective immediately upon such Termination of Affiliation.

(b) On Account of Death or Disability. If a Grantee has a Termination of Affiliation on account of death or Disability:

(i) the Grantee’s Restricted Shares that were forfeitable immediately before such Termination of Affiliation shall thereupon become nonforfeitable;

(ii) the Grantee’s Restricted Stock Units shall immediately be settled in accordance with Section 9.4;

(iii) any unexercised Option or SAR, whether or not exercisable immediately before such Termination of Affiliation, shall be fully exercisable and may be 
exercised, in whole or in part, at any time up to one year after such Termination of Affiliation (but only during the Option Term or SAR Term, 
respectively) by the Grantee or, after his or her death, by (A) his or her personal representative or the person to whom the Option or SAR, as 
applicable, is transferred by will or the applicable laws of descent and distribution, or (B) the Grantee’s beneficiary designated in accordance with 
Article 11; and

(iv) the benefit payable with respect to any Performance Share or Performance Unit with respect to which the Performance Period has not ended 
immediately before such Termination of Affiliation on account of death or Disability shall be equal to the product of the Fair Market Value of a Share 
as of the date of such Termination of Affiliation or the value of the Performance Unit specified in the Award Agreement (determined as of the date of 
such Termination of Affiliation), as applicable, multiplied successively by each of the following:

(A) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of months (including as a whole month any partial month) that have elapsed since the beginning 
of such Performance Period until the date of such Termination of Affiliation and the denominator of which is the number of months (including 
as a whole month any partial month) in the Performance Period; and

(B) a percentage determined by the Plan Committee that would be earned under the terms of the applicable Award Agreement assuming that the 
rate at which the performance goals have been achieved as of the date of such Termination of Affiliation would continue until the end of the 
Performance Period, or, if the Board elects to compute the benefit after the end of the Performance Period, the Performance percentage, as 
determined by the Board, attained during the Performance Period.

(c) Change of Control Period. If a Grantee has a Termination of Affiliation during the period (“Change of Control Period”) commencing on a Change of Control 
and ending on the first anniversary of the Change of Control, which Termination of Affiliation is initiated by the Company or a Subsidiary other than for 
Cause, or initiated by the Grantee for Good Reason, then

(i) the Grantee’s Restricted Shares that were forfeitable shall thereupon become nonforfeitable;

(ii) the Grantee’s Restricted Stock Units shall immediately be settled in accordance with Section 9.4;

(iii) any unexercised Option or SAR, whether or not exercisable on the date of such Termination of Affiliation, shall thereupon be fully exercisable and may 
be exercised, in whole or in part for ninety (90) days following such Termination of Affiliation (but only during the Option Term or SAR Term, 
respectively); and

(iv) the Company shall immediately pay to the Grantee, with respect to any Performance Share or Performance Unit with respect to which the 
Performance Period has not ended as of the date of such Termination of Affiliation, a cash payment equal to the product of (A) in the case of a 
Performance Share, the Change of Control Value or (B) in the case of a Performance Unit, the value of the Performance Unit specified in the Award 
Agreement, as applicable, multiplied successively by each of the following:

(A) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of whole and partial months that have elapsed between the beginning of such Performance 
Period and the date of such Termination of Affiliation and the denominator of which is the number of whole and partial months in the 
Performance Period; and

(B) a percentage equal to a greater of (x) the target percentage, if any, specified in the applicable Award Agreement or (y) the maximum percentage, 
if any, that would be earned under the terms of the applicable Award Agreement assuming that the rate at which the performance goals have 
been achieved as of the date of such Termination of Affiliation would continue until the end of the Performance Period.
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(d) Any Other Reason. If a Grantee has a Termination of Affiliation for any reason other than for Cause, death or Disability, and other than under the 
circumstances described in Section 5.6(c), then:

(i) the Grantee’s Restricted Shares, to the extent forfeitable immediately before such Termination of Affiliation, shall thereupon automatically be forfeited, 
subject in the case of Restricted Shares to the provisions of Section 8.5 regarding repayment of certain amounts to the Grantee;

(ii) the Grantee’s Restricted Stock Units shall automatically be forfeited;

(iii) any unexercised Option or SAR, to the extent exercisable immediately before such Termination of Affiliation, shall remain exercisable in whole or in 
part for ninety (90) days after such Termination of Affiliation (but only during the Option Term or SAR Term, respectively) by the Grantee or, after 
his or her death, by (A) his or her personal representative or the person to whom the Option or SAR, as applicable, is transferred by will or the 
applicable laws of descent and distribution, or (B) the Grantee’s beneficiary designated in accordance with Article 11; and

(iv) any Performance Shares or Performance Units with respect to which the Performance Period has not ended as of the date of such Termination of 
Affiliation shall terminate immediately upon such Termination of Affiliation.

5.7 Nontransferability of Awards.

(a) Except as provided in Section 5.7(c) below, each Award, and each right under any Award, shall be exercisable only by the Grantee during the Grantee’s 
lifetime, or, if permissible under applicable law, by the Grantee’s guardian or legal representative.

(b) Except as provided in Section 5.7(c) below, no Award (prior to the time, if applicable, Shares are issued in respect of such Award), and no right under any 
Award, may be assigned, alienated, pledged, attached, sold or otherwise transferred or encumbered by a Grantee otherwise than by will or by the laws

of descent and distribution and any such purported assignment, alienation, pledge, attachment, sale, transfer or encumbrance shall be void and 
unenforceable against the Company or any Subsidiary; provided, that the designation of a beneficiary shall not constitute an assignment, alienation, 
pledge, attachment, sale, transfer or encumbrance.

 

(c) To the extent and in the manner permitted by the Board, and subject to such terms and conditions as may be prescribed by the Board, a Grantee may 
transfer an Award to (a) a child, stepchild, grandchild, parent, stepparent, grandparent, spouse, former spouse, sibling, niece, nephew, mother-in-law, 
father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, or sister-in-law of the Grantee, (including adoptive relationships), (b) any person sharing the 
Grantee’s household (other than a tenant or employee), (c) a trust in which persons described in (a) or (b) have more than 50% of the beneficial interest, 
(d) a foundation in which persons described in (a) or (b) or the Grantee own more than 50% of the voting interests; provided such transfer is not for value. 
The following shall not be considered transfers for value: (i) a transfer under a domestic relations order in settlement of marital property rights; and (ii) a 
transfer to an entity in which more than 50% of the voting interests are owned by persons described in (a) or (b) above or the Grantee, in exchange for 
an interest in that entity.

5.8 Minimum Vesting. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, no Award granted under the Plan may become exercisable, vest or be settled, in 
whole or in part, prior to the one-year anniversary of the Grant Date, except, if provided in the applicable Award Agreement, in the event of death, Disability, 
Change of Control, Termination of Affiliation with Good Reason, or Termination of Affiliation by the Employer other than for Cause. For the avoidance of 
doubt, nothing in this Section 5.8 shall be deemed to shorten any minimum vesting schedule applicable to Restricted Shares or Restricted Stock Units 
pursuant to Section 8.3 or Section 9.2, respectively. 
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Article 6.  Stock Options
 

6.1 Grant of Options. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, Options may be granted to any Eligible Person in such number, and upon such terms, and at 
any time and from time to time as shall be determined by the Board. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Board may grant to any Eligible 
Person, or permit any Eligible Person to elect to receive, an Option in lieu of or in substitution for any other compensation (whether payable currently or on a 
deferred basis, and whether payable under the Plan or otherwise) which such Eligible Person may be eligible to receive from the Company or a Subsidiary, 
which Option may have a value (as determined by the Board under Black-Scholes or any other option valuation method) that is equal to or greater than the 
amount of such other compensation.

6.2 Award Agreement. Each Option grant shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement that shall specify the Option Price, the Option Term, the number of shares to 
which the Option pertains, the time or times at which such Option shall be exercisable and such other provisions as the Board shall determine.

6.3 Option Price. The Option Price of an Option under the Plan shall be determined by the Board, and shall be the higher of 100% of the Fair Market Value of a Share 
on the Grant Date or 100% of the par value of a Share; provided, however, that any Option (“Substitute Option”) that is (x) granted to a Grantee in connection 
with the acquisition (“Acquisition”), however effected, by the Company of another corporation or entity (“Acquired Entity”) or the assets thereof, (y) associated 
with an option to purchase shares of stock or other equity interest of the Acquired Entity or an affiliate thereof (“Acquired Entity Option”) held by such Grantee 
immediately prior to such Acquisition, and (z) intended to preserve for the Grantee the economic value of all or a portion of such Acquired Entity Option, shall 
be granted such that such option substitution is completed in conformity with the rules set forth in Section 424(a) of the Code.

6.4 Grant of Incentive Stock Options.

(a) At the time of the grant of any Option to an Eligible Person who is an employee of the Company or a Subsidiary, the Board may designate that such option 
shall be made subject to additional restrictions to permit it to qualify as an “incentive stock option” under the requirements of Section 422 of the Code. Any 
option designated as an incentive stock option:

(i) shall not be granted to a person who owns shares (including shares treated as owned under Section 424(d) of the Code) possessing more than 10% of 
the total combined voting power of all classes of shares of the Company;

(ii) shall be for a term of not more than 10 years from the Grant Date, and shall be subject to earlier termination as provided herein or in the applicable 
Award Agreement;

(iii) shall not have an aggregate Fair Market Value (determined for each incentive stock option at its Grant Date) of Shares with respect to which incentive 
stock options are exercisable for the first time by such Grantee during any calendar year (under the Plan and any other employee stock option plan 
of the Grantee’s employer or any parent or Subsidiary thereof (“Other Plans”)), determined in accordance with the provisions of Section 422 of the 
Code, which exceeds $100,000 (the “$100,000 Limit”);

(iv) shall, if the aggregate Fair Market Value of a Share (determined on the Grant Date) with respect to the portion of such grant which is exercisable for 
the first time during any calendar year (“Current Grant”) and all incentive stock options previously granted under the Plan and any Other Plans 
which are exercisable for the first time during a calendar year (“Prior Grants”) would exceed the $100,000 Limit, be exercisable as follows:

(A) the portion of the Current Grant which would, when added to any Prior Grants, be exercisable with respect to Shares which would have an 
aggregate Fair Market Value (determined as of the respective Grant Date for such options) in excess of the $100,000 Limit shall, 
notwithstanding the terms of the Current Grant, be exercisable for the first time by the Grantee in the first subsequent calendar year or years 
in which it could be exercisable for the first time by the Grantee when added to all Prior Grants without exceeding the $100,000 Limit; and

(B) if, viewed as of the date of the Current Grant, any portion of a Current Grant could not be exercised under the preceding provisions of this 
Subsection (iv) during any calendar year commencing with the calendar year in which it is first exercisable through and including the last 
calendar year in which it may by its terms be exercised, such portion of the Current Grant shall not be an incentive stock option, but shall be 
exercisable as a separate Option at such date or dates as are provided in the Current Grant;

(v) shall be granted within 10 years from the earlier of the date the Plan is adopted or the date the Plan is approved by the shareholders of the Company;

(vi) shall require the Grantee to notify the Board of any disposition of any Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of the incentive stock option under the 
circumstances described in Section 421(b) of the Code (relating to certain disqualifying dispositions), within 10 days of such disposition; and
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(vii) shall by its terms not be assignable or transferable other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution and may be exercised, during the 
Grantee’s lifetime, only by the Grantee; provided, however, that the Grantee may, to the extent provided in the Plan in any manner specified by the 
Board, designate in writing a beneficiary to exercise such incentive stock option after the Grantee’s death.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may, without the consent of the Grantee, at any time before the exercise of an option (whether or not an incentive stock 
option), take any action necessary to prevent such option from being treated as an incentive stock option.

6.5 Exercise of Options. Options shall be exercised by the delivery of a written notice of exercise to the Company or its designee, setting forth the number of Shares 
with respect to which the Option is to be exercised, accompanied by full payment for the Shares as instructed by the Board or, subject to the approval of the 
Board pursuant to procedures approved by the Board,

(a) through the sale of the Shares acquired on exercise of the Option through a broker-dealer to whom the Grantee has submitted an irrevocable notice of 
exercise and irrevocable instructions to deliver promptly to the Company the amount of sale or loan proceeds sufficient to pay for such Shares, together 
with, if requested by the Company, the amount of federal, state, local or foreign withholding taxes payable by Grantee by reason of such exercise,

(b) through simultaneous sale through a broker of Shares acquired on exercise, as permitted under Regulation T of the Federal Reserve Board,

(c) by transfer to the Company of the number of Shares then owned by the Grantee, the Fair Market Value of which equals the purchase price of the Shares 
purchased in connection with the Option exercise, properly endorsed for transfer to the Company; provided however, that Shares used for this purpose 
must have been held by the Grantee for such minimum period of time as may be established from time to time by the Board; and provided further that the 
Fair Market Value of any Shares delivered in payment of the purchase price upon exercise of the Options shall be the Fair Market Value as of the 
exercise date, which shall be the date of delivery of the certificates for the Stock used as payment of the exercise price. For purposes of this Section 
6.5(c), in lieu of actually transferring to the Company the number of Shares then owned by the Grantee, the Board may, in its discretion permit the 
Grantee to submit to the Company a statement affirming ownership by the Grantee of such number of Shares and request that such Shares, although not 
actually transferred, be deemed to have been transferred by the Grantee as payment of the exercise price, or

(d) by a “net exercise” arrangement pursuant to which the Company will not require a payment of the Option Price but will reduce the number of Shares upon 
the exercise by the largest number of whole shares that has a Fair Market Value on the date of exercise that does not exceed the aggregate Option 
Price. With respect to any remaining balance of the aggregate option price, the Company will accept a cash payment from the Grantee. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, a “net exercise” arrangement will not be an eligible exercise method for incentive stock options unless and until the Company and its 
advisors conclude that such method of exercise may be utilized without resulting in a disqualification of the incentive stock option.

 

Article 7.  Stock Appreciation Rights
 

7.1 Grant of SARs. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, SARs may be granted to any Eligible Person at any time and from time to time as shall be 
determined by the Board in its sole discretion. The Board may grant Freestanding SARs or Tandem SARs, or any combination thereof.

(a) Number of Shares. The Board shall have complete discretion to determine the number of SARs granted to any Grantee, subject to the limitations imposed 
in the Plan and by applicable law.

(b) Exercise Price and Other Terms. All SARs shall be granted with an exercise price no less than the Fair Market Value of the underlying Shares on the 
SARs’ Grant Date. The Board, subject to the provisions of the Plan, shall have complete discretion to determine the terms and conditions of SARs 
granted under the Plan. The exercise price per Share of Tandem SARs shall equal the exercise price per Share of the related Option.

7.2 SAR Award Agreement. Each SAR granted under the Plan shall be evidenced by a written SAR Award Agreement which shall be entered into by the Company 
and the Grantee to whom the SAR is granted and which shall specify the exercise price per share, the SAR Term, the conditions of exercise, and such other 
terms and conditions as the Board in its sole discretion shall determine.
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7.3 Exercise of SARs. SARs shall be exercised by the delivery of a written notice of exercise to the Company or its designee, setting forth the number of Shares over 
which the SAR is to be exercised. Tandem SARs (a) may be exercised with respect to all or part of the Shares subject to the related Option upon the 
surrender of the right to exercise the equivalent portion of the related Option; (b) may be exercised only with respect to the Shares for which its related Option 
is then exercisable; and (c) may be exercised only when the Fair Market Value of the Shares subject to the Option exceeds the Option Price of the Option. The 
value of the payment with respect to the Tandem SAR may be no more than 100% of the difference between the Option Price of the underlying Option and the 
Fair Market Value of the Shares subject to the underlying Option at the time the Tandem SAR is exercised.

7.4 Expiration of SARs. A SAR granted under the Plan shall expire on the date set forth in the SAR Award Agreement, which date shall be determined by the Board in 
its sole discretion. Unless otherwise specifically provided for in the SAR Award agreement, a Tandem SAR granted under the Plan shall be exercisable at such 
time or times and only to the extent that the related Option is exercisable. The Tandem SAR shall terminate and no longer be exercisable upon the termination 
or exercise of the related Options, except that Tandem SARs granted with respect to less than the full number of Shares covered by a related Option shall not 
be reduced until the exercise or termination of the related Option exceeds the number of Shares not covered by the SARs.

7.5 Payment of SAR Amount. Upon exercise of a SAR, a Grantee shall be entitled to receive payment from the Company in an amount determined by multiplying (i) 
the positive difference between the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of exercise over the exercise price per Share by (ii) the number of Shares with 
respect to which the SAR is exercised. The payment upon a SAR exercise shall be solely in whole Shares of equivalent value. Fractional Shares shall be 
rounded down to the nearest whole Share with no cash consideration being paid upon exercise.

 
 
Article 8.  Restricted Shares and Bonus Shares
 
8.1 Grant of Restricted Shares. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, the Board, at any time and from time to time, may grant Restricted Shares to any 

Eligible Person in such amounts as the Board shall determine.

8.2 Bonus Shares. Subject to the terms of the Plan, the Board may grant Bonus Shares to any Eligible Person, in such amount and upon such terms and at any time 
and from time to time as shall be determined by the Board. Bonus Shares shall be Shares issued without any Restriction.

8.3 Award Agreement. Each grant of Restricted Shares shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement, which shall specify the Restrictions and the Period(s) of 
Restriction, the number of Restricted Shares granted, and such other provisions as the Board shall determine. The Board may impose such Restrictions on 
any Restricted Shares as it may deem advisable, including Restrictions based upon the achievement of specific performance goals (Company-wide, divisional, 
Subsidiary or individual), time-based Restrictions on vesting or Restrictions under applicable securities laws; provided that in all cases, the Restricted Shares 
shall be subject to a minimum two-year graduated vesting schedule (50% each year), except, if as provided in the Award Agreement, in the event of death, 
disability, Change of Control, Termination of Affiliation with Good Reason, or Termination of Affiliation by the Employer other than for Cause.

8.4 Consideration. The Board shall determine the amount, if any, that a Grantee shall pay for Restricted Shares or Bonus Shares. Such payment shall be made in full 
by the Grantee before the delivery of the shares and in any event no later than 10 business days after the Grant Date for such shares.

8.5 Effect of Forfeiture. If Restricted Shares are forfeited, and if the Grantee was required to pay for such shares or acquired such Restricted Shares upon the exercise 
of an Option, the Grantee shall resell such Restricted Shares to the Company at a price equal to the lesser of (x) the amount paid by the Grantee for such 
Restricted Shares, or (y) the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of such forfeiture. The Company shall pay to the Grantee the required amount as soon 
as is administratively practical.

8.6 Escrow. The Board may provide that any Restricted Shares or Bonus Shares shall be represented by, at the option of the Board, either book entry registration or 
by a stock certificate or certificates. If the shares of Restricted Shares are represented by a certificate or certificates, such shares shall be held (together with 
an assignment or endorsement executed in blank by the Grantee) in escrow by an escrow agent until such Restricted Shares become nonforfeitable or are 
forfeited.

 
Article 9.  Restricted Stock Units (f/k/a “Deferred Shares”)
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9.1 Grant of Restricted Stock Units. Subject to and consistent with the provisions of the Plan and Code Sections 409A(a)(2), (3) and (4), the Board, at any time and 

from time to time, may grant Restricted Stock Units to any Eligible Person, in such amount and upon such terms as the Board shall determine. A Grantee shall 
have no voting rights in Restricted Stock Units.

9.2 Award Agreement. Each grant of Restricted Stock Units shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement that shall specify the Restrictions, the number of Shares 
subject to the Restricted Stock Units granted, and such other provisions as the Plan Committee shall determine in accordance with the Plan and Code Section 
409A. The Plan Committee may impose such Restrictions on Restricted Stock Units, including time-based Restrictions, Restrictions based on the achievement 
of specific performance goals, time-based Restrictions following the achievement of specific performance goals, Restrictions based on the occurrence of a 
specified event, and/or restrictions under applicable securities laws; provided that in all cases the Restricted Stock Units shall be subject to a minimum two-
year graduated vesting schedule (50% each year), except, if as provided in the Award Agreement, in the event of death, Disability, Change of Control, 
Termination of Affiliation with Good Reason, or Termination of Affiliation by the Employer other than for Cause.

9.3 Crediting Restricted Stock Units. The Company shall establish an account (“RSU Account”) on its books for each Eligible Person who receives a grant of 
Restricted Stock Units. Restricted Stock Units shall be credited to the Grantee’s RSU Account as of the Grant Date of such Restricted Stock Units. RSU 
Accounts shall be maintained for recordkeeping purposes only and the Company shall not be obligated to segregate or set aside assets representing 
securities or other amounts credited to RSU Accounts. The obligation to make distributions of securities or other amounts credited to RSU Accounts shall be 
an unfunded, unsecured obligation of the Company.

9.4 Settlement of RSU Accounts. The Company shall settle an RSU Account by delivering to the holder thereof (which may be the Grantee or his or her Beneficiary, 
as applicable) a number of Shares equal to the whole number of Shares underlying the Restricted Stock Units then credited to the Grantee’s RSU Account (or 
a specified portion in the event of any partial settlement); provided that any fractional Shares underlying Restricted Stock Units remaining in the RSU Account 
on the Settlement Date shall be distributed in cash in an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of a Share as of the Settlement Date multiplied by the 
remaining fractional Restricted Share Unit. The “Settlement Date” for all Restricted Stock Units credited to a Grantee’s RSU Account shall be the date when 
Restrictions applicable to an Award of Restricted Stock Units have lapsed.

 

Article 10.  Performance Units and Performance Shares
 
10.1 Grant of Performance Units and Performance Shares. Subject to the terms of the Plan, Performance Units or Performance Shares may be granted to any Eligible 

Person in such amounts and upon such terms, and at any time and from time to time, as the Board shall determine. Each grant of Performance Units or 
Performance Shares shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement which shall specify the terms and conditions applicable to the Performance Units or 
Performance Shares, as the Board determines.

10.2 Value/Performance Goals. Each Performance Unit shall have an initial value that is established by the Board at the time of grant, that is equal to the Fair Market 
Value of a Share on the Grant Date. The Board shall set the business criteria which, depending on the extent to which they are met, will determine the number 
or value of Performance Units or Performance Shares that will be paid to the Grantee. For purposes of this Article 10, the time period during which the 
performance goals must be met shall be called a “Performance Period.” The Board shall have complete discretion to establish the performance goals.

10.3 Payment of Performance Units and Performance Shares. Subject to the terms of the Plan, after the applicable Performance Period has ended, the holder of 
Performance Units or Performance Shares shall be entitled to receive a payment based on the number and value of Performance Units or Performance 
Shares earned by the Grantee over the Performance Period, determined as a function of the extent to which the corresponding performance goals have been 
achieved.

 

If a Grantee is promoted, demoted or transferred to a different business unit of the Company during a Performance Period, then, to the extent the Board determines 
appropriate, the Board may adjust, change or eliminate the performance goals or the applicable Performance Period as it deems appropriate in order to make them 
appropriate and comparable to the initial performance goals or Performance Period.
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10.4 Form and Timing of Payment of Performance Units and Performance Shares. Payment of earned Performance Units or Performance Shares shall be made in a 
lump sum following the close of the applicable Performance Period. The Board may cause earned Performance Units or Performance Shares to be paid in 
cash or in Shares (or in a combination thereof) which have an aggregate Fair Market Value equal to the value of the earned Performance Units or 
Performance Shares at the close of the applicable Performance Period. Such Shares may be granted subject to any restrictions deemed appropriate by the 
Board. The form of payout of such Awards shall be set forth in the Award Agreement pertaining to the grant of the Award.

 
As determined by the Board, a Grantee may be entitled to receive any dividends declared with respect to Shares which have been earned in connection with grants of 
Performance Units or Performance Shares but not yet distributed to the Grantee. In addition, a Grantee may, as determined by the Board, be entitled to exercise his 
or her voting rights with respect to such Shares.

 
Article 11.  Beneficiary Designation
 
Each Grantee under the Plan may, from time to time, name any beneficiary or beneficiaries (who may be named contingently or successively) to whom any benefit 
under the Plan is to be paid in case of the Grantee’s death before he or she receives any or all of such benefit. Each such designation shall revoke all prior 
designations by the same Grantee, shall be in a form prescribed by the Company, and will be effective only when filed by the Grantee in writing with the Company 
during the Grantee’s lifetime. In the absence of any such designation, benefits remaining unpaid at the Grantee’s death shall be paid to the Grantee’s estate.

 
 
Article 12.  Rights of Employees
 
12.1 Employment. Nothing in the Plan shall interfere with or limit in any way the right of the Company to terminate any Grantee’s employment at any time, nor confer 

upon any Grantee the right to continue in the employ of the Company.

 

12.2 Participation. No employee shall have the right to be selected to receive an Award, or, having been so selected, to be selected to receive a future Award.

 
Article 13.  Amendment, Modification, and Termination
 
13.1 Amendment, Modification, and Termination. Subject to the terms of the Plan, the Board of Directors of the Company may at any time and from time to time, alter, 

amend, suspend or terminate the Plan in whole or in part without the approval of the Company’s shareholders, except to the extent the Board of Directors of 
the Company determines it is desirable to obtain approval of the Company’s shareholders, to have available the ability for Options to qualify as ISOs, to comply 
with the requirements for listing on any exchange where the Company’s Shares are listed, or for any other purpose the Board of Directors of the Company 
deems appropriate.

 

13.2 Adjustments Upon Certain Unusual or Nonrecurring Events. The Board may make adjustments in the terms and conditions of Awards in recognition of unusual or 
nonrecurring events (including the events described in Section 4.2) affecting the Company or the financial statements of the Company or of changes in 
applicable laws, regulations, or accounting principles, whenever the Board determines that such adjustments are appropriate in order to prevent dilution or 
enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under the Plan.

13.3 Awards Previously Granted. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary (but subject to Section 2.8 and Section 13.2), no termination, 
amendment or modification of the Plan shall adversely affect in any material way any Award previously granted under the Plan, without the written consent of 
the Grantee of such Award. Any adjustment, modification, extension or renewal of an Option shall be effected such that the Option is either exempt from, or is 
compliant with, Code section 409A.
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13.4 Adjustments in Connection with Change of Control. In the event the Company undergoes a Change of Control or in the event of a separation, spin-off, sale of a 
material portion of the Company’s assets or any “going private” transaction under Rule 13e-3 promulgated pursuant to the Exchange Act and in which a 
Change of Control does not occur, the Board, or the board of directors of any corporation assuming the obligations of the Company, shall have the full power 
and discretion to prescribe and amend the terms and conditions for the exercise, or modification, of any outstanding Awards granted hereunder in the manner 
as agreed to by the Board as set forth in the definitive agreement relating to the transaction. Without limitation, the Board or Plan Committee may:

(a) remove restrictions on Restricted Shares and Restricted Stock Units;

(b) modify the performance requirements for any other Awards;

(c) provide that Options or other Awards granted hereunder must be exercised in connection with the closing of such transactions, and that if not so exercised 
such Awards will expire;

(d) provide for the purchase by the Company of any such Award, upon the Grantee’s request, for an amount of cash equal to the amount that could have been 
attained upon the exercise of such Award or realization of the Grantee’s rights had such Award been currently exercisable or payable;

(e) make such adjustment to any such Award then outstanding as the Board deems appropriate to reflect such Change of Control;

(f) cause any such Award then outstanding to be assumed, or new rights substituted therefore, by the acquiring or surviving corporation after such Change of 
Control. Any such determinations by the Board may be made generally with respect to all Participants, or may be made on a case-by-case basis with 
respect to particular Participants.

 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any transaction undertaken for the purpose of reincorporating the Company under the laws of another jurisdiction, if such transaction 
does not materially affect the beneficial ownership of the Company’s Shares, such transaction shall not constitute a merger, consolidation, major acquisition of 
property for stock, separation, reorganization, liquidation, or Change of Control.
 

13.5 Prohibition on Repricings. Except in connection with a corporate transaction involving the Company (including, without limitation, any stock dividend, stock split, 
extraordinary cash dividend, recapitalization, reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination, or exchange of shares), the terms of 
outstanding Awards may not be amended to reduce the exercise price of outstanding Options or SARs or cancel outstanding Options or SARs in exchange for 
cash, other Awards or Options or SARs with an exercise price that is less than the exercise price of the original Options or SARs without stockholder approval.

 

Article 14.  Withholding
 

14.1. Mandatory Tax Withholding.

(a) Whenever under the Plan, Shares are to be delivered upon exercise or payment of an Award, or upon the lapse of Restrictions on an Award, or any other 
event with respect to rights and benefits hereunder (the exercise date, date such Restrictions lapse or such payment of any other benefit or right occurs 
hereinafter referred to as the “Tax Date”), the Company shall be entitled to require and may accommodate the Grantee’s request if so requested, to 
satisfy all federal, state, local and foreign tax withholding requirements, including Social Security and Medicare (“FICA”) taxes related thereto (“Tax 
Withholding”), by one or a combination of the following methods:

(i) Payment of an amount in cash equal to the amount to be withheld;

(ii) Requesting the Company to withhold from those Shares that would otherwise be received upon exercise of the Option or the SAR payable in Shares, 
upon the lapse of Restrictions on an Award, a number of Shares having a Fair Market Value on the Tax Date equal to the amount to be withheld; or

(iii) withholding from compensation otherwise due to the Grantee.

 

The Board in its sole discretion may provide that the maximum amount of tax withholding to be satisfied by withholding Shares pursuant to clause (ii) above shall not 
exceed the minimum amount of taxes, including FICA taxes, required to be withheld under federal, state and local law. An election by Grantee under this subsection is 
irrevocable. Any fractional share amount and any additional withholding not paid by the withholding or surrender of Shares must be paid in cash. If no timely election 
is made, the Grantee must deliver cash to satisfy all tax withholding requirements.
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(b) Any Grantee who makes a disqualifying disposition of an incentive stock option granted under the Plan or who makes an election under Section 83(b) of the 
Code shall remit to the Company an amount sufficient to satisfy all resulting Tax Withholding; provided that, in lieu of or in addition to the foregoing, the 
Company shall have the right to withhold such Tax Withholding from compensation otherwise due to the Grantee or from any Shares or other payment 
due to the Grantee under the Plan.

14.2 Notification under Code Section 83(b). If the Grantee, in connection with the exercise of any Option, or the grant of Restricted Shares, makes the election 
permitted under Section 83(b) of the Code to include in such Grantee’s gross income in the year of transfer the amounts specified in Section 83(b) of the Code, 
then such Grantee shall notify the Company of such election within 10 days of filing the notice of the election with the Internal Revenue Service, in addition to 
any filing and notification required pursuant to regulations issued under Section 83(b) of the Code. The Board may, in connection with the grant of an Award or 
at any time thereafter prior to such an election being made, prohibit a Grantee from making the election described above.

 

Article 15.  Equity Incentive Plans of Foreign Subsidiaries
 

The Board may authorize any foreign Subsidiary to adopt a plan for granting Awards (“Foreign Equity Incentive Plan”). All awards granted under such Foreign Equity 
Incentive Plans shall be treated as grants under the Plan. Such Foreign Equity Incentive Plans shall have such terms and provisions as the Board permits not 
inconsistent with the provisions of the Plan and which may be more restrictive than those contained in the Plan. Awards granted under such Foreign Equity Incentive 
Plans shall be governed by the terms of the Plan except to the extent that the provisions of the Foreign Equity Incentive Plans are more restrictive than the terms of 
the Plan, in which case such terms of the Foreign Equity Incentive Plans shall control.
 

Article 16.  Additional Provisions
 

16.1 Successors. All obligations of the Company under the Plan with respect to Awards granted hereunder shall be binding on any successor to the Company, 
whether the existence of such successor is the result of a direct or indirect purchase, merger, consolidation, or otherwise of all or substantially all of the 
business or assets of the Company.

16.2 Gender and Number. Except where otherwise indicated by the context, any masculine term used herein also shall include the feminine; the plural shall include 
the singular and the singular shall include the plural.

16.3 Severability. If any part of the Plan is declared by any court or governmental authority to be unlawful or invalid, such unlawfulness or invalidity shall not invalidate 
any other part of the Plan. Any Section or part of a Section so declared to be unlawful or invalid shall, if possible, be construed in a manner which will give 
effect to the terms of such Section or part of a Section to the fullest extent possible while remaining lawful and valid.

16.4 Requirements of Law. The granting of Awards and the issuance of Shares under the Plan shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules, and regulations, and to 
such approvals by any governmental agencies or stock exchanges as may be required. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan or any Award, Grantees 
shall not be entitled to exercise, or receive benefits under, any Award, and the Company shall not be obligated to deliver any Shares or other benefits to a 
Grantee, if such exercise or delivery would constitute a violation by the Grantee or the Company of any applicable law or regulation.

16.5 Securities Law Compliance.

(a) If the Board deems it necessary to comply with any applicable securities law, or the requirements of any stock exchange upon which Shares may be listed, 
the Board may impose any restriction on Shares acquired pursuant to Awards under the Plan as it may deem advisable. All Shares transferred under the 
Plan pursuant to any Award or the exercise thereof shall be subject to such stop transfer orders and other restrictions as the Board may deem advisable 
under the rules, regulations and other requirements of the SEC, any stock exchange upon which Shares are then listed, any applicable securities law. If 
so requested by the Company, the Grantee shall represent to the Company in writing that he or she will not sell or offer to sell any Shares unless a 
registration statement shall be in effect with respect to such Shares under the Securities Act of 1933 or unless he or she shall have furnished to the 
Company evidence satisfactory to the Company that such registration is not required.

(b) If the Board determines that the exercise of, or delivery of benefits pursuant to, any Award would violate any applicable provision of securities laws or the 
listing requirements of any stock exchange upon which any of the Company’s equity securities are then listed, then the Board may postpone any such 
exercise or delivery, as applicable, but the Company shall use all reasonable efforts to cause such exercise or delivery to comply with all such provisions 
at the earliest practicable date.
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16.6 No Rights as a Shareholder. A Grantee shall not have any rights as a shareholder with respect to the Shares (other than Restricted Shares) which may be 
deliverable upon exercise or payment of such Award until such shares have been delivered to him or her. Restricted Shares, whether held by a Grantee or in 
escrow by the escrow agent, shall confer on the Grantee all rights of a shareholder of the Company, except as otherwise provided in the Plan or Award 
Agreement. Unless otherwise determined by the Board at the time of a grant of Restricted Shares, any cash dividends that become payable on Restricted 
Shares shall be deferred and, if the Board so determines, reinvested in additional Restricted Shares. Except as otherwise provided in an Award Agreement, 
any share dividends and deferred cash dividends issued with respect to Restricted Shares shall be subject to the same restrictions and other terms as apply to 
the Restricted Shares with respect to which such dividends are issued. The Board may provide for payment of interest on deferred cash dividends.

16.7 Nature of Payments. Awards shall be special incentive payments to the Grantee and shall not be taken into account in computing the amount of salary or 
compensation of the Grantee for purposes of determining any pension, retirement, death or other benefit under (a) any pension, retirement, profit-sharing, 
bonus, insurance or other employee benefit plan of the Company or any Subsidiary or (b) any agreement between (i) the Company or any Subsidiary and (ii) 
the Grantee, except as such plan or agreement shall otherwise expressly provide.

16.8 Military Service. Awards shall be administered in accordance with Section 414(u) of the Code and the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment 
Rights Act of 1994.

16.9 Data Protection. The Board, the Plan Committee and any other person or entity empowered by the Board or the Plan Committee to administer the Plan may 
process, store, transfer or disclose personal data of the Grantees to the extent required for the implementation and administration of the Plan. The Board, the 
Plan Committee and any other person or entity empowered by the Board or the Plan Committee to administer the Plan shall comply with any applicable data 
protection laws.

16.10 Governing Law. The Plan and the rights of any Grantee receiving an Award thereunder shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with and governed by 
the laws of the State of Kansas without giving effect to the principles of the conflict of laws to the contrary.
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Annex to the Plan for Swiss based Grantees and Grantees subject to Swiss inheritance law
 
 
1. Section 5.6(a)(i) shall be replaced with the following:

(i) to the extent permitted by the applicable Swiss law the Grantee’s Restricted Shares that are forfeitable immediately before such Termination of Affiliation 
shall automatically be forfeited on such date, subject in the case of Restricted Shares to the provisions of Section 0 regarding repayment of certain 
amounts to the Grantee;

2. Section 5.6(a)(ii) shall be replaced with the following:

(ii) to the extent permitted by the applicable Swiss law the Grantee’s Restricted Stock Units shall automatically be forfeited;

3. Section 5.6(a)(iii) shall be replaced with the following:

(iii) to the extent permitted by the applicable Swiss law any unexercised Option or SAR, and any Performance Share or Performance Unit with respect to which 
the Performance Period has not ended immediately before such Termination of Affiliation, shall terminate effective immediately upon such Termination of 
Affiliation.

4. Section 5.6(d)(i) shall be replaced with the following:

(i) to the extent permitted by the applicable Swiss law the Grantee’s Restricted Shares and Deferred Shares, to the extent forfeitable immediately before such 
Termination of Affiliation, shall thereupon automatically be forfeited, subject in the case of Restricted Shares to the provisions of Section 8.4 regarding 
repayment of certain amounts to the Grantee;

5. Section 5.6(d)(ii) shall be replaced with the following:

(ii) to the extent permitted by the applicable Swiss law the Grantee’s Restricted Stock Units shall automatically be forfeited;

6. Section 5.6(d)(iv) shall be replaced with the following:

(iv) to the extent permitted by the applicable Swiss law any Performance Shares or Performance Units with respect to which the Performance Period has not 
ended as of the date of such Termination of Affiliation shall terminate immediately upon such Termination of Affiliation.

7. Section 6.1 shall be replaced with the following:

Grant of Options. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, Options may be granted to any Eligible Person in such number, and upon such terms, and at 
any time and from time to time as shall be determined by the Board. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing and to the extent permitted by the 
applicable Swiss law, the Board may grant to any Eligible Person, or permit any Eligible Person to elect to receive, an Option in lieu of or in substitution for any 
other compensation (whether payable currently or on a deferred basis, and whether payable under the Plan or otherwise) which such Eligible Person may be 
eligible to receive from the Company or a Subsidiary, which Option may have a value (as determined by the Board under Black-Scholes or any other option 
valuation method) that is equal to or greater than the amount of such other compensation.

8. Article 11 shall be replaced with the following:

Each Grantee under the Plan may, from time to time, name any beneficiary or beneficiaries (who may be named contingently or successively) to whom any 
benefit under the Plan is to be paid in case of the Grantee’s death before he or she receives any or all of such benefit. Each such designation shall revoke all 
prior designations by the same Grantee, shall be in a form and procedure prescribed by the applicable Swiss inheritance law. Irrespective of any such 
designation, benefits remaining unpaid at the Grantee’s death shall be paid to the Grantee’s estate
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EXHIBIT 10.2

GARMIN LTD.
2005 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

as amended and restated on October 25, 2024
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

(For Swiss Grantees)

To:  _______________________ (“you” or the “Grantee”)

Date of Grant:  _______________________

NOTICE OF GRANT:

You have been granted restricted stock units (“RSUs”) relating to the shares, USD $0.10 par value per share, of 
Garmin Ltd. (“Shares”), subject to the terms and conditions of the Garmin Ltd. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated 
on October 25, 2024 (the “Plan”) and the Award Agreement between you and Garmin Ltd. (the “Company”), attached as Exhibit A.  
Accordingly, provided you satisfy the conditions set forth in this Notice of Grant and Exhibit A, the Company agrees to pay you 
Shares as follows:

Number of RSUs Granted  Dates Payable  
Date Grantee Must Be

Employed To Receive Award
     

__________ Shares  __________, 20__  ______________, 20__

__________ Shares  __________, 20__  ______________, 20__

__________ Shares  __________, 20__  ______________, 20__
 

In order to fully understand your rights under the Plan (a copy of which is attached) and the Award Agreement (the 
“Award Agreement”), attached as Exhibit A, you are encouraged to read the Plan and this document carefully.  Please refer to the 
Plan document for the definition of capitalized terms used in this Agreement.

By accepting these RSUs, you are also agreeing to be bound by Exhibit A, including the restrictive 
covenants in Section 6 of Exhibit A.

GARMIN LTD. 
 

By:       _________________________
Name:  Clifton A. Pemble                                    
Title:    President and CEO
 
Grantee: __________________________
 
Date:______________________
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EXHIBIT A

AGREEMENT:

In consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained herein and other good and valuable consideration paid by 
the Grantee to the Company, the Grantee and the Company agree as follows:

Section 1.Incorporation of Plan

All provisions of this Award Agreement and the rights of the Grantee hereunder are subject in all respects to the provisions 
of the Plan and the powers of the Board therein provided.  Capitalized terms used in this Award Agreement but not defined shall 
have the meaning set forth in the Plan. 

Section 2.Grant of RSUs

As of the Date of Grant identified above, the Company grants to you, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein 
and in the Plan, the opportunity to receive that number of unrestricted Shares identified below the heading “Number of RSUs 
Granted” on the Notice of Grant (the “RSUs”).  Provided you are employed (and at all times since the Date of Grant have been 
employed) by the Company or a Subsidiary and unless your right to receive the RSUs has been forfeited pursuant to Section 3 below, 
then (subject to Section 12 below) you will be paid a number of unrestricted Shares equal to the aggregate number of your remaining 
RSUs on the dates above identified below the heading “Dates Payable” on the Notice of Grant.  If a date under “Dates Payable” is a 
Saturday or Sunday or any other non-business day, then you will be paid the Shares payable on that date on the next business day.  

Section 3.Effect of Termination of Affiliation

If you have a Termination of Affiliation for any reason, including termination by the Company with or without Cause, 
voluntary resignation, death, or Disability, the effect of such Termination of Affiliation on all or any portion of the RSUs is as provided 
below.   

 

(a)If you have a Termination of Affiliation on account of death or Disability, your RSUs that were forfeitable immediately 
before such Termination of Affiliation, if any, shall thereupon become nonforfeitable and the Company shall, promptly settle 
all RSUs by delivery to you (or, after your death, to your personal representative or designated beneficiary) a number of 
unrestricted Shares equal to the aggregate number of your remaining RSUs;

(b)If you have a Termination of Affiliation during the period (“Change of Control Period”) commencing on a Change of 
Control and ending on the first anniversary of the Change of Control, which Termination of Affiliation is initiated by the 
Company or a Subsidiary other than for Cause, or initiated by the Grantee for Good Reason, then your RSUs that were 
forfeitable shall thereupon become nonforfeitable and the Company shall immediately settle all RSUs by delivery to you a 
number of unrestricted Shares equal to the aggregate number of your remaining RSUs;
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(c)If you have a Termination of Affiliation for Cause or for any reason other than for, death or Disability, or under the 
circumstances described in immediately above in Section 3(b), your RSUs, to the extent forfeitable immediately before such 
Termination of Affiliation and to the extent permitted by the applicable Swiss law, shall thereupon automatically be forfeited 
and you shall have no further rights under this Award Agreement. 

Section 4.Investment Intent

The Grantee agrees that the Shares acquired pursuant to the vesting of one or more tranches of RSUs shall be acquired for 
his/her own account for investment only and not with a view to, or for resale in connection with, any distribution or public offering 
thereof within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “1933 Act”) or other applicable securities laws. The Company may, but 
in no event shall be required to, bear any expenses of complying with the 1933 Act, other applicable securities laws or the rules and 
regulations of any national securities exchange or other regulatory authority in connection with the registration, qualification, or 
transfer, as the case may be, of this Award Agreement or any Shares acquired hereunder. The foregoing restrictions on the transfer 
of the Shares shall be inoperative if (a) the Company previously shall have been furnished with an opinion of counsel, satisfactory to 
it, to the effect that such transfer will not involve any violation of the 1933 Act and other applicable securities laws or (b) the Shares 
shall have been duly registered in compliance with the 1933 Act and other applicable state or federal securities laws. If this Award 
Agreement, or the Shares subject to this Award Agreement, are so registered under the 1933 Act, the Grantee agrees that he will not 
make a public offering of the said Shares except on a national securities exchange on which the shares of the Company are then 
listed.

Section 5.Nontransferability of RSUs

No rights under this Award Agreement relating to the RSUs may be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise 
alienated or hypothecated, including, unless specifically approved by the Company, any purported transfer to a current spouse or 
former spouse in connection with a legal separation or divorce proceeding. All rights with respect to the RSUs granted to the Grantee 
shall be available during his or her lifetime only to the Grantee.

Section 6.Restrictive Covenants

As a condition of this Award Agreement, the Grantee's right to the RSUs, and in addition to any restrictive agreements the 
Grantee may have entered into with the Company, the Grantee accepts and agrees to be bound as follows:

(a)Nondisclosure of Award Agreement Terms.  The Grantee agrees not to disclose or cause to be disclosed at any time, 
nor authorize anyone to disclose any information concerning this Award Agreement except (i) as required by law, or (ii) to 
the Grantee's legal and financial advisors who agree to be bound by this Paragraph 6(a).

(b)Noncompetition.  During the Grantee's employment and until one year after the Grantee ceases being employed by or 
acting as a consultant or independent contractor to the Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not perform services as 
an employee, director, officer, consultant, independent contractor or advisor, or invest in, whether in the form of equity or 
debt, or otherwise have an ownership interest in any 
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company, entity or person that directly competes anywhere in the United States, the United Kingdom, Taiwan, or in any 
other location outside the United States, the United Kingdom or Taiwan where the Company or a Subsidiary conducts or (to 
the Grantee's knowledge) plans to conduct business.  Nothing in this Section 6(b) shall, however, restrict the Grantee from 
making an investment in and owning up to one-percent (1%) of the common stock of any company whose stock is listed on 
a national securities exchange or actively traded in an over-the-counter market; provided that such investment does not give 
the Grantee the right or ability to control or influence the policy decisions of any direct competitor of the Company or a 
Subsidiary.

(c)Noninterference.  During the Grantee's employment and until one year after the Grantee ceases being employed by or 
acting as a consultant or independent contractor to the Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not, either directly or 
indirectly through another business or person, solicit, entice away, or otherwise interfere with any employee, customer, 
prospective customer, vendor, prospective vendor, supplier or other similar business relation or (to the Grantee's 
knowledge) prospective business relation of the Company or any Subsidiary.

(d)Nonsolicitation.  During the Grantee's employment and until one year after the Grantee ceases being employed by or 
acting as a consultant or independent contractor to the Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not, either directly or 
indirectly through another business or person, hire, recruit, employ, or attempt to hire, recruit or employ, or facilitate any 
such acts by others, any person then currently employed by the Company or any Subsidiary.

(e)Confidentiality.  The Grantee acknowledges that it is the policy of the Company and its Subsidiaries to maintain as 
secret and confidential all valuable and unique information and techniques acquired, developed or used by the Company 
and its Subsidiaries relating to their businesses, operations, employees and customers (“Confidential Information”).  The 
Grantee recognizes that the Confidential Information is the sole and exclusive property of the Company and its subsidiaries, 
and that disclosure of Confidential Information would cause damage to the Company and its Subsidiaries.  The Grantee 
shall not at any time disclose or authorize anyone else to disclose any Confidential Information or proprietary information 
that (A) is disclosed to or known by the Grantee as a result or as a consequence of or through the Grantee's performance of 
services for the Company or any Subsidiary, (B) is not publicly or generally known outside the Company and (C) relates in 
any manner to the Company's business.  This obligation will continue even though the Grantee's employment with the 
Company or a Subsidiary may have terminated.  This paragraph 6(e) shall apply in addition to, and not in derogation of any 
other confidentiality agreements that may exist, now or in the future, between the Grantee and the Company or any 
Subsidiary.

(f)No Detrimental Communications.  The Grantee agrees not to disclose or cause to be disclosed at any time any untrue, 
negative, adverse or derogatory comments or information about the Company or any Subsidiary, about any product or 
service provided by the Company or any Subsidiary, or about prospects for the future of the Company or any Subsidiary.
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(g)Remedy.  The Grantee acknowledges the consideration provided herein (absent the Grantee's agreement to this Section 
6) is more than the Company is obligated to pay, and the Grantee further acknowledges that irreparable harm would result 
from any breach of this Section and monetary damages would not provide adequate relief or remedy. Accordingly, the 
Grantee specifically agrees that, if the Grantee breaches any of the Grantee's obligations under this Section 6, the 
Company and any Subsidiary shall be entitled to injunctive relief therefor, and in particular, without limiting the generality of 
the foregoing, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary shall be precluded from pursuing any and all remedies they may 
have at law or in equity for breach of such obligations.  In addition, this Award Agreement and all of Grantee's right 
hereunder shall terminate immediately the first date on which the Grantee engages in such activity and the Board shall be 
entitled on or after the first date on which the Grantee engages in such activity to require the Grantee to return any Shares 
obtained by the Grantee's upon vesting of any RSUs to the Company and to require the Grantee to repay any proceeds 
received at any time from the sale of Shares obtained by the Grantee pursuant to the vesting of any RSUs (plus interest on 
such amount from the date received at a rate equal to the prime lending rate as announced from time to time in The Wall 
Street Journal) and to recover all reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses incurred in terminating this Award Agreement 
and recovering such Shares and proceeds.

Section 7.Status of the Grantee

The Grantee shall not be deemed a shareholder of the Company with respect to any of the Shares subject to this Award 
Agreement until such time as the underlying Shares shall have been issued to him or her. The Company shall not be required to 
issue or transfer any Shares pursuant to this Award Agreement until all applicable requirements of law have been complied with and 
such Shares shall have been duly listed on any securities exchange on which the Shares may then be listed.  Grantee (i) is not 
entitled to receive any dividends or dividend equivalents, whether such dividends would be paid in cash or in kind, or receive any 
other distributions made with respect to the RSUs and (ii) does not have nor may he or she exercise any voting rights with respect to 
any of the RSUs, in both cases (i) and (ii) above, unless and until the actual Shares underlying the RSUs have been delivered 
pursuant to this Award Agreement.

Section 8.No Effect on Capital Structure

This Award Agreement shall not affect the right of the Company to reclassify, recapitalize or otherwise change its capital or 
debt structure or to merge, consolidate, convey any or all of its assets, dissolve, liquidate, windup, or otherwise reorganize.

Section 9.Adjustments

Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, in the event of any change in the number of outstanding Shares 
effected without receipt of consideration therefor by the Company, by reason of a merger, reorganization, consolidation, 
recapitalization, separation, liquidation, stock dividend, stock split, share combination or other change in the corporate structure of 
the Company affecting the Shares, the aggregate number and class of Shares subject to this Award Agreement shall be 
automatically adjusted to accurately and equitably reflect the effect thereon of such change; provided, however, that any fractional 
share resulting from such adjustment shall be eliminated. In the event of a dispute concerning such adjustment, the decision of the 
Board shall be conclusive.
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Section 10.Amendments 

This Award Agreement may be amended only by a writing executed by the Company and the Grantee which specifically 
states that it is amending this Award Agreement; provided that this Award Agreement is subject to the power of the Board to amend 
the Plan as provided therein.  Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, no such amendment shall materially adversely affect the 
Grantee's rights under this Award Agreement without the Grantee's consent.

Section 11.Board Authority

Any questions concerning the interpretation of this Award Agreement, any adjustments required to be made under Sections 
9 or 10 of this Award Agreement, and any controversy which arises under this Award Agreement shall be settled by the Board in its 
sole discretion.

Section 12.Withholding

At the time the RSUs are delivered to you pursuant to this Award Agreement, the Company will be obligated to pay 
withholding and social taxes on your behalf.  Accordingly, the Company shall have the power to withhold, or require you to remit to 
the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy any such federal, state, local or foreign withholding tax or social tax requirements.  At 
the Company's discretion, withholding may be taken from other compensation payable to you or may be satisfied by reducing the 
number of RSUs deliverable to you.  If the Company elects to reduce the number of RSUs deliverable to you and less than the full 
value of an RSU is needed to satisfy any applicable withholding taxes, the Company will distribute to you the value of the remaining 
fractional share in cash in an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of a Share as of the Settlement Date multiplied by the remaining 
fractional RSU.  

Section 13.Notice

Whenever any notice is required or permitted hereunder, such notice must be given in writing by (a) personal delivery, or (b) 
expedited, recognized delivery service with proof of delivery, or (c) United States Mail, postage prepaid, certified mail, return receipt 
requested, or (d) telecopy or email (provided that the telecopy or email is confirmed).  Any notice required or permitted to be 
delivered hereunder shall be deemed to be delivered on the date which it was personally delivered, sent to the intended addressee, 
or, whether actually received or not, on the third business day after it is deposited in the United States mail, certified or registered, 
postage prepaid, addressed to the person who is to receive it at the address which such person has theretofore specified by written 
notice delivered in accordance herewith. The Company or the Grantee may change, at any time and from time to time, by written 
notice to the other, the address specified for receiving notices.  Until changed in accordance herewith, the Company's address for 
receiving notices shall be Garmin Ltd., Attention: General Counsel, Mühlentalstrasse 2, 8200 Schaffhausen, Switzerland.  Unless 
changed, the Grantee's address for receiving notices shall be the last known address of the Grantee on the Company's records.  It 
shall be the Grantee's sole responsibility to notify the Company as to any change in his or her address.  Such notification shall be 
made in accordance with this Section 13.
 

Section 14.Severability

If any part of this Award Agreement is declared by any court or governmental authority to be unlawful or invalid, such 
unlawfulness or invalidity shall not serve to invalidate any part of this Award 
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Agreement not declared to be unlawful or invalid.  Any part so declared unlawful or invalid shall, if possible, be construed in a 
manner which gives effect to the terms of such part to the fullest extent possible while remaining lawful and valid.  Additionally, if any 
of the covenants in Section 6 are determined by a court to be unenforceable in whole or in part because of such covenant's duration 
or geographical or other scope, such court shall have the power to modify the duration or scope of such provision as the case may 
be, so as to cause such covenant, as so modified, to be enforceable.

Section 15.Binding Effect

This Award Agreement shall bind, and, except as specifically provided herein, shall inure to the benefit of the respective 
heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto.

Section 16.Governing Law and Jurisdiction

This Award Agreement and the rights of all persons claiming hereunder shall be construed and determined in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Kansas without giving effect to the principles of the Conflict of Laws to the contrary. Except as otherwise 
provided by mandatory forum requirements of the applicable law, the courts of the State of Kansas shall have exclusive jurisdiction 
with regard to any disputes under the Plan. The Company shall retain, however, in addition the right to bring any claim in any other 
appropriate forum.
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EXHIBIT 10.3
 

GARMIN LTD.
2005 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

as amended and restated on October 25, 2024
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

(For Canadian Grantees)
 
To:   _______________________ (“you” or the “Grantee”)

Date of Grant:     _______________________

NOTICE OF GRANT:

You have been granted restricted stock units (“RSUs”) relating to the registered shares, USD $0.10 par value per 
share, of Garmin Ltd. (“Shares”) subject to the terms and conditions of the Garmin Ltd. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and 
restated effective October 25, 2024 (the “Plan”) and the Award Agreement between you and Garmin Ltd. (the “Company”), attached 
as Exhibit A.  Accordingly, provided you satisfy the conditions set forth in this Notice of Grant and Exhibit A, the Company agrees to 
pay you Shares as follows:

Number of RSUs Granted  Dates Payable  
Date Grantee Must Be

Employed To Receive Award
     

__________ Shares  __________, 20__  ______________, 20__

__________ Shares  __________, 20__  ______________, 20__

__________ Shares  __________, 20__  ______________, 20__
 

In order to fully understand your rights under the Plan (a copy of which is attached) and the Award Agreement (the 
“Award Agreement”), attached as Exhibit A, you are encouraged to read the Plan and this document carefully.  Please refer to the 
Plan document for the definition of capitalized terms used in this Agreement.

To properly accept these RSUs, you must click the “Accept” button. Acceptances shall be made electronically 
within ten (10) days of your receipt of this Notice and Award Agreement.  By accepting these RSUs, you are also agreeing to be 
bound by Exhibit A, including the restrictive covenants in Section 6 of Exhibit A.

GARMIN LTD. 

By:                                          
Name:  Clifton A. Pemble                                    
Title:    President and CEO
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EXHIBIT A

AGREEMENT:

In consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained herein and other good and valuable consideration paid by 
the Grantee to the Company, the Grantee and the Company agree as follows:

Section 1.Incorporation of Plan

All provisions of this Award Agreement and the rights of the Grantee hereunder are subject in all respects to the provisions 
of the Plan and the powers of the Board therein provided.  Capitalized terms used in this Award Agreement but not defined shall 
have the meaning set forth in the Plan.  

Section 2.Grant of Restricted Stock Units

As of the Date of Grant identified above, the Company grants to you, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein 
and in the Plan, the opportunity to receive that number of unrestricted Shares identified below the heading “Number of RSUs 
Granted” on the Notice of Grant (the “RSUs”).  Provided you are employed (and at all times since the Date of Grant have been 
employed) by the Company or a Subsidiary and unless your right to receive the RSUs has been forfeited pursuant to Section 3 below, 
then (subject to Section 12 below) you will be paid a number of unrestricted Shares equal to the aggregate number of your remaining 
RSUs on the dates above identified below the heading “Dates Payable” on the Notice of Grant.  If a date under “Dates Payable” is a 
Saturday or Sunday or any other non-business day, then the Shares payable to you on that date will be paid to you on the next 
business day.  

Section 3.Effect of Termination of Affiliation

If you have a Termination of Affiliation for any reason, including termination by the Company with or without Cause (as 
defined below in this Section 3) voluntary resignation, death, or Disability, the effect of such Termination of Affiliation on all or any 
portion of the RSUs is as provided below.   

(a)If you have a Termination of Affiliation on account of death or Disability, your RSUs that were forfeitable immediately before such 
Termination of Affiliation, if any, shall thereupon become nonforfeitable and the Company shall, promptly settle all RSUs by delivery 
to you (or, after your death, to your personal representative or designated beneficiary) a number of unrestricted Shares equal to the 
aggregate number of your remaining RSUs;

(b)If you have a Termination of Affiliation during the period (“Change of Control Period”) commencing on a Change of Control and 
ending on the first anniversary of the Change of Control, which Termination of Affiliation is initiated by the Company or a Subsidiary 
other than for Cause, or initiated by the Grantee for Good Reason, then your RSUs  that were forfeitable shall thereupon become 
nonforfeitable and the Company shall immediately settle all RSUs by delivery to you a number of unrestricted Shares equal to the 
aggregate number of your remaining RSUs;

(c)If you have a Termination of Affiliation for Cause or for any reason other than for, death or Disability, or under the circumstances 
described in immediately above in Section 3(b), your RSUs, to 
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the extent forfeitable immediately before such Termination of Affiliation, shall thereupon automatically be forfeited and you shall have 
no further rights under this Award Agreement; 

(d)Notwithstanding the definition of “Cause” set forth in the Plan, for purposes of this Award Agreement, the term “Cause” means, 
without in any way limiting its definition under common law (which is expressly included in this definition), any improper conduct by 
you which is materially detrimental to the Company or any Subsidiary including, but not limited to:

1.Your conviction of, or a plea of guilty to, any indictable offence or other crime that involves fraud, 
dishonesty or moral turpitude;

2.Any willful action or omission by you which would constitute grounds for immediate dismissal under the 
employment policies of the Company or the Subsidiary by which you are employed, including but not 
limited to intoxication with alcohol or illegal drugs while on the premises on the Company or any 
Subsidiary, or any violation of applicable sexual harassment laws or the internal sexual harassment policy 
of the Company or the Subsidiary by which you are employed;

3.Your habitual neglect of duties, including but not limited to, repeated unauthorized absences from work 
without reasonable excuse; or

4.Your willful or intentional material misconduct in the performance of your duties that results in financial 
detriment to the Company or any Subsidiary.

Section 4.Investment Intent

The Grantee agrees that the Shares acquired pursuant to the vesting of one or more tranches of RSUs shall be acquired for 
his/her own account for investment only and not with a view to, or for resale in connection with, any distribution or public offering 
thereof within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “1933 Act”) or other applicable securities laws. If the Board so 
determines, any share certificates issued pursuant to this Award Agreement shall bear a legend to the effect that the Shares have 
been so acquired.  The Company may, but in no event shall be required to, bear any expenses of complying with the 1933 Act, other 
applicable securities laws or the rules and regulations of any national securities exchange or other regulatory authority in connection 
with the registration, qualification, or transfer, as the case may be, of this Award Agreement or any Shares acquired hereunder. The 
foregoing restrictions on the transfer of the Shares shall be inoperative if (a) the Company previously shall have been furnished with 
an opinion of counsel, satisfactory to it, to the effect that such transfer will not involve any violation of the 1933 Act and other 
applicable securities laws or (b) the Shares shall have been duly registered in compliance with the 1933 Act and other applicable 
state or federal securities laws. If this Award Agreement, or the Shares subject to this Award Agreement, are so registered under the 
1933 Act, the Grantee agrees that he will not make a public offering of the said Shares except on a national securities exchange on 
which the common shares of the Company are then listed.

The Grantee also acknowledges and agrees that the Shares acquired pursuant to the vesting of one or more tranches of 
RSUs will not be able to be transferred or resold in Canada pursuant to the securities legislation of the Provinces and Territories of 
Canada except in accordance with limited 
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exemptions under applicable securities legislation and regulatory policy and compliance with the other requirements of applicable 
law. 

Section 5.Nontransferability of RSUs

No rights under this Award Agreement relating to the RSUs may be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise 
alienated or hypothecated, including, unless specifically approved by the Company, any purported transfer to a current spouse or 
former spouse in connection with a legal separation or divorce proceeding. All rights with respect to the RSUs granted to the Grantee 
shall be available during his or her lifetime only to the Grantee.

Section 6.Restrictive Covenants

As a condition of this Award Agreement, the Grantee's right to the RSUs, and in addition to any restrictive agreements the 
Grantee may have entered into with the Company, the Grantee accepts and agrees to be bound as follows:

(a)Nondisclosure of Award Agreement Terms.  The Grantee agrees not to disclose or cause to be disclosed at any time, nor 
authorize anyone to disclose any information concerning this Award Agreement except (i) as required by law, or (ii) to the Grantee's 
legal and financial advisors who agree to be bound by this Paragraph 6(a).

(b)Noncompetition.  During the Grantee's employment and until one year after the Grantee ceases being employed by or acting as 
a consultant or independent contractor to the Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not, directly or indirectly, own, manage, 
operate or control, or participate in the ownership, management, operation or control of, or be connected with or have any interest in 
(whether as a shareholder, partner, member, director, officer, employee, agent, consultant, or in any other capacity) any company or 
organization with activities, products or services involving:

1.Personal and team activity monitoring systems, including speed, distance and cadence 
monitoring systems, motion analysis systems and associated watch displays and other displays 
and heart rate monitoring systems and associated watch displays and other displays and 
prosthetics monitoring and control systems; or

2.Wireless communications systems and protocols designed for low power applications;

in any province, state or country in which the Company or any Subsidiary conducts business (or, to the knowledge 
of the Grantee any additional location in which the Company or any Subsidiary intends to conduct business).

Nothing in this Section 6(b) shall, however, restrict the Grantee from making an investment in and owning up to 
one-percent (1%) of the common stock of any company whose stock is listed on a national securities exchange or 
actively traded in an over-the-counter market; provided that such investment does not give the Grantee the right or 
ability to control or influence the policy decisions of any direct competitor of the Company or a Subsidiary.
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(c)Noninterference.  During the Grantee's employment and until one year after the Grantee ceases being employed by or acting as 
a consultant or independent contractor to the Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not, either directly or indirectly through 
another business or person, solicit, entice away, or otherwise interfere with any employee, customer, prospective customer, vendor, 
prospective vendor, supplier or other similar business relation or (to the Grantee's knowledge) prospective business relation of the 
Company or any Subsidiary.

(d)Nonsolicitation.  During the Grantee's employment and until one year after the Grantee ceases being employed by or acting as a 
consultant or independent contractor to the Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not, either directly or indirectly through 
another business or person, hire, recruit, employ, or attempt to hire, recruit or employ, or facilitate any such acts by others, any 
person then currently employed by the Company or any Subsidiary.

(e)Confidentiality.  The Grantee acknowledges that it is the policy of the Company and its Subsidiaries to maintain as secret and 
confidential all valuable and unique information and techniques acquired, developed or used by the Company and its subsidiaries 
relating to their businesses, operations, employees and customers (“Confidential Information”).  The Grantee recognizes that the 
Confidential Information is the sole and exclusive property of the Company and its subsidiaries, and that disclosure of Confidential 
Information would cause damage to the Company and its subsidiaries.  The Grantee shall not at any time disclose or authorize 
anyone else to disclose any Confidential Information or proprietary information that (A) is disclosed to or known by the Grantee as a 
result or as a consequence of or through the Grantee's performance of services for the Company or any Subsidiary, (B) is not 
publicly or generally known outside the Company and (C) relates in any manner to the Company's business.  This obligation will 
continue even though the Grantee's employment with the Company or a Subsidiary may have terminated.  This paragraph 6(e) shall 
apply in addition to, and not in derogation of any other confidentiality agreements that may exist, now or in the future, between the 
Grantee and the Company or any Subsidiary.

(f)No Detrimental Communications.  The Grantee agrees not to disclose or cause to be disclosed at any time any untrue, 
negative, adverse or derogatory comments or information about the Company or any Subsidiary, about any product or service 
provided by the Company or any Subsidiary, or about prospects for the future of the Company or any Subsidiary.

(g)Remedy.  The Grantee acknowledges the consideration provided herein (absent the Grantee's agreement to this Section 6) is 
more than the Company is obligated to pay, and the Grantee further acknowledges that irreparable harm would result from any 
breach of this Section and monetary damages would not provide adequate relief or remedy. Accordingly, the Grantee specifically 
agrees that, if the Grantee breaches any of the Grantee's obligations under this Section 6, the Company and any Subsidiary shall be 
entitled to injunctive relief therefor, and in particular, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, neither the Company nor any 
Subsidiary shall be precluded from pursuing any and all remedies they may have at law or in equity for breach of such obligations.  
In addition, this Award Agreement and all of Grantee's right hereunder shall terminate immediately the first date on which the 
Grantee engages in such activity and the Board shall be entitled on or after the first date on which the Grantee engages in such 
activity to require the Grantee to return any Shares obtained by the Grantee's upon vesting of any RSUs to the Company and to 
require the Grantee to repay any proceeds received at any time from the sale of Shares obtained by the Grantee pursuant to the 
vesting of any RSUs (plus interest on such amount from the date received at a rate equal to the prime lending rate as announced 
from time to time in The Wall Street Journal) and to recover all reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses incurred in terminating this 
Award Agreement and recovering such Shares and proceeds.
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Section 7.Status of the Grantee

The Grantee shall not be deemed a shareholder of the Company with respect to any of the Shares subject to this Award 
Agreement until such time as the underlying Shares shall have been issued to him or her. The Company shall not be required to 
issue or transfer any certificates for Shares pursuant to this Award Agreement until all applicable requirements of law have been 
complied with and such Shares shall have been duly listed on any securities exchange on which the Shares may then be listed.  
Grantee (i) is not entitled to receive any dividends or dividend equivalents, whether such dividends would be paid in cash or in kind, 
or receive any other distributions made with respect to the RSUs and (ii) does not have nor may he or she exercise any voting rights 
with respect to any of the RSUs, in both cases (i) and (ii) above, unless and until the actual Shares underlying the RSUs have been 
delivered pursuant to this Award Agreement.

Section 8.No Effect on Capital Structure

This Award Agreement shall not affect the right of the Company to reclassify, recapitalize or otherwise change its capital or 
debt structure or to merge, consolidate, convey any or all of its assets, dissolve, liquidate, windup, or otherwise reorganize.

Section 9.Adjustments

Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, in the event of any change in the number of outstanding Shares 
effected without receipt of consideration therefor by the Company, by reason of a merger, reorganization, consolidation, 
recapitalization, separation, liquidation, stock dividend, stock split, share combination or other change in the corporate structure of 
the Company affecting the Shares, the aggregate number and class of Shares subject to this Award Agreement shall be 
automatically adjusted to accurately and equitably reflect the effect thereon of such change; provided, however, that any fractional 
share resulting from such adjustment shall be eliminated. In the event of a dispute concerning such adjustment, the decision of the 
Board shall be conclusive.

Section 10.Amendments 

This Award Agreement may be amended only by a writing executed by the Company and the Grantee which specifically 
states that it is amending this Award Agreement; provided that this Award Agreement is subject to the power of the Board to amend 
the Plan as provided therein.  Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, no such amendment shall materially adversely affect the 
Grantee's rights under this Award Agreement without the Grantee's consent.

Section 11.Board Authority

Any questions concerning the interpretation of this Award Agreement, any adjustments required to be made under Sections 
9 or 10 of this Award Agreement, and any controversy which arises under this Award Agreement shall be settled by the Board in its 
sole discretion.

Section 12.Withholding

Notwithstanding Article 14 of the Plan, this Section 12 will apply to the Company's withholding obligations related to this 
Award Agreement.  At the time the RSUs are delivered to you pursuant to this Award Agreement, the Company will be obligated to 
pay withholding taxes on your 
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behalf.  Accordingly, and at the Company's discretion, such Federal, Provincial, local or foreign withholding tax requirements may be 
satisfied by you providing specific written authorization to deduct, from any earnings owed or accruing to you, the appropriate sum of 
money required for such withholding or remittance or, at the Company's discretion, such withholdings may be satisfied by reducing 
the number of RSUs delivered to you.  In the event of your neglect or refusal to provide the Company with your personal 
authorization in writing to deduct the appropriate withholdings from your earnings, the Company shall have no obligation to deliver 
the relevant RSUs to you.  If the Company reduces the number of RSUs deliverable to you and less than the full value of an RSU is 
needed to satisfy any applicable withholding taxes, the Company will distribute to you the value of the remaining fractional share in 
cash in an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of a Share as of the Settlement Date multiplied by the remaining fractional RSU.  

Section 13.Notice

Whenever any notice is required or permitted hereunder, such notice must be given in writing by (a) personal delivery, or (b) 
expedited, recognized delivery service with proof of delivery, or (c) United States Mail, postage prepaid, certified mail, return receipt 
requested, or (d) telecopy or email (provided that the telecopy or email is confirmed).  Any notice required or permitted to be 
delivered hereunder shall be deemed to be delivered on the date which it was personally delivered, sent to the intended addressee, 
or, whether actually received or not, on the third business day after it is deposited in the United States mail, certified or registered, 
postage prepaid, addressed to the person who is to receive it at the address which such person has theretofore specified by written 
notice delivered in accordance herewith. The Company or the Grantee may change, at any time and from time to time, by written 
notice to the other, the address specified for receiving notices.  Until changed in accordance herewith, the Company's address for 
receiving notices shall be Garmin Ltd., Attention: General Counsel, Mühlentalstrasse 2, 8200 Schaffhausen, Switzerland.  Unless 
changed, the Grantee's address for receiving notices shall be the last known address of the Grantee on the Company's records.  It 
shall be the Grantee's sole responsibility to notify the Company as to any change in his or her address.  Such notification shall be 
made in accordance with this Section 13.
 
Section 14.Severability

If any part of this Award Agreement is declared by any court or governmental authority to be unlawful or invalid, such 
unlawfulness or invalidity shall not serve to invalidate any part of this Award Agreement not declared to be unlawful or invalid.  Any 
part so declared unlawful or invalid shall, if possible, be construed in a manner which gives effect to the terms of such part to the 
fullest extent possible while remaining lawful and valid.  Additionally, if any of the covenants in Section 6 are determined by a court to 
be unenforceable in whole or in part because of such covenant's duration or geographical or other scope, such court shall have the 
power to modify the duration or scope of such provision as the case may be, so as to cause such covenant, as so modified, to be 
enforceable.

Section 15.Binding Effect

This Award Agreement shall bind, and, except as specifically provided herein, shall inure to the benefit of the respective 
heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto.
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Section 16.Governing Law

This Award Agreement and the rights of all persons claiming hereunder shall be construed and determined in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Kansas without giving effect to the principles of the Conflict of Laws to the contrary.
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EXHIBIT 10.4

GARMIN LTD.
2005 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

as amended and restated on October 25, 2024
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

 

To: _______________________ (“you” or the “Grantee”)

Date of Grant:   _______________________

NOTICE OF GRANT:

You have been granted restricted stock units (“RSUs”) relating to the shares, USD $0.10 par value per share, of 
Garmin Ltd. (“Shares”), subject to the terms and conditions of the Garmin Ltd. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated 
on October 25, 2024 (the “Plan”) and the Award Agreement between you and Garmin Ltd. (the “Company”), attached as Exhibit A.  
Accordingly, provided you satisfy the conditions set forth in this Notice of Grant and Exhibit A, the Company agrees to pay you 
Shares as follows:

Number of RSUs Granted  Dates Payable  
Date Grantee Must Be

Employed To Receive Award
     

__________ Shares  __________, 20__  ______________, 20__

__________ Shares  __________, 20__  ______________, 20__

__________ Shares  __________, 20__  ______________, 20__
 

In order to fully understand your rights under the Plan (a copy of which is attached) and the Award Agreement (the 
“Award Agreement”), attached as Exhibit A, you are encouraged to read the Plan and this document carefully.  Please refer to the 
Plan document for the definition of capitalized terms used in this Agreement.

By accepting these RSUs, you are also agreeing to be bound by Exhibit A, including the restrictive 
covenants in Section 6 of Exhibit A.

 
GARMIN LTD. 

 
By:                
Name:  Clifton A. Pemble                                    
Title:    President and CEO
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EXHIBIT A

AGREEMENT:

In consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained herein and other good and valuable consideration paid by 
the Grantee to the Company, the Grantee and the Company agree as follows:

Section 1.Incorporation of Plan

All provisions of this Award Agreement and the rights of the Grantee hereunder are subject in all respects to the provisions 
of the Plan and the powers of the Board therein provided.  Capitalized terms used in this Award Agreement but not defined shall 
have the meaning set forth in the Plan. 

Section 2.Grant of RSUs

As of the Date of Grant identified above, the Company grants to you, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein 
and in the Plan, the opportunity to receive that number of unrestricted Shares identified below the heading “Number of RSUs 
Granted” on the Notice of Grant (the “RSUs”).  Provided you are employed (and at all times since the Date of Grant have been 
employed) by the Company or a Subsidiary and unless your right to receive the RSUs has been forfeited pursuant to Section 3 below, 
then (subject to Section 12 below) you will be paid a number of unrestricted Shares equal to the aggregate number of your remaining 
RSUs on the dates above identified below the heading “Dates Payable” on the Notice of Grant.  If a date under “Dates Payable” is a 
Saturday or Sunday or any other non-business day, then you will be paid the Shares payable on that date on the next business day. 

Section 3.Effect of Termination of Affiliation

If you have a Termination of Affiliation for any reason, including termination by the Company with or without Cause, 
voluntary resignation, death, or Disability, the effect of such Termination of Affiliation on all or any portion of the RSUs is as provided 
below.   

(a)If you have a Termination of Affiliation on account of death or Disability, your RSUs that were forfeitable immediately 
before such Termination of Affiliation, if any, shall thereupon become nonforfeitable and the Company shall, promptly settle 
all RSUs by delivery to you (or, after your death, to your personal representative or designated beneficiary) a number of 
unrestricted Shares equal to the aggregate number of your remaining RSUs;

(b)If you have a Termination of Affiliation during the period (“Change of Control Period”) commencing on a Change of 
Control and ending on the first anniversary of the Change of Control, which Termination of Affiliation is initiated by the 
Company or a Subsidiary other than for Cause, or initiated by the Grantee for Good Reason, then your RSUs that were 
forfeitable shall thereupon become nonforfeitable and the Company shall immediately settle all RSUs by delivery to you a 
number of unrestricted Shares equal to the aggregate number of your remaining RSUs;
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(c)If you have a Termination of Affiliation for Cause or for any reason other than for, death or Disability, or under the 
circumstances described in immediately above in Section 3(b), your RSUs, to the extent forfeitable immediately before such 
Termination of Affiliation, shall thereupon automatically be forfeited and you shall have no further rights under this Award 
Agreement. 

Section 4.Investment Intent

The Grantee agrees that the Shares acquired pursuant to the vesting of one or more tranches of RSUs shall be acquired for 
his/her own account for investment only and not with a view to, or for resale in connection with, any distribution or public offering 
thereof within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “1933 Act”) or other applicable securities laws. The Company may, but 
in no event shall be required to, bear any expenses of complying with the 1933 Act, other applicable securities laws or the rules and 
regulations of any national securities exchange or other regulatory authority in connection with the registration, qualification, or 
transfer, as the case may be, of this Award Agreement or any Shares acquired hereunder. The foregoing restrictions on the transfer 
of the Shares shall be inoperative if (a) the Company previously shall have been furnished with an opinion of counsel, satisfactory to 
it, to the effect that such transfer will not involve any violation of the 1933 Act and other applicable securities laws or (b) the Shares 
shall have been duly registered in compliance with the 1933 Act and other applicable state or federal securities laws. If this Award 
Agreement, or the Shares subject to this Award Agreement, are so registered under the 1933 Act, the Grantee agrees that he will not 
make a public offering of the said Shares except on a national securities exchange on which the shares of the Company are then 
listed.

Section 5.Nontransferability of RSUs

No rights under this Award Agreement relating to the RSUs may be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise 
alienated or hypothecated, including, unless specifically approved by the Company, any purported transfer to a current spouse or 
former spouse in connection with a legal separation or divorce proceeding. All rights with respect to the RSUs granted to the Grantee 
shall be available during his or her lifetime only to the Grantee.

Section 6.Restrictive Covenants

In consideration of the RSUs granted to the Grantee under this Award Agreement and in addition to any other restrictive 
agreements the Grantee may have entered into with the Company, the Grantee accepts and agrees to be bound by the restrictive 
covenants set forth below in this Section 6, and acknowledges that these restrictive covenants are fair and reasonable in light of the 
Company’s legitimate business interest in protecting the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ trade secrets, other commercially sensitive 
business information, and their customer, employee, and other business relationships. The Grantee hereby agrees to the following 
restrictive covenants:

(a)Noncompetition.  During the Grantee's employment and until one year after the Grantee ceases being employed by or 
acting as a consultant or independent contractor to the Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not perform executive, 
managerial, professional, engineering, technical, business development, supply chain or sales services in the United States 
as an employee, director, officer, consultant, independent contractor or advisor, or invest in, whether in the form of equity or 
debt, or otherwise have an ownership interest in any company, entity or person that competes with the 
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Company in any of its operating segments. The Grantee expressly acknowledges that the Company and its United States 
Subsidiaries have a nationwide business and customer base in each of its operating segments. The Grantee expressly 
acknowledges and agrees that a nationwide restriction is reasonable under the circumstances and necessary in order to 
protect the legitimate business interests of the Company and its United States Subsidiaries.   Nothing in this Section 6(a) 
shall, however, restrict the Grantee from making an investment in and owning up to one-percent (1%) of the common stock 
of any company whose stock is listed on a national securities exchange or actively traded in an over-the-counter market; 
provided that such investment does not give the Grantee the right or ability to control or influence the policy decisions of any 
competitor of the Company or a Subsidiary. 

(b)Non-Solicitation of Customers, Suppliers, Business Partners and Vendors.  During the Grantee's employment and 
until one year after the Grantee ceases being employed by the Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not, either 
directly or indirectly through another business or person, solicit, or assist others in soliciting or attempting to solicit any 
customer, prospective customer, vendor, prospective vendor, supplier or business partner of the Company or Subsidiary 
with whom the Grantee had contact with during the last two years of Grantee’s employment..

(c)Nonsolicitation of Employees.  During the Grantee's employment and until one year after the Grantee ceases being 
employed by or acting as a consultant or independent contractor to the Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not, 
either directly or indirectly through another business or person, solicit, hire, recruit, employ, or attempt to solicit, hire, recruit 
or employ, or facilitate any such acts by others, any person then currently employed by the Company or any Subsidiary.

(d)No Application in Certain States or Jurisdictions. Sections 6(a), 6(b) and 6(c) do not apply to employment in 
California, Oklahoma or Minnesota or in any other state or jurisdiction where such provisions are prohibited by law.

(e)Confidentiality.  The Grantee acknowledges that it is the policy of the Company and its subsidiaries to maintain as 
secret and confidential all valuable and unique information and techniques acquired, developed or used by the Company 
and its Subsidiaries relating to their businesses, operations, employees and customers (“Confidential Information”).  The 
Grantee recognizes that the Confidential Information is the sole and exclusive property of the Company and its subsidiaries, 
and that disclosure of Confidential Information would cause damage to the Company and its Subsidiaries.  The Grantee 
shall not at any time disclose or authorize anyone else to disclose any Confidential Information or proprietary information 
that (A) is disclosed to or known by the Grantee as a result or as a consequence of or through the Grantee's performance of 
services for the Company or any Subsidiary, (B) is not publicly or generally known outside the Company and (C) relates in 
any manner to the Company's business.  This obligation will continue even though the Grantee's employment with the 
Company or a Subsidiary may have terminated.  This paragraph 6(e) shall apply in addition to, and not in derogation of any 
other confidentiality agreements that may exist, now or in the future, between the Grantee and the Company or any 
Subsidiary.
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(f)Remedies.  The Grantee acknowledges that irreparable harm would result from any breach of this Section and that 
monetary damages alone would not provide adequate relief or remedy. Accordingly, the Grantee specifically agrees that, if 
the Grantee breaches any of the Grantee's obligations under this Section 6, the Company and any Subsidiary shall be 
entitled to injunctive relief.   Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary shall be 
precluded from pursuing any and all remedies they may have at law or in equity for any breach of Grantee’s restrictive 
covenants in this Section 6.  

Section 7.Status of the Grantee

The Grantee shall not be deemed a shareholder of the Company with respect to any of the Shares subject to this Award 
Agreement until such time as the underlying Shares shall have been issued to him or her. The Company shall not be required to 
issue or transfer any Shares pursuant to this Award Agreement until all applicable requirements of law have been complied with and 
such Shares shall have been duly listed on any securities exchange on which the Shares may then be listed.  Grantee (i) is not 
entitled to receive any dividends or dividend equivalents, whether such dividends would be paid in cash or in kind, or receive any 
other distributions made with respect to the RSUs and (ii) does not have nor may he or she exercise any voting rights with respect to 
any of the RSUs, in both cases (i) and (ii) above, unless and until the actual Shares underlying the RSUs have been delivered 
pursuant to this Award Agreement.

Section 8.No Effect on Capital Structure

This Award Agreement shall not affect the right of the Company to reclassify, recapitalize or otherwise change its capital or 
debt structure or to merge, consolidate, convey any or all of its assets, dissolve, liquidate, windup, or otherwise reorganize.

Section 9.Adjustments

Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, in the event of any change in the number of outstanding Shares 
effected without receipt of consideration therefor by the Company, by reason of a merger, reorganization, consolidation, 
recapitalization, separation, liquidation, stock dividend, stock split, share combination or other change in the corporate structure of 
the Company affecting the Shares, the aggregate number and class of Shares subject to this Award Agreement shall be 
automatically adjusted to accurately and equitably reflect the effect thereon of such change; provided, however, that any fractional 
share resulting from such adjustment shall be eliminated. In the event of a dispute concerning such adjustment, the decision of the 
Board shall be conclusive.

Section 10.Amendments 

This Award Agreement may be amended only by a writing executed by the Company and the Grantee which specifically 
states that it is amending this Award Agreement; provided that this Award Agreement is subject to the power of the Board to amend 
the Plan as provided therein.  Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, no such amendment shall materially adversely affect the 
Grantee's rights under this Award Agreement without the Grantee's consent.
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Section 11.Board Authority

Any questions concerning the interpretation of this Award Agreement, any adjustments required to be made under Sections 
9 or 10 of this Award Agreement, and any controversy which arises under this Award Agreement shall be settled by the Board in its 
sole discretion.

Section 12.Withholding

At the time the RSUs are delivered to you pursuant to this Award Agreement, the Company will be obligated to pay 
withholding and social taxes on your behalf.  Accordingly, the Company shall have the power to withhold, or require you to remit to 
the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy any such federal, state, local or foreign withholding tax or social tax requirements.  At 
the Company's discretion, withholding may be taken from other compensation payable to you or may be satisfied by reducing the 
number of RSUs deliverable to you.  If the Company elects to reduce the number of RSUs deliverable to you and less than the full 
value of an RSU is needed to satisfy any applicable withholding taxes, the Company will distribute to you the value of the remaining 
fractional share in cash in an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of a Share as of the Settlement Date multiplied by the remaining 
fractional RSU.  

Section 13.Notice

Whenever any notice is required or permitted hereunder, such notice must be given in writing by (a) personal delivery, or (b) 
expedited, recognized delivery service with proof of delivery, or (c) United States Mail, postage prepaid, certified mail, return receipt 
requested, or (d) telecopy or email (provided that the telecopy or email is confirmed).  Any notice required or permitted to be 
delivered hereunder shall be deemed to be delivered on the date which it was personally delivered, sent to the intended addressee, 
or, whether actually received or not, on the third business day after it is deposited in the United States mail, certified or registered, 
postage prepaid, addressed to the person who is to receive it at the address which such person has theretofore specified by written 
notice delivered in accordance herewith. The Company or the Grantee may change, at any time and from time to time, by written 
notice to the other, the address specified for receiving notices.  Until changed in accordance herewith, the Company's address for 
receiving notices shall be Garmin Ltd., Attention: General Counsel, Mühlentalstrasse 2, 8200 Schaffhausen, Switzerland.  Unless 
changed, the Grantee's address for receiving notices shall be the last known address of the Grantee on the Company's records.  It 
shall be the Grantee's sole responsibility to notify the Company as to any change in his or her address.  Such notification shall be 
made in accordance with this Section 13.
 

Section 14.Severability

If any part of this Award Agreement is declared by any court or governmental authority to be unlawful or invalid, such 
unlawfulness or invalidity shall not serve to invalidate any part of this Award Agreement not declared to be unlawful or invalid.  Any 
part so declared unlawful or invalid shall, if possible, be construed in a manner which gives effect to the terms of such part to the 
fullest extent possible while remaining lawful and valid.  Additionally, if any of the covenants in Section 6 are determined by a court to 
be unenforceable in whole or in part because of such covenant's duration or geographical or other scope, such court shall modify the 
duration or scope of such provision as the case may be, so as to cause such covenant, as so modified, to be enforceable.
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Section 15.Binding Effect

This Award Agreement shall bind, and, except as specifically provided herein, shall inure to the benefit of the respective 
heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto.

Section 16.Governing Law and Jurisdiction

This Award Agreement and the rights of all persons claiming hereunder shall be construed and determined in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Kansas without giving effect to the principles of the Conflict of Laws to the contrary. Except as otherwise 
provided by mandatory forum requirements of the applicable law, the courts of the State of Kansas shall have exclusive jurisdiction 
with regard to any disputes under the Plan. The Company shall retain, however, in addition the right to bring any claim in any other 
appropriate forum.
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EXHIBIT 10.5
GARMIN LTD.

2005 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
as amended and restated on October 25, 2024

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

(Performance-Based and Time-Based Vesting)
(For Executive Officers)

 
 
To:      _______________________ (“you” or the “Grantee”)

Date of Grant:      _______________________

Performance Year:    _______________________

Total Shares Subject to RSUs:   _______________________ (the “Eligible Shares”)
 

NOTICE OF GRANT:

You have been granted restricted stock units (“RSUs”) relating to the shares, USD $0.10 par value per share, of Garmin 
Ltd. (“Shares”), subject to the terms and conditions of the Garmin Ltd. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated on 
October 25, 2024 (the “Plan”) and the Award Agreement between you and Garmin Ltd. (the “Company”), attached as Exhibit A.  
Accordingly, based on the satisfaction of the applicable performance-based and time-based vesting conditions set forth in this Notice 
of Grant, Exhibit A and Exhibit B, the Company agrees to pay you Shares as follows:

•The number of Shares that may be issued under this Agreement is a percentage (ranging from 0% to 100% or higher, as set 
forth in Exhibit B) of the Eligible Shares.  The percentage of the Eligible Shares eligible to be issued, if any (the “Earned 
Shares”), is based on the satisfaction of one or more of the preestablished performance goals (the “Performance Goals”) for the 
Company’s fiscal year listed above opposite the heading “Performance Year” and the applicable weighting percentage of each 
such goal. The performance goals and applicable weighting percentages for each goal are set forth and described in Exhibit B to 
this Agreement.  

•At a meeting of the Company's Compensation Committee following the end of the Performance Year (the “Certification Date”), 
the Company's Compensation Committee will assess the achieved level of performance and certify the goal(s) achievement. 

•Any Earned Shares will be issued in three equal installments commencing within 30 days of the Certification Date and each 
anniversary thereof, provided you are employed with the Company on each such date.  

In order to fully understand your rights under the Plan (a copy of which is attached) and the Award Agreement (the “Award 
Agreement”), attached as Exhibit A, you are encouraged to read the Plan and this document carefully.  Please refer to the Plan 
document for the definition of otherwise undefined capitalized terms used in this Agreement.
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By accepting these RSUs, you are also agreeing to be bound by Exhibits A and B, including the restrictive 
covenants in Section 7 of Exhibit A.

GARMIN LTD. 
 

By:                                                     
Name:  Clifton A. Pemble                                    
Title:    President and CEO
 
Grantee:__________________________
 
Date:______________________
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EXHIBIT A

AGREEMENT:

In consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained herein and other good and valuable consideration paid by 
the Grantee to the Company, the Grantee and the Company agree as follows:

Section 1.Incorporation of Plan

All provisions of this Award Agreement and the rights of the Grantee hereunder are subject in all respects to the provisions 
of the Plan and the powers of the Board therein provided.  Capitalized terms used in this Award Agreement but not defined shall 
have the meaning set forth in the Plan. 

Section 2.Grant of RSUs

(a)Calculation of Earned Shares.  As of the Date of Grant identified above, the Company grants to you, subject to the terms 
and conditions set forth herein and in the Plan, the opportunity to receive the product of (i) the Eligible Shares and (ii) the 
“Aggregate Vesting Percentage” as calculated under Section 3, such product the “Earned Shares”.  If the application of this 
Section 2(a) results in a fractional Earned Share, the number of Earned Shares shall be rounded up to the nearest whole 
Share. 

(b)Vesting and Delivery of Earned Shares.  Provided you are employed (and at all times since the Date of Grant have been 
employed) by the Company or a Subsidiary and unless your right to receive the Earned Shares has been forfeited pursuant 
to Sections 3 or 4 below, then (subject to Section 13 below) you will be paid one-third (1/3) of the Earned Shares within 30 
days of the Certification Date (as defined on the Notice of Grant), one-third (1/3) of the Earned Shares on the first 
anniversary of the Certification Date and one-third of the Earned Shares on the second anniversary of the Certification Date.  
If any of the first or second anniversaries of the Certification Date is a Saturday or Sunday or any other non-business day, 
then you will be paid the Earned Shares payable on that date on the next business day.    

Section 3.Calculation of Aggregate Vesting Percentage; Forfeiture of Unearned Shares

The “Aggregate Vesting Percentage” is the total of the individual vesting percentages for each of the achieved Performance 
Goals for the Performance Year as set forth on Exhibit B.    All Eligible Shares, if any, which, due to the Aggregate Vesting 
Percentage being less than 100% do not become Earned Shares, shall be immediately forfeited as of the Certification Date. 

Section 4.Effect of Termination of Affiliation

If you have a Termination of Affiliation for any reason, including termination by the Company with or without Cause, 
voluntary resignation, death, or Disability, the effect of such Termination of Affiliation on all or any portion of the RSUs is as provided 
below.   
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(a)If you have a Termination of Affiliation on account of death or Disability after the Certification Date, any Earned Shares 
that were forfeitable immediately before such Termination of Affiliation shall thereupon become nonforfeitable and the 
Company shall, promptly settle all such Earned Shares by delivery to you (or, after your death, to your personal 
representative or designated beneficiary) a number of unrestricted Shares equal to the aggregate number of your remaining 
Earned Shares;

(b)If you have a Termination of Affiliation on account of death or Disability before the Certification Date, within 30 days 
following the Certification Date the Company shall settle that number of your Eligible Shares which would have become 
Earned Shares as of the Certification Date but for your death or Disability;

(c)If you have a Termination of Affiliation after the Certification Date and during the period (“Change of Control Period”) 
commencing on a Change of Control and ending on the first anniversary of the Change of Control, which Termination of 
Affiliation is initiated by the Company or a Subsidiary other than for Cause, or initiated by the Grantee for Good Reason, 
then any Earned Shares that were forfeitable at the time of such Termination of Affiliation shall thereupon become 
nonforfeitable and the Company shall immediately settle all Earned Shares by delivery to you of a number of unrestricted 
Shares equal to the aggregate number of your remaining Earned Shares; 

(d)If you have a Termination of Affiliation before the Certification Date and during the Change of Control Period, which 
Termination of Affiliation is initiated by the Company or a Subsidiary other than for Cause, or initiated by the Grantee for 
Good Reason, then all of your Eligible Shares that would have become Earned Shares as of the Certification Date but for 
such Termination of Affiliation shall thereupon become Earned Shares and nonforfeitable and the Company shall within 30 
days of the Certification Date settle all such Earned Shares by delivery to you a number of unrestricted Shares equal to the 
aggregate number of your Earned Shares;

(e)If you have a Termination of Affiliation for Cause or for any reason other than for (i) death or Disability or (ii) under the 
circumstances described above in Section 4(c) or (d), then your Eligible Shares (to the extent such Termination of Affiliation 
occurs before the Certification Date) or your Earned Shares (to the extent such Termination of Affiliation occurs after the 
Certification Date), to the extent forfeitable immediately before such Termination of Affiliation, shall thereupon automatically 
be forfeited and you shall have no further rights under this Award Agreement. 

Section 5.Investment Intent

The Grantee agrees that the Shares acquired pursuant to the vesting of one or more tranches of Earned Shares 
shall be acquired for his/her own account for investment only and not with a view to, or for resale in connection with, any 
distribution or public offering thereof within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “1933 Act”) or other applicable 
securities laws. The Company may, but in no event shall be required to, bear any expenses of complying with the 1933 Act, 
other applicable securities laws or the rules and regulations of any national securities exchange or other regulatory authority 
in connection with the registration, qualification, or transfer, as the case may be, of this Award Agreement or any Shares 
acquired hereunder. The 
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foregoing restrictions on the transfer of the Shares shall be inoperative if (a) the Company previously shall have been 
furnished with an opinion of counsel, satisfactory to it, to the effect that such transfer will not involve any violation of the 
1933 Act and other applicable securities laws or (b) the Shares shall have been duly registered in compliance with the 1933 
Act and other applicable state or federal securities laws. If this Award Agreement, or the Shares subject to this Award 
Agreement, are so registered under the 1933 Act, the Grantee agrees that he will not make a public offering of the said 
Shares except on a national securities exchange on which the shares of the Company are then listed.

Section 6.Nontransferability of RSUs, Eligible Shares and Earned Shares

No rights under this Award Agreement relating to the RSUs or any undelivered Eligible Shares or Earned Shares may be 
sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, including, unless specifically approved by the 
Company, any purported transfer to a current spouse or former spouse in connection with a legal separation or divorce proceeding. 
All rights with respect to the RSUs or any undelivered Eligible Shares or Earned Shares granted to the Grantee shall be available 
during his or her lifetime only to the Grantee.

Section 7.Restrictive Covenants

In consideration of the RSUs granted to the Grantee under this Award Agreement and in and in addition to any 
restrictive agreements the Grantee may have entered into with the Company, the Grantee accepts and agrees to be bound 
by the restrictive covenants set forth below in this Section 7, and acknowledges that these restrictive covenants are fair and 
reasonable in light of the Company’s legitimate business interest in protecting the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ trade 
secrets, other commercially sensitive business information, and their customer, employee, and other business relationships. 
The Grantee hereby agrees to the following restrictive covenants:

(a)Noncompetition.  During the Grantee's employment and until one year after the Grantee ceases being employed by or 
acting as a consultant or independent contractor to the Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not perform executive, 
managerial, professional, engineering, technical, business development, supply chain or sales services worldwide as an 
employee, director, officer, consultant, independent contractor or advisor, or invest in, whether in the form of equity or debt, 
or otherwise have an ownership interest in any company, entity or person that directly competes with the Company in any of 
its operating segments.  The Grantee expressly acknowledges that the Company and its Subsidiaries have a worldwide 
business and customer base in each of its operating segments. The Grantee expressly acknowledges and agrees that a 
worldwide restriction is reasonable under the circumstances and necessary in order to protect the legitimate business 
interests of the Company and its Subsidiaries.  Nothing in this Section 7(a) shall, however, restrict the Grantee from making 
an investment in and owning up to one-percent (1%) of the common stock of any company whose stock is listed on a 
national securities exchange or actively traded in an over-the-counter market; provided that such investment does not give 
the Grantee the right or ability to control or influence the policy decisions of any direct competitor of the Company or a 
Subsidiary.
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(b)Nonsolicitation of Customers, Suppliers, Business Partners and Vendors.  During the Grantee's employment and 
until one year after the Grantee ceases being employed by or acting as a consultant or independent contractor to the 
Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not, either directly or indirectly through another business or person, solicit or 
assist others in soliciting or attempt to solicit any customer, prospective customer, vendor, prospective vendor, supplier or 
other similar business relation or (to the Grantee's knowledge) prospective business relation of the Company or any 
Subsidiary with whom the Grantee had contact with during the last two years of the Grantee’s employment.

(c)Nonsolicitation of Employees.  During the Grantee's employment and until one year after the Grantee ceases being 
employed by or acting as a consultant or independent contractor to the Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not, 
either directly or indirectly through another business or person, solicit, hire, recruit, employ, or attempt to solicit, hire, recruit 
or employ, or facilitate any such acts by others, any person then currently employed by the Company or any Subsidiary.

(d)No Application in Certain States or Jurisdictions. Sections 7(a), 7(b) and 7(c) do not apply to employment in 
California, Oklahoma or Minnesota or in any other state or jurisdiction where such provisions are prohibited by law.

(e)Confidentiality.  The Grantee acknowledges that it is the policy of the Company and its Subsidiaries to maintain as 
secret and confidential all valuable and unique information and techniques acquired, developed or used by the Company 
and its Subsidiaries relating to their businesses, operations, employees and customers (“Confidential Information”).  The 
Grantee recognizes that the Confidential Information is the sole and exclusive property of the Company and its subsidiaries, 
and that disclosure of Confidential Information would cause damage to the Company and its Subsidiaries.  The Grantee 
shall not at any time disclose or authorize anyone else to disclose any Confidential Information or proprietary information 
that (A) is disclosed to or known by the Grantee as a result or as a consequence of or through the Grantee's performance of 
services for the Company or any Subsidiary, (B) is not publicly or generally known outside the Company and (C) relates in 
any manner to the Company's business.  This obligation will continue even though the Grantee's employment with the 
Company or a Subsidiary may have terminated.  This paragraph 7(e) shall apply in addition to, and not in derogation of any 
other confidentiality agreements that may exist, now or in the future, between the Grantee and the Company or any 
Subsidiary.

(f)Remedy.  The Grantee acknowledges that irreparable harm would result from any breach of this Section and that 
monetary damages alone would not provide adequate relief or remedy. Accordingly, the Grantee specifically agrees that, if 
the Grantee breaches any of the Grantee's obligations under this Section 7, the Company and any Subsidiary shall be 
entitled to injunctive relief. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary shall be 
precluded from pursuing any remedies they may have at law or in equity for any breach of Grantee’s restrictive covenants in 
this Section 7. 
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Section 8.Status of the Grantee

The Grantee shall not be deemed a shareholder of the Company with respect to any of the Shares subject to this Award 
Agreement until such time as the underlying Shares shall have been issued to him or her. The Company shall not be required to 
issue or transfer any Shares pursuant to this Award Agreement until all applicable requirements of law have been complied with and 
such Shares shall have been duly listed on any securities exchange on which the Shares may then be listed.  Grantee (i) is not 
entitled to receive any dividends or dividend equivalents, whether such dividends would be paid in cash or in kind, or receive any 
other distributions made with respect to the RSUs or any undelivered Eligible Shares or Earned Shares, and (ii) does not have nor 
may he or she exercise any voting rights with respect to any of the RSUs or any undelivered Eligible Shares or Earned Shares, in 
both cases (i) and (ii) above, unless and until the actual Shares underlying any Earned Shares have been delivered pursuant to this 
Award Agreement.

Section 9.No Effect on Capital Structure

This Award Agreement shall not affect the right of the Company to reclassify, recapitalize or otherwise change its capital or 
debt structure or to merge, consolidate, convey any or all of its assets, dissolve, liquidate, windup, or otherwise reorganize.

Section 10.Adjustments

Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, in the event of any change in the number of outstanding Shares 
effected without receipt of consideration therefor by the Company, by reason of a merger, reorganization, consolidation, 
recapitalization, separation, liquidation, stock dividend, stock split, share combination or other change in the corporate structure of 
the Company affecting the Shares, the aggregate number and class of Shares subject to this Award Agreement shall be 
automatically adjusted to accurately and equitably reflect the effect thereon of such change; provided, however, that any fractional 
share resulting from such adjustment shall be eliminated. In the event of a dispute concerning such adjustment, the decision of the 
Board shall be conclusive.

Section 11.Amendments 

This Award Agreement may be amended only by a writing executed by the Company and the Grantee which specifically 
states that it is amending this Award Agreement; provided that this Award Agreement is subject to the power of the Board to amend 
the Plan as provided therein.  Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, no such amendment shall materially adversely affect the 
Grantee's rights under this Award Agreement without the Grantee's consent.

Section 12.Board Authority

Any questions concerning the interpretation of this Award Agreement, any adjustments required to be made under Sections 
10 or 11 of this Award Agreement, and any controversy which arises under this Award Agreement shall be settled by the Board in its 
sole discretion.

Section 13.Withholding

At the time any of the Earned Shares are delivered to you pursuant to this Award Agreement, the Company will be obligated 
to pay withholding and social taxes on your behalf.  Accordingly, the 
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Company shall have the power to withhold, or require you to remit to the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy any such federal, 
state, local or foreign withholding tax or social tax requirements.  At the Company's discretion, withholding may be taken from other 
compensation payable to you or may be satisfied by reducing the number of Shares deliverable to you.  If the Company elects to 
reduce the number of Shares deliverable to you and less than the full value of a Share is needed to satisfy any applicable 
withholding taxes, the Company will distribute to you the value of the remaining fractional share in cash in an amount equal to the 
Fair Market Value of a Share as of the Settlement Date multiplied by the remaining fractional Share.   

Section 14.Notice

Whenever any notice is required or permitted hereunder, such notice must be given in writing Any notice required or 
permitted to be delivered hereunder shall be effective upon receipt thereof by the addressee The Company or the Grantee may 
change, at any time and from time to time, by written notice to the other, the address specified for receiving notices.  Until changed in 
accordance herewith, the Company's address for receiving notices shall be Garmin Ltd., Attention: General Counsel, 
Mühlentalstrasse 2, 8200 Schaffhausen, Switzerland.  Unless changed, the Grantee's address for receiving notices shall be the last 
known address of the Grantee on the Company's records.  It shall be the Grantee's sole responsibility to notify the Company as to 
any change in his or her address.  Such notification shall be made in accordance with this Section 14.
 

Section 15.Severability

If any part of this Award Agreement is declared by any court or governmental authority to be unlawful or invalid, such 
unlawfulness or invalidity shall not serve to invalidate any part of this Award Agreement not declared to be unlawful or invalid.  Any 
part so declared unlawful or invalid shall, if possible, be construed in a manner which gives effect to the terms of such part to the 
fullest extent possible while remaining lawful and valid.  Additionally, if any of the covenants in Section 7 are determined by a court to 
be unenforceable in whole or in part because of such covenant's duration or geographical or other scope, such court shall modify the 
duration or scope of such provision as the case may be, so as to cause such covenant, as so modified, to be enforceable.

Section 16.Binding Effect

This Award Agreement shall bind, and, except as specifically provided herein, shall inure to the benefit of the respective 
heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto.

Section 17.Governing Law and Jurisdiction

This Award Agreement and the rights of all persons claiming hereunder shall be construed and determined in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Kansas without giving effect to the principles of the Conflict of Laws to the contrary.  Except as 
otherwise provided by mandatory forum requirements of the applicable law, the courts of the State of Kansas shall have exclusive 
jurisdiction with regard to any disputes under the Plan. The Company shall retain, however, in addition the right to bring any claim in 
any other appropriate forum.
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Section 18.  Shareholder Approval and Company Clawback or Recoupment Policies
 
You acknowledge that any award under the Notice of Grant may be subject to certain provisions of the Dodd-Frank Wall 

Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (“Dodd-Frank”) that could require the Company to recover certain amounts of 
incentive compensation paid to certain executive officers if the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement due to the 
material noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting requirements under any applicable securities laws. By accepting 
this grant, whether or not any compensation is ultimately paid hereunder, you agree and consent to any forfeiture or required 
recovery or reimbursement obligations of the Company with respect to any compensation paid to you that is forfeitable or recoverable 
by the Company pursuant to Dodd-Frank and in accordance with any Company policies and procedures adopted by the 
Compensation Committee in order to comply with Dodd Frank, as the same may be amended from time to time.
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EXHIBIT B

[PERFORMANCE GOALS AND WEIGHTING PERCENTAGE] 
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APPENDIX TO RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD AGREEMENT
 
 
 

This Appendix includes additional terms and conditions that govern the Restricted Stock Unit awards if the Grantee is a member of 
the Company’s Executive Management.
 
You acknowledge that any award under this Notice of Grant is, to the extent required by applicable Swiss law and the articles of 
association of the Company subject to approval by the general meeting of shareholders of the Company and subject to recovery, 
forfeiture or clawback by the Company if and to the extent (i) the award is granted prior to approval by the general meeting of 
shareholders and (ii) the first general meeting of shareholders to whom the Company's board of directors submits for approval the 
proposed amount of compensation for the period for which the awards have been granted does not approve the proposal.
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EXHIBIT 10.6

GARMIN LTD.
2005 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

as amended and restated on October 25, 2024
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

(Performance-Based and Time-Based Vesting)
(For Swiss Grantees)

 
 
To:      _______________________ (“you” or the “Grantee”)

Date of Grant:      _______________________

Performance Year:    _______________________

Total Shares Subject to RSUs:   _______________________ (the “Eligible Shares”)
 

NOTICE OF GRANT:

You have been granted restricted stock units (“RSUs”) relating to the shares, USD $0.10 par value per share, of Garmin 
Ltd. (“Shares”), subject to the terms and conditions of the Garmin Ltd. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated on 
October 25, 2024 (the “Plan”) and the Award Agreement between you and Garmin Ltd. (the “Company”), attached as Exhibit A.  
Accordingly, based on the satisfaction of the applicable performance-based and time-based vesting conditions set forth in this Notice 
of Grant, Exhibit A and Exhibit B, the Company agrees to pay you Shares as follows:

•The number of Shares that may be issued under this Agreement is a percentage (ranging from 0% to 100% or higher, as set 
forth in Exhibit B) of the Eligible Shares.  The percentage of the Eligible Shares eligible to be issued, if any (the “Earned 
Shares”), is based on the satisfaction of one or more of the pre-established performance goals (the “Performance Goals”) for the 
Company’s fiscal year listed above opposite the heading “Performance Year” and the applicable weighting percentage of each 
such goal. The performance goals and applicable weighting percentages for each goal are set forth and described in Exhibit B to 
this Agreement.  

•At a meeting of the Company's Compensation Committee following the end of the Performance Year (the “Certification Date”), 
the Company's Compensation Committee will assess the achieved level of performance and certify the goal(s) achievement. 

•Any Earned Shares will be issued in three equal installments commencing within 30 days of the Certification Date and each 
anniversary thereof, provided you are employed with the Company on each such date.  

In order to fully understand your rights under the Plan (a copy of which is attached) and the Award Agreement (the “Award 
Agreement”), attached as Exhibit A, you are encouraged to read the Plan and this document carefully.  Please refer to the Plan 
document for the definition of otherwise undefined capitalized terms used in this Agreement.
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By accepting these RSUs, you are also agreeing to be bound by Exhibits A and B, including the restrictive 
covenants in Section 7 of Exhibit A.

GARMIN LTD. 
 

By:                                                     
Name:  Clifton A. Pemble                                    
Title:    President and CEO
 
Grantee:__________________________
 
Date:______________________
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EXHIBIT A

AGREEMENT:

In consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained herein and other good and valuable consideration paid by 
the Grantee to the Company, the Grantee and the Company agree as follows:

Section 1.Incorporation of Plan

All provisions of this Award Agreement and the rights of the Grantee hereunder are subject in all respects to the provisions 
of the Plan and the powers of the Board therein provided.  Capitalized terms used in this Award Agreement but not defined shall 
have the meaning set forth in the Plan. 

Section 2.Grant of RSUs

(a)Calculation of Earned Shares.  As of the Date of Grant identified above, the Company grants to you, subject to the terms 
and conditions set forth herein and in the Plan, the opportunity to receive the product of (i) the Eligible Shares and (ii) the 
“Aggregate Vesting Percentage” as calculated under Section 3, such product the “Earned Shares”.  If the application of this 
Section 2(a) results in a fractional Earned Share, the number of Earned Shares shall be rounded up to the nearest whole 
Share. 

(b)Vesting and Delivery of Earned Shares.  Provided you are employed (and at all times since the Date of Grant have been 
employed) by the Company or a Subsidiary and unless your right to receive the Earned Shares has been forfeited pursuant 
to Sections 3 or 4 below, then (subject to Section 13 below) you will be paid one-third (1/3) of the Earned Shares within 30 
days of the Certification Date (as defined on the Notice of Grant), one-third (1/3) of the Earned Shares on the first 
anniversary of the Certification Date and one-third of the Earned Shares on the second anniversary of the Certification Date.  
If any of the first or second anniversaries of the Certification Date is a Saturday or Sunday or any other non-business day, 
then you will be paid the Earned Shares payable on that date on the next business day.  

Section 3.Calculation of Aggregate Vesting Percentage; Forfeiture of Unearned Shares

The “Aggregate Vesting Percentage” is the total of the individual vesting percentages for each of the achieved 
Performance Goals for the Performance Year as set forth on Exhibit B.    All Eligible Shares, if any, which, due to the 
Aggregate Vesting Percentage being less than 100% do not become Earned Shares, shall be immediately forfeited as of the 
Certification Date. 

Section 4.Effect of Termination of Affiliation

If you have a Termination of Affiliation for any reason, including termination by the Company with or without Cause, 
voluntary resignation, death, or Disability, the effect of such Termination of Affiliation on all or any portion of the RSUs is as provided 
below.   
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(a)If you have a Termination of Affiliation on account of death or Disability after the Certification Date, any Earned Shares 
that were forfeitable immediately before such Termination of Affiliation shall thereupon become non-forfeitable and the 
Company shall, promptly settle all such Earned Shares by delivery to you (or, after your death, to your personal 
representative or designated beneficiary) a number of unrestricted Shares equal to the aggregate number of your remaining 
Earned Shares;

(b)If you have a Termination of Affiliation on account of death or Disability before the Certification Date, within 30 days 
following the Certification Date the Company shall settle that number of your Eligible Shares which would have become 
Earned Shares as of the Certification Date but for your death or Disability;

(c)If you have a Termination of Affiliation after the Certification Date and during the period (“Change of Control Period”) 
commencing on a Change of Control and ending on the first anniversary of the Change of Control, which Termination of 
Affiliation is initiated by the Company or a Subsidiary other than for Cause, or initiated by the Grantee for Good Reason, 
then any Earned Shares that were forfeitable at the time of such Termination of Affiliation shall thereupon become non-
forfeitable and the Company shall immediately settle all Earned Shares by delivery to you of a number of unrestricted 
Shares equal to the aggregate number of your remaining Earned Shares; 

(d)If you have a Termination of Affiliation before the Certification Date and during the Change of Control Period, which 
Termination of Affiliation is initiated by the Company or a Subsidiary other than for Cause, or initiated by the Grantee for 
Good Reason, then all of your Eligible Shares that would have become Earned Shares as of the Certification Date but for 
such Termination of Affiliation shall thereupon become Earned Shares and non-forfeitable and the Company shall within 30 
days of the Certification Date settle all such Earned Shares by delivery to you a number of unrestricted Shares equal to the 
aggregate number of your Earned Shares;

(e)If you have a Termination of Affiliation for Cause or for any reason other than for (i) death or Disability or (ii) under the 
circumstances described above in Section 4(c) or (d), then your Eligible Shares (to the extent such Termination of Affiliation 
occurs before the Certification Date) or your Earned Shares (to the extent such Termination of Affiliation occurs after the 
Certification Date), to the extent forfeitable immediately before such Termination of Affiliation and to the extent permitted by  
the applicable Swiss law, shall thereupon automatically be forfeited and you shall have no further rights under this Award 
Agreement. 

Section 5.Investment Intent

The Grantee agrees that the Shares acquired pursuant to the vesting of one or more tranches of Earned Shares shall be 
acquired for his/her own account for investment only and not with a view to, or for resale in connection with, any distribution or public 
offering thereof within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “1933 Act”) or other applicable securities laws. The Company 
may, but in no event shall be required to, bear any expenses of complying with the 1933 Act, other applicable securities laws or the 
rules and regulations of any national securities exchange or other regulatory authority in connection with the registration, 
qualification, or transfer, as the case may be, of this Award Agreement or any Shares acquired hereunder. The foregoing restrictions 
on the transfer of the 
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Shares shall be inoperative if (a) the Company previously shall have been furnished with an opinion of counsel, satisfactory to it, to 
the effect that such transfer will not involve any violation of the 1933 Act and other applicable securities laws or (b) the Shares shall 
have been duly registered in compliance with the 1933 Act and other applicable state or federal securities laws. If this Award 
Agreement, or the Shares subject to this Award Agreement, are so registered under the 1933 Act, the Grantee agrees that he will not 
make a public offering of the said Shares except on a national securities exchange on which the shares of the Company are then 
listed.

Section 6.Non-transferability of RSUs, Eligible Shares and Earned Shares

No rights under this Award Agreement relating to the RSUs or any undelivered Eligible Shares or Earned Shares may be 
sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, including, unless specifically approved by the 
Company, any purported transfer to a current spouse or former spouse in connection with a legal separation or divorce proceeding. 
All rights with respect to the RSUs or any undelivered Eligible Shares or Earned Shares granted to the Grantee shall be available 
during his or her lifetime only to the Grantee.

Section 7.Restrictive Covenants

To the extent permitted by applicable law, as a condition of this Award Agreement, the Grantee's right to the RSUs or any 
Eligible Shares or Earned Shares, and in addition to any restrictive agreements the Grantee may have entered into with the 
Company, the Grantee accepts and agrees to be bound as follows:

(a)Non-disclosure of Award Agreement Terms.  The Grantee agrees not to disclose or cause to be disclosed at any time, 
nor authorize anyone to disclose any information concerning this Award Agreement except (i) as required by law, or (ii) to 
the Grantee's legal and financial advisors who agree to be bound by this Paragraph 7(a).

(b)Non-competition.  During the Grantee's employment and until one year after the Grantee ceases being employed by or 
acting as a consultant or independent contractor to the Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not perform services as 
an employee, director, officer, consultant, independent contractor or advisor, or invest in, whether in the form of equity or 
debt, or otherwise have an ownership interest in any company, entity or person that directly competes anywhere in the 
United States, the United Kingdom, Taiwan, or in any other location outside the United States, the United Kingdom or 
Taiwan where the Company or a Subsidiary conducts or (to the Grantee's knowledge) plans to conduct business.  Nothing 
in this Section 7(b) shall, however, restrict the Grantee from making an investment in and owning up to one-percent (1%) of 
the common stock of any company whose stock is listed on a national securities exchange or actively traded in an over-the-
counter market; provided that such investment does not give the Grantee the right or ability to control or influence the policy 
decisions of any direct competitor of the Company or a Subsidiary.
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(c)Non-interference.  During the Grantee's employment and until one year after the Grantee ceases being employed by or 
acting as a consultant or independent contractor to the Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not, either directly or 
indirectly through another business or person, solicit, entice away, or otherwise interfere with any employee, customer, 
prospective customer, vendor, prospective vendor, supplier or other similar business relation or (to the Grantee's 
knowledge) prospective business relation of the Company or any Subsidiary.

(d)Non-solicitation.  During the Grantee's employment and until one year after the Grantee ceases being employed by or 
acting as a consultant or independent contractor to the Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not, either directly or 
indirectly through another business or person, hire, recruit, employ, or attempt to hire, recruit or employ, or facilitate any 
such acts by others, any person then currently employed by the Company or any Subsidiary.

(e)Confidentiality.  The Grantee acknowledges that it is the policy of the Company and its Subsidiaries to maintain as 
secret and confidential all valuable and unique information and techniques acquired, developed or used by the Company 
and its Subsidiaries relating to their businesses, operations, employees and customers (“Confidential Information”).  The 
Grantee recognizes that the Confidential Information is the sole and exclusive property of the Company and its subsidiaries, 
and that disclosure of Confidential Information would cause damage to the Company and its Subsidiaries.  The Grantee 
shall not at any time disclose or authorize anyone else to disclose any Confidential Information or proprietary information 
that (A) is disclosed to or known by the Grantee as a result or as a consequence of or through the Grantee's performance of 
services for the Company or any Subsidiary, (B) is not publicly or generally known outside the Company and (C) relates in 
any manner to the Company's business.  This obligation will continue even though the Grantee's employment with the 
Company or a Subsidiary may have terminated.  This paragraph 7(e) shall apply in addition to, and not in derogation of any 
other confidentiality agreements that may exist, now or in the future, between the Grantee and the Company or any 
Subsidiary.

(f)No Detrimental Communications.  The Grantee agrees not to disclose or cause to be disclosed at any time any untrue, 
negative, adverse or derogatory comments or information about the Company or any Subsidiary, about any product or 
service provided by the Company or any Subsidiary, or about prospects for the future of the Company or any Subsidiary.
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(g)Remedy.  The Grantee acknowledges the consideration provided herein (absent the Grantee's agreement to this Section 
7) is more than the Company is obligated to pay, and the Grantee further acknowledges that irreparable harm would result 
from any breach of this Section and monetary damages would not provide adequate relief or remedy. Accordingly, the 
Grantee specifically agrees that, if the Grantee breaches any of the Grantee's obligations under this Section 7, the 
Company and any Subsidiary shall be entitled to injunctive relief therefor, and in particular, without limiting the generality of 
the foregoing, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary shall be precluded from pursuing any and all remedies they may 
have at law or in equity for breach of such obligations.  In addition, this Award Agreement and all of Grantee's right 
hereunder shall terminate immediately the first date on which the Grantee engages in such activity and the Board shall be 
entitled on or after the first date on which the Grantee engages in such activity to require the Grantee to return any Shares 
obtained by the Grantee's upon vesting of any Earned Shares to the Company and to require the Grantee to repay any 
proceeds received at any time from the sale of Shares obtained by the Grantee pursuant to the vesting of any Earned 
Shares (plus interest on such amount from the date received at a rate equal to the prime lending rate as announced from 
time to time in The Wall Street Journal) and to recover all reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses incurred in terminating 
this Award Agreement and recovering such Shares and proceeds.

Section 8.Status of the Grantee

The Grantee shall not be deemed a shareholder of the Company with respect to any of the Shares subject to this Award 
Agreement until such time as the underlying Shares shall have been issued to him or her. The Company shall not be required to 
issue or transfer any Shares pursuant to this Award Agreement until all applicable requirements of law have been complied with and 
such Shares shall have been duly listed on any securities exchange on which the Shares may then be listed.  Grantee (i) is not 
entitled to receive any dividends or dividend equivalents, whether such dividends would be paid in cash or in kind, or receive any 
other distributions made with respect to the RSUs or any undelivered Eligible Shares or Earned Shares, and (ii) does not have nor 
may he or she exercise any voting rights with respect to any of the RSUs or any undelivered Eligible Shares or Earned Shares, in 
both cases (i) and (ii) above, unless and until the actual Shares underlying any Earned Shares have been delivered pursuant to this 
Award Agreement.

Section 9.No Effect on Capital Structure

This Award Agreement shall not affect the right of the Company to reclassify, recapitalize or otherwise change its capital or 
debt structure or to merge, consolidate, convey any or all of its assets, dissolve, liquidate, windup, or otherwise reorganize.
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Section 10.Adjustments

Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, in the event of any change in the number of outstanding Shares 
effected without receipt of consideration therefor by the Company, by reason of a merger, reorganization, consolidation, 
recapitalization, separation, liquidation, stock dividend, stock split, share combination or other change in the corporate structure of 
the Company affecting the Shares, the aggregate number and class of Shares subject to this Award Agreement shall be 
automatically adjusted to accurately and equitably reflect the effect thereon of such change; provided, however, that any fractional 
share resulting from such adjustment shall be eliminated. In the event of a dispute concerning such adjustment, the decision of the 
Board shall be conclusive.

Section 11.Amendments 

This Award Agreement may be amended only by a writing executed by the Company and the Grantee which specifically 
states that it is amending this Award Agreement; provided that this Award Agreement is subject to the power of the Board to amend 
the Plan as provided therein.  Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, no such amendment shall materially adversely affect the 
Grantee's rights under this Award Agreement without the Grantee's consent.

Section 12.Board Authority

Any questions concerning the interpretation of this Award Agreement, any adjustments required to be made under Sections 
10 or 11 of this Award Agreement, and any controversy which arises under this Award Agreement shall be settled by the Board in its 
sole discretion.

Section 13.Withholding

At the time any of the Earned Shares are delivered to you pursuant to this Award Agreement, the Company will be obligated 
to pay withholding and social taxes on your behalf.  Accordingly, the Company shall have the power to withhold, or require you to 
remit to the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy any such federal, state, local or foreign withholding tax or social tax 
requirements.  At the Company's discretion, withholding may be taken from other compensation payable to you or may be satisfied 
by reducing the number of Shares deliverable to you.  If the Company elects to reduce the number of Shares deliverable to you and 
less than the full value of a Share is needed to satisfy any applicable withholding taxes, the Company will distribute to you the value 
of the remaining fractional share in cash in an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of a Share as of the Settlement Date multiplied 
by the remaining fractional Share.   

Section 14.Notice

Whenever any notice is required or permitted hereunder, such notice must be given in writing Any notice required or 
permitted to be delivered hereunder shall be effective upon receipt thereof by the addressee The Company or the Grantee may 
change, at any time and from time to time, by written notice to the other, the address specified for receiving notices.  Until changed in 
accordance herewith, the Company's address for receiving notices shall be Garmin Ltd., Attention: General Counsel, 
Mühlentalstrasse 2, 8200 Schaffhausen, Switzerland.  Unless changed, the Grantee's address for receiving notices shall be the last 
known address of the Grantee on the Company's records.  It shall be the Grantee's sole responsibility to notify the Company as to 
any change in his or her address.  Such notification shall be made in accordance with this Section 14.
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Section 15.Severability

If any part of this Award Agreement is declared by any court or governmental authority to be unlawful or invalid, such 
unlawfulness or invalidity shall not serve to invalidate any part of this Award Agreement not declared to be unlawful or invalid.  Any 
part so declared unlawful or invalid shall, if possible, be construed in a manner which gives effect to the terms of such part to the 
fullest extent possible while remaining lawful and valid.  Additionally, if any of the covenants in Section 7 are determined by a court to 
be unenforceable in whole or in part because of such covenant's duration or geographical or other scope, such court shall have the 
power to modify the duration or scope of such provision as the case may be, so as to cause such covenant, as so modified, to be 
enforceable.

Section 16.Binding Effect

This Award Agreement shall bind, and, except as specifically provided herein, shall inure to the benefit of the respective 
heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto.

Section 17.Governing Law and Jurisdiction

This Award Agreement and the rights of all persons claiming hereunder shall be construed and determined in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Kansas without giving effect to the principles of the Conflict of Laws to the contrary.  Except as 
otherwise provided by mandatory forum requirements of the applicable law, the courts of the State of Kansas shall have exclusive 
jurisdiction with regard to any disputes under the Plan. The Company shall retain, however, in addition the right to bring any 
claim in any other appropriate forum.
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EXHIBIT B

[PERFORMANCE GOALS AND WEIGHTING PERCENTAGE]
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EXHIBIT 10.7
GARMIN LTD.

2005 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
as amended and restated on October 25, 2024

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

(Performance-Based and Time-Based Vesting)
(For Canadian Grantees)

 
 
To:      _______________________ (“you” or the “Grantee”)

Date of Grant:      _______________________

Performance Year:    _______________________

Total Shares Subject to RSUs:   _______________________ (the “Eligible Shares”)
 

NOTICE OF GRANT:

You have been granted restricted stock units (“RSUs”) relating to the registered shares, USD $0.10 par value per share, of 
Garmin Ltd. (“Shares”), subject to the terms and conditions of the Garmin Ltd. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated 
effective October 25, 2024 (the “Plan”) and the Award Agreement between you and Garmin Ltd. (the “Company”), attached as Exhibit 
A.  Accordingly, based on the satisfaction of the applicable performance-based and time-based vesting conditions set forth in this 
Notice of Grant, Exhibit A and Exhibit B, the Company agrees to pay you Shares as follows:

•The number of Shares that may be issued under this Agreement is a percentage (ranging from 0% to 100% or higher, as set 
forth in Exhibit B) of the Eligible Shares.  The percentage of the Eligible Shares eligible to be issued, if any (the “Earned 
Shares”), is based on the satisfaction of one or more of the pre-established performance goals (the “Performance Goals”) for the 
Company’s fiscal year listed above opposite the heading “Performance Year” and the applicable weighting percentage of each 
such goal. The performance goals and applicable weighting percentages for each goal are set forth and described in Exhibit B to 
this Agreement.  

•At a meeting of the Company's Compensation Committee following the end of the Performance Year (the “Certification Date”), 
the Company's Compensation Committee will assess the achieved level of performance and certify the goal(s) achievement. 

•Any Earned Shares will be issued in three equal installments commencing within 30 days of the Certification Date and each 
anniversary thereof, provided you are employed with the Company on each such date.  

In order to fully understand your rights under the Plan (a copy of which is attached) and the Award Agreement (the “Award 
Agreement”), attached as Exhibit A, you are encouraged to read the Plan and this document carefully.  Please refer to the Plan 
document for the definition of otherwise undefined capitalized terms used in this Agreement.
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To properly accept these RSUs, you must click the “Accept” button. Acceptances shall be made electronically within ten (10) 
days of your receipt of this Notice and Award Agreement. By accepting these RSUs, you are also agreeing to be bound by 
Exhibits A and B, including the restrictive covenants in Section 7 of Exhibit A.

GARMIN LTD. 
 

By:          
Name:  Clifton A. Pemble                                    
Title:    President and CEO 
 
Grantee:__________________________ 
 
Date:______________________
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EXHIBIT A

AGREEMENT:

In consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained herein and other good and valuable consideration paid by 
the Grantee to the Company, the Grantee and the Company agree as follows:

Section 1.Incorporation of Plan

All provisions of this Award Agreement and the rights of the Grantee hereunder are subject in all respects to the provisions 
of the Plan and the powers of the Board therein provided.  Capitalized terms used in this Award Agreement but not defined shall 
have the meaning set forth in the Plan. 

Section 2.Grant of RSUs

(a)Calculation of Earned Shares.  As of the Date of Grant identified above, the Company grants to you, subject to the terms 
and conditions set forth herein and in the Plan, the opportunity to receive the product of (i) the Eligible Shares and (ii) the 
“Aggregate Vesting Percentage” as calculated under Section 3, such product the “Earned Shares”.  If the application of this 
Section 2(a) results in a fractional Earned Share, the number of Earned Shares shall be rounded up to the nearest whole 
Share. 

(b)Vesting and Delivery of Earned Shares.  Provided you are employed (and at all times since the Date of Grant have been 
employed) by the Company or a Subsidiary and unless your right to receive the Earned Shares has been forfeited pursuant 
to Sections 3 or 4 below, then (subject to Section 13 below) one-third (1/3) of the Earned Shares will be paid to you within 30 
days of the Certification Date (as defined on the Notice of Grant), one-third (1/3) of the Earned Shares will be paid to you on 
the first anniversary of the Certification Date and one-third of the Earned Shares will be paid to you on the second 
anniversary of the Certification Date.  If any of the first or second anniversaries of the Certification Date is a Saturday or 
Sunday or any other non-business day, then you will be paid the Earned Shares payable on that date on the next business 
day.  

Section 3.Calculation of Aggregate Vesting Percentage; Forfeiture of Unearned Shares

The “Aggregate Vesting Percentage” is the total of the individual vesting percentages for each of the achieved 
Performance Goals for the Performance Year as set forth on Exhibit B.    All Eligible Shares, if any, which, due to the 
Aggregate Vesting Percentage being less than 100% do not become Earned Shares, shall be immediately forfeited as of the 
Certification Date. 

Section 4.Effect of Termination of Affiliation

If you have a Termination of Affiliation for any reason, including termination by the Company with or without Cause (as 
defined in this Section 4), voluntary resignation, death, or Disability, the effect of such Termination of Affiliation on all or any portion 
of the RSUs is as provided below.   
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(a)If you have a Termination of Affiliation on account of death or Disability after the Certification Date, any Earned Shares 
that were forfeitable immediately before such Termination of Affiliation shall thereupon become non-forfeitable and the 
Company shall, promptly settle all such Earned Shares by delivery to you (or, after your death, to your personal 
representative or designated beneficiary) a number of unrestricted Shares equal to the aggregate number of your remaining 
Earned Shares;

(b)If you have a Termination of Affiliation on account of death or Disability before the Certification Date, within 30 days 
following the Certification Date the Company shall settle that number of your Eligible Shares which would have become 
Earned Shares as of the Certification Date but for your death or Disability;

(c)If you have a Termination of Affiliation after the Certification Date and during the period (“Change of Control Period”) 
commencing on a Change of Control and ending on the first anniversary of the Change of Control, which Termination of 
Affiliation is initiated by the Company or a Subsidiary other than for Cause, or initiated by the Grantee for Good Reason, 
then any Earned Shares that were forfeitable at the time of such Termination of Affiliation shall thereupon become non-
forfeitable and the Company shall immediately settle all Earned Shares by delivery to you of a number of unrestricted 
Shares equal to the aggregate number of your remaining Earned Shares; 

(d)If you have a Termination of Affiliation before the Certification Date and during the Change of Control Period, which 
Termination of Affiliation is initiated by the Company or a Subsidiary other than for Cause, or initiated by the Grantee for 
Good Reason, then all of your Eligible Shares that would have become Earned Shares as of the Certification Date but for 
such Termination of Affiliation shall thereupon become Earned Shares and non-forfeitable and the Company shall within 30 
days of the Certification Date settle all such Earned Shares by delivery to you a number of unrestricted Shares equal to the 
aggregate number of your Earned Shares;

(e)If you have a Termination of Affiliation for Cause or for any reason other than for (i) death or Disability or (ii) under the 
circumstances described above in Section 4(c) or (d), then your Eligible Shares (to the extent such Termination of Affiliation 
occurs before the Certification Date) or your Earned Shares (to the extent such Termination of Affiliation occurs after the 
Certification Date), to the extent forfeitable immediately before such Termination of Affiliation, shall thereupon automatically 
be forfeited and you shall have no further rights under this Award Agreement. 

(f)Notwithstanding the definition of “Cause” set forth in the Plan, for purposes of this Award Agreement, the term “Cause” 
means, without in any way limiting its definition under common law (which is expressly included in this definition), any 
improper conduct by you which is materially detrimental to the Company or any Subsidiary including, but not limited to:

1.Your conviction of, or a plea of guilty to, any indictable offence or other crime that involves fraud, dishonesty or 
moral turpitude;
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2.Any willful action or omission by you which would constitute grounds for immediate dismissal under the 
employment policies of the Company or the Subsidiary by which you are employed, including but not limited to 
intoxication with alcohol or illegal drugs while on the premises on the Company or any Subsidiary, or any violation 
of applicable sexual harassment laws or the internal sexual harassment policy of the Company or the Subsidiary by 
which you are employed;

3.Your habitual neglect of duties, including but not limited to, repeated unauthorized absences from work without 
reasonable excuse; or

4.Your willful or intentional material misconduct in the performance of your duties that results in financial detriment 
to the Company or any Subsidiary.

Section 5.Investment Intent

The Grantee agrees that the Shares acquired pursuant to the vesting of one or more tranches of Earned Shares shall be 
acquired for his/her own account for investment only and not with a view to, or for resale in connection with, any distribution or public 
offering thereof within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “1933 Act”) or other applicable securities laws. If the Board so 
determines, any share certificates issued pursuant to this Award Agreement shall bear a legend to the effect that the Shares have 
been so acquired.  The Company may, but in no event shall be required to, bear any expenses of complying with the 1933 Act, other 
applicable securities laws or the rules and regulations of any national securities exchange or other regulatory authority in connection 
with the registration, qualification, or transfer, as the case may be, of this Award Agreement or any Shares acquired hereunder. The 
foregoing restrictions on the transfer of the Shares shall be inoperative if (a) the Company previously shall have been furnished with 
an opinion of counsel, satisfactory to it, to the effect that such transfer will not involve any violation of the 1933 Act and other 
applicable securities laws or (b) the Shares shall have been duly registered in compliance with the 1933 Act and other applicable 
state or federal securities laws. If this Award Agreement, or the Shares subject to this Award Agreement, are so registered under the 
1933 Act, the Grantee agrees that he will not make a public offering of the said Shares except on a national securities exchange on 
which the shares of the Company are then listed.

The Grantee also acknowledges and agrees that the Shares acquired pursuant to the vesting of one or more tranches of 
Earned Shares will not be able to be transferred or resold in Canada pursuant to the securities legislation of the Provinces and 
Territories of Canada except in accordance with limited exemptions under applicable securities legislation and regulatory policy and 
compliance with the other requirements of applicable law. 

Section 6.Non-transferability of RSUs, Eligible Shares and Earned Shares

No rights under this Award Agreement relating to the RSUs or any undelivered Eligible Shares or Earned Shares may be 
sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, including, unless specifically approved by the 
Company, any purported transfer to a current spouse or former spouse in connection with a legal separation or divorce proceeding. 
All rights with respect to the RSUs or any undelivered Eligible Shares or Earned Shares granted to the Grantee shall be available 
during his or her lifetime only to the Grantee.
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Section 7.Restrictive Covenants

To the extent permitted by applicable law, as a condition of this Award Agreement, the Grantee's right to the RSUs or any 
Eligible Shares or Earned Shares, and in addition to any restrictive agreements the Grantee may have entered into with the 
Company, the Grantee accepts and agrees to be bound as follows:

(a)Non-disclosure of Award Agreement Terms.  The Grantee agrees not to disclose or cause to be disclosed at any time, 
nor authorize anyone to disclose any information concerning this Award Agreement except (i) as required by law, or (ii) to 
the Grantee's legal and financial advisors who agree to be bound by this Paragraph 7(a).

(b)Non-competition.  During the Grantee's employment and until one year after the Grantee ceases being employed by or 
acting as a consultant or independent contractor to the Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not, directly or 
indirectly, own, manage, operate or control, or participate in the ownership, management, operation or control of, or be 
connected with or have any interest in (whether as a shareholder, partner, member, director, officer, employee, agent, 
consultant, or in any other capacity) any company or organization with activities, products or services involving:

1.Personal and team activity monitoring systems, including speed, distance and cadence monitoring 
systems, motion analysis systems and associated watch displays and other displays and heart rate 
monitoring systems and associated watch displays and other displays and prosthetics monitoring and 
control systems; or

2.Wireless communications systems and protocols designed for low power applications;

 in any province, state or country in which the Company or any Subsidiary conducts business (or, to the knowledge 
of the Grantee, any additional location in which the Company of any Subsidiary intends to conduct business).

Nothing in this Section 7(b) shall, however, restrict the Grantee from making an investment in and owning up to 
one-percent (1%) of the common stock of any company whose stock is listed on a national securities exchange or 
actively traded in an over-the-counter market; provided that such investment does not give the Grantee the right or 
ability to control or influence the policy decisions of any direct competitor of the Company or a Subsidiary.

(c)Non-interference.  During the Grantee's employment and until one year after the Grantee ceases being employed by or 
acting as a consultant or independent contractor to the Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not, either directly or 
indirectly through another business or person, solicit, entice away, or otherwise interfere with any employee, customer, 
prospective customer, vendor, prospective vendor, supplier or other similar business relation or (to the Grantee's 
knowledge) prospective business relation of the Company or any Subsidiary.



 

Page 7 of 11
 

(d)Non-solicitation.  During the Grantee's employment and until one year after the Grantee ceases being employed by or 
acting as a consultant or independent contractor to the Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not, either directly or 
indirectly through another business or person, hire, recruit, employ, or attempt to hire, recruit or employ, or facilitate any 
such acts by others, any person then currently employed by the Company or any Subsidiary.

(e)Confidentiality.  The Grantee acknowledges that it is the policy of the Company and its Subsidiaries to maintain as 
secret and confidential all valuable and unique information and techniques acquired, developed or used by the Company 
and its Subsidiaries relating to their businesses, operations, employees and customers (“Confidential Information”).  The 
Grantee recognizes that the Confidential Information is the sole and exclusive property of the Company and its subsidiaries, 
and that disclosure of Confidential Information would cause damage to the Company and its Subsidiaries.  The Grantee 
shall not at any time disclose or authorize anyone else to disclose any Confidential Information or proprietary information 
that (A) is disclosed to or known by the Grantee as a result or as a consequence of or through the Grantee's performance of 
services for the Company or any Subsidiary, (B) is not publicly or generally known outside the Company and (C) relates in 
any manner to the Company's business.  This obligation will continue even though the Grantee's employment with the 
Company or a Subsidiary may have terminated.  This paragraph 7(e) shall apply in addition to, and not in derogation of any 
other confidentiality agreements that may exist, now or in the future, between the Grantee and the Company or any 
Subsidiary.

(f)No Detrimental Communications.  The Grantee agrees not to disclose or cause to be disclosed at any time any untrue, 
negative, adverse or derogatory comments or information about the Company or any Subsidiary, about any product or 
service provided by the Company or any Subsidiary, or about prospects for the future of the Company or any Subsidiary.

(g)Remedy.  The Grantee acknowledges the consideration provided herein (absent the Grantee's agreement to this Section 
7) is more than the Company is obligated to pay, and the Grantee further acknowledges that irreparable harm would result 
from any breach of this Section and monetary damages would not provide adequate relief or remedy. Accordingly, the 
Grantee specifically agrees that, if the Grantee breaches any of the Grantee's obligations under this Section 7, the 
Company and any Subsidiary shall be entitled to injunctive relief therefor, and in particular, without limiting the generality of 
the foregoing, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary shall be precluded from pursuing any and all remedies they may 
have at law or in equity for breach of such obligations.  In addition, this Award Agreement and all of Grantee's right 
hereunder shall terminate immediately the first date on which the Grantee engages in such activity and the Board shall be 
entitled on or after the first date on which the Grantee engages in such activity to require the Grantee to return any Shares 
obtained by the Grantee's upon vesting of any Earned Shares to the Company and to require the Grantee to repay any 
proceeds received at any time from the sale of Shares obtained by the Grantee pursuant to the vesting of any Earned 
Shares (plus interest on such amount from the date received at a rate equal to the prime lending rate as announced from 
time to time in The Wall Street Journal) and to recover all reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses 
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incurred in terminating this Award Agreement and recovering such Shares and proceeds.

Section 8.Status of the Grantee

The Grantee shall not be deemed a shareholder of the Company with respect to any of the Shares subject to this Award 
Agreement until such time as the underlying Shares shall have been issued to him or her. The Company shall not be required to 
issue or transfer any certificates for Shares pursuant to this Award Agreement until all applicable requirements of law have been 
complied with and such Shares shall have been duly listed on any securities exchange on which the Shares may then be listed.  
Grantee (i) is not entitled to receive any dividends or dividend equivalents, whether such dividends would be paid in cash or in kind, 
or receive any other distributions made with respect to the RSUs or any undelivered Eligible Shares or Earned Shares, and (ii) does 
not have nor may he or she exercise any voting rights with respect to any of the RSUs or any undelivered Eligible Shares or Earned 
Shares, in both cases (i) and (ii) above, unless and until the actual Shares underlying any Earned Shares have been delivered 
pursuant to this Award Agreement.

Section 9.No Effect on Capital Structure

This Award Agreement shall not affect the right of the Company to reclassify, recapitalize or otherwise change its capital or 
debt structure or to merge, consolidate, convey any or all of its assets, dissolve, liquidate, windup, or otherwise reorganize.

Section 10.Adjustments

Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, in the event of any change in the number of outstanding Shares 
effected without receipt of consideration therefor by the Company, by reason of a merger, reorganization, consolidation, 
recapitalization, separation, liquidation, stock dividend, stock split, share combination or other change in the corporate structure of 
the Company affecting the Shares, the aggregate number and class of Shares subject to this Award Agreement shall be 
automatically adjusted to accurately and equitably reflect the effect thereon of such change; provided, however, that any fractional 
share resulting from such adjustment shall be eliminated. In the event of a dispute concerning such adjustment, the decision of the 
Board shall be conclusive.

Section 11.Amendments 

This Award Agreement may be amended only by a writing executed by the Company and the Grantee which specifically 
states that it is amending this Award Agreement; provided that this Award Agreement is subject to the power of the Board to amend 
the Plan as provided therein.  Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, no such amendment shall materially adversely affect the 
Grantee's rights under this Award Agreement without the Grantee's consent.

Section 12.Board Authority

Any questions concerning the interpretation of this Award Agreement, any adjustments required to be made under Sections 
10 or 11 of this Award Agreement, and any controversy which arises under this Award Agreement shall be settled by the Board in its 
sole discretion.
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Section 13.Withholding

Notwithstanding Article 14 of the Plan, this Section 12 will apply to the Company's withholding obligations related to this 
Award Agreement.  At the time any of the Earned Shares are delivered to you pursuant to this Award Agreement, the Company will 
be obligated to pay withholding on your behalf.  Accordingly, and at the Company’s discretion, such Federal, Provincial, local or 
foreign withholding tax requirements may be satisfied by you providing specific written authorization to deduct from any earnings 
owed or accruing to you, the appropriate sum of money required for such withholding or remittance or, at the Company’s discretion, 
such withholdings may be satisfied by reducing the number of Shares delivered to you.  In the event of your neglect or refusal to 
provide the Company with your personal authorization in writing to deduct the appropriate withholdings from your earnings, the 
Company shall have no obligation to deliver the relevant Shares to you. If the Company reduces the number of Shares deliverable to 
you and less than the full value of a Share is needed to satisfy any applicable withholding taxes, the Company will distribute to you 
the value of the remaining fractional share in cash in an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of a Share as of the Settlement Date 
multiplied by the remaining fractional Share.   

Section 14.Notice

Whenever any notice is required or permitted hereunder, such notice must be given in writing Any notice required or 
permitted to be delivered hereunder shall be effective upon receipt thereof by the addressee The Company or the Grantee may 
change, at any time and from time to time, by written notice to the other, the address specified for receiving notices.  Until changed in 
accordance herewith, the Company's address for receiving notices shall be Garmin Ltd., Attention: General Counsel, 
Mühlentalstrasse 2, 8200 Schaffhausen, Switzerland.  Unless changed, the Grantee's address for receiving notices shall be the last 
known address of the Grantee on the Company's records.  It shall be the Grantee's sole responsibility to notify the Company as to 
any change in his or her address.  Such notification shall be made in accordance with this Section 14.
 

Section 15.Severability

If any part of this Award Agreement is declared by any court or governmental authority to be unlawful or invalid, such 
unlawfulness or invalidity shall not serve to invalidate any part of this Award Agreement not declared to be unlawful or invalid.  Any 
part so declared unlawful or invalid shall, if possible, be construed in a manner which gives effect to the terms of such part to the 
fullest extent possible while remaining lawful and valid.  Additionally, if any of the covenants in Section 7 are determined by a court to 
be unenforceable in whole or in part because of such covenant's duration or geographical or other scope, such court shall have the 
power to modify the duration or scope of such provision as the case may be, so as to cause such covenant, as so modified, to be 
enforceable.

Section 16.Binding Effect

This Award Agreement shall bind, and, except as specifically provided herein, shall inure to the benefit of the respective 
heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto.
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Section 17.Governing Law

This Award Agreement and the rights of all persons claiming hereunder shall be construed and determined in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Kansas without giving effect to the principles of the Conflict of Laws to the contrary.
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EXHIBIT B

[PERFORMANCE GOALS AND WEIGHTING PERCENTAGE] 
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EXHIBIT 10.8

GARMIN LTD.
2005 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

as amended and restated on October 25, 2024
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

(Performance-Based and Time-Based Vesting)
 
 
To:      _______________________ (“you” or the “Grantee”)

Date of Grant:      _______________________

Performance Year:    _______________________

Total Shares Subject to RSUs:   _______________________ (the “Eligible Shares”)
 

NOTICE OF GRANT:

You have been granted restricted stock units (“RSUs”) relating to the shares, USD $0.10 par value per share, of Garmin 
Ltd. (“Shares”), subject to the terms and conditions of the Garmin Ltd. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated on 
October 25, 2024 (the “Plan”) and the Award Agreement between you and Garmin Ltd. (the “Company”), attached as Exhibit A.  
Accordingly, based on the satisfaction of the applicable performance-based and time-based vesting conditions set forth in this Notice 
of Grant, Exhibit A and Exhibit B, the Company agrees to pay you Shares as follows:

•The number of Shares that may be issued under this Agreement is a percentage (ranging from 0% to 100% or higher, as set 
forth in Exhibit B) of the Eligible Shares.  The percentage of the Eligible Shares eligible to be issued, if any (the “Earned 
Shares”), is based on the satisfaction of one or more of the pre-established performance goals (the “Performance Goals”) for the 
Company’s fiscal year listed above opposite the heading “Performance Year” and the applicable weighting percentage of each 
such goal. The performance goals and applicable weighting percentages for each goal are set forth and described in Exhibit B to 
this Agreement.  

•At a meeting of the Company's Compensation Committee following the end of the Performance Year (the “Certification Date”), 
the Company's Compensation Committee will assess the achieved level of performance and certify the goal(s) achievement. 

•Any Earned Shares will be issued in three equal installments commencing within 30 days of the Certification Date and each 
anniversary thereof, provided you are employed with the Company on each such date.  

In order to fully understand your rights under the Plan (a copy of which is attached) and the Award Agreement (the “Award 
Agreement”), attached as Exhibit A, you are encouraged to read the Plan and this document carefully.  Please refer to the Plan 
document for the definition of otherwise undefined capitalized terms used in this Agreement.
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By accepting these RSUs, you are also agreeing to be bound by Exhibits A and B, including the restrictive 
covenants in Section 7 of Exhibit A.

 
GARMIN LTD. 

 
By:        
Name:  Clifton A. Pemble
Title:    President and CEO
 
Grantee:__________________________
 
Date:______________________
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EXHIBIT A

AGREEMENT:

In consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained herein and other good and valuable consideration paid by 
the Grantee to the Company, the Grantee and the Company agree as follows:

Section 1.Incorporation of Plan

All provisions of this Award Agreement and the rights of the Grantee hereunder are subject in all respects to the provisions 
of the Plan and the powers of the Board therein provided.  Capitalized terms used in this Award Agreement but not defined shall 
have the meaning set forth in the Plan. 

Section 2.Grant of RSUs

(a)Calculation of Earned Shares.  As of the Date of Grant identified above, the Company grants to you, subject to the terms 
and conditions set forth herein and in the Plan, the opportunity to receive the product of (i) the Eligible Shares and (ii) the 
“Aggregate Vesting Percentage” as calculated under Section 3, such product the “Earned Shares”.  If the application of this 
Section 2(a) results in a fractional Earned Share, the number of Earned Shares shall be rounded up to the nearest whole 
Share. 

(b)Vesting and Delivery of Earned Shares.  Provided you are employed (and at all times since the Date of Grant have been 
employed) by the Company or a Subsidiary and unless your right to receive the Earned Shares has been forfeited pursuant 
to Sections 3 or 4 below, then (subject to Section 13 below) you will be paid one-third (1/3) of the Earned Shares within 30 
days of the Certification Date (as defined on the Notice of Grant), one-third (1/3) of the Earned Shares on the first 
anniversary of the Certification Date and one-third of the Earned Shares on the second anniversary of the Certification Date.  
If any of the first or second anniversaries of the Certification Date is a Saturday or Sunday or any other non-business day, 
then you will be paid the Earned Shares payable on that date on the next business day.  

Section 3.Calculation of Aggregate Vesting Percentage; Forfeiture of Unearned Shares

The “Aggregate Vesting Percentage” is the total of the individual vesting percentages for each of the achieved 
Performance Goals for the Performance Year as set forth on Exhibit B.  All Eligible Shares, if any, which, due to the 
Aggregate Vesting Percentage being less than 100% do not become Earned Shares, shall be immediately forfeited as of the 
Certification Date. 

Section 4.Effect of Termination of Affiliation

If you have a Termination of Affiliation for any reason, including termination by the Company with or without Cause, 
voluntary resignation, death, or Disability, the effect of such Termination of Affiliation on all or any portion of the RSUs is as provided 
below.   
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(a)If you have a Termination of Affiliation on account of death or Disability after the Certification Date, any Earned Shares 
that were forfeitable immediately before such Termination of Affiliation shall thereupon become non-forfeitable and the 
Company shall, promptly settle all such Earned Shares by delivery to you (or, after your death, to your personal 
representative or designated beneficiary) a number of unrestricted Shares equal to the aggregate number of your remaining 
Earned Shares;

(b)If you have a Termination of Affiliation on account of death or Disability before the Certification Date, within 30 days 
following the Certification Date the Company shall settle that number of your Eligible Shares which would have become 
Earned Shares as of the Certification Date but for your death or Disability;

(c)If you have a Termination of Affiliation after the Certification Date and during the period (“Change of Control Period”) 
commencing on a Change of Control and ending on the first anniversary of the Change of Control, which Termination of 
Affiliation is initiated by the Company or a Subsidiary other than for Cause, or initiated by the Grantee for Good Reason, 
then any Earned Shares that were forfeitable at the time of such Termination of Affiliation shall thereupon become non-
forfeitable and the Company shall immediately settle all Earned Shares by delivery to you of a number of unrestricted 
Shares equal to the aggregate number of your remaining Earned Shares; 

(d)If you have a Termination of Affiliation before the Certification Date and during the Change of Control Period, which 
Termination of Affiliation is initiated by the Company or a Subsidiary other than for Cause, or initiated by the Grantee for 
Good Reason, then all of your Eligible Shares that would have become Earned Shares as of the Certification Date but for 
such Termination of Affiliation shall thereupon become Earned Shares and non-forfeitable and the Company shall within 30 
days of the Certification Date settle all such Earned Shares by delivery to you a number of unrestricted Shares equal to the 
aggregate number of your Earned Shares; 

(e)If you have a Termination of Affiliation for Cause or for any reason other than for (i) death or Disability or (ii) under the 
circumstances described above in Section 4(c) or (d), then your Eligible Shares (to the extent such Termination of Affiliation 
occurs before the Certification Date) or your Earned Shares (to the extent such Termination of Affiliation occurs after the 
Certification Date), to the extent forfeitable immediately before such Termination of Affiliation, shall thereupon automatically 
be forfeited and you shall have no further rights under this Award Agreement. 

Section 5.Investment Intent

The Grantee agrees that the Shares acquired pursuant to the vesting of one or more tranches of Earned Shares shall be 
acquired for his/her own account for investment only and not with a view to, or for resale in connection with, any distribution or public 
offering thereof within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “1933 Act”) or other applicable securities laws. The Company 
may, but in no event shall be required to, bear any expenses of complying with the 1933 Act, other applicable securities laws or the 
rules and regulations of any national securities exchange or other regulatory authority in connection with the registration, 
qualification, or transfer, as the case may be, of this Award Agreement or any Shares acquired hereunder. The foregoing restrictions 
on the transfer of the Shares shall be inoperative if (a) the Company previously shall have been furnished with an opinion 
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of counsel, satisfactory to it, to the effect that such transfer will not involve any violation of the 1933 Act and other applicable 
securities laws or (b) the Shares shall have been duly registered in compliance with the 1933 Act and other applicable state or 
federal securities laws. If this Award Agreement, or the Shares subject to this Award Agreement, are so registered under the 1933 
Act, the Grantee agrees that he will not make a public offering of the said Shares except on a national securities exchange on which 
the shares of the Company are then listed.

Section 6.Non-transferability of RSUs, Eligible Shares and Earned Shares

No rights under this Award Agreement relating to the RSUs or any undelivered Eligible Shares or Earned Shares may be 
sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, including, unless specifically approved by the 
Company, any purported transfer to a current spouse or former spouse in connection with a legal separation or divorce proceeding. 
All rights with respect to the RSUs or any undelivered Eligible Shares or Earned Shares granted to the Grantee shall be available 
during his or her lifetime only to the Grantee.

Section 7.Restrictive Covenants

In consideration of the RSUs granted to the Grantee under this Award Agreement and in addition to any other restrictive 
agreements the Grantee may have entered into with the Company, the Grantee accepts and agrees to be bound by the restrictive 
covenants set forth below in this Section 7, and acknowledges that these restrictive covenants are fair and reasonable in light of the 
Company’s legitimate business interest in protecting the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ trade secrets, other commercially sensitive 
business information, and their customer, employee, and other business relationships. The Grantee hereby agrees to the following 
restrictive covenants:

(a)Non-competition.  During the Grantee's employment and until one year after the Grantee ceases being employed by or 
acting as a consultant or independent contractor to the Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not perform executive, 
managerial, professional, engineering, technical, business development, supply chain or sales services in the United States 
as an employee, director, officer, consultant, independent contractor or advisor, or invest in, whether in the form of equity or 
debt, or otherwise have an ownership interest in any company, entity or person that competes with the Company in any of 
its operating segments.  The Grantee expressly acknowledges that the Company and its United States Subsidiaries have a 
nationwide business and customer base in each of its operating segments. The Grantee expressly acknowledges and 
agrees that a nationwide restriction is reasonable under the circumstances and necessary in order to protect the legitimate 
business interests of the Company and its United States Subsidiaries.   Nothing in this Section 7(a) shall, however, restrict 
the Grantee from making an investment in and owning up to one-percent (1%) of the common stock of any company whose 
stock is listed on a national securities exchange or actively traded in an over-the-counter market; provided that such 
investment does not give the Grantee the right or ability to control or influence the policy decisions of any competitor of the 
Company or a Subsidiary.

(b)Non-Solicitation of Customers, Suppliers, Business Partners and Vendors.  During the Grantee's employment and 
until one year after the Grantee ceases being employed by the Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not, either 
directly or indirectly through another business or person, solicit, or assist others in soliciting or attempting 
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to solicit any customer, prospective customer, vendor, prospective vendor, supplier business partner of the Company or 
Subsidiary with whom the Grantee had contact with during the last two years of Grantee’s employment.

(c)Non-solicitation of Employees.  During the Grantee's employment and until one year after the Grantee ceases being 
employed by or acting as a consultant or independent contractor to the Company or any Subsidiary, the Grantee will not, 
either directly or indirectly through another business or person, solicit, hire, recruit, employ, or attempt to solicit, hire, recruit 
or employ, or facilitate any such acts by others, any person then currently employed by the Company or any Subsidiary.

(d)No Application in Certain States or Jurisdictions. Sections 7(a), 7(b) and 7(c) do not apply to employment in 
California, Oklahoma or Minnesota or in any other state or jurisdiction where such provisions are prohibited by law.

(e)Confidentiality.  The Grantee acknowledges that it is the policy of the Company and its Subsidiaries to maintain as 
secret and confidential all valuable and unique information and techniques acquired, developed or used by the Company 
and its Subsidiaries relating to their businesses, operations, employees and customers (“Confidential Information”).  The 
Grantee recognizes that the Confidential Information is the sole and exclusive property of the Company and its subsidiaries, 
and that disclosure of Confidential Information would cause damage to the Company and its Subsidiaries.  The Grantee 
shall not at any time disclose or authorize anyone else to disclose any Confidential Information or proprietary information 
that (A) is disclosed to or known by the Grantee as a result or as a consequence of or through the Grantee's performance of 
services for the Company or any Subsidiary, (B) is not publicly or generally known outside the Company and (C) relates in 
any manner to the Company's business.  This obligation will continue even though the Grantee's employment with the 
Company or a Subsidiary may have terminated.  This paragraph 7(e) shall apply in addition to, and not in derogation of any 
other confidentiality agreements that may exist, now or in the future, between the Grantee and the Company or any 
Subsidiary.

(f)Remedy.  The Grantee acknowledges irreparable harm would result from any breach of this Section and that monetary 
damages alone would not provide adequate relief or remedy. Accordingly, the Grantee specifically agrees that, if the 
Grantee breaches any of the Grantee's obligations under this Section 7, the Company and any Subsidiary shall be entitled 
to injunctive relief. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary shall be 
precluded from pursuing any and all remedies they may have at law or in equity for any breach of Grantee’s restrictive 
covenants in this Section 7.

Section 8.Status of the Grantee

The Grantee shall not be deemed a shareholder of the Company with respect to any of the Shares subject to this Award 
Agreement until such time as the underlying Shares shall have been issued to him or her. The Company shall not be required to 
issue or transfer any Shares pursuant to this Award Agreement until all applicable requirements of law have been complied with and 
such Shares shall have been duly listed on any securities exchange on which the Shares may then be listed.  Grantee (i) is not 
entitled to receive any dividends or dividend equivalents, whether such dividends would be paid 
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in cash or in kind, or receive any other distributions made with respect to the RSUs or any undelivered Eligible Shares or Earned 
Shares, and (ii) does not have nor may he or she exercise any voting rights with respect to any of the RSUs or any undelivered 
Eligible Shares or Earned Shares, in both cases (i) and (ii) above, unless and until the actual Shares underlying any Earned Shares 
have been delivered pursuant to this Award Agreement.

Section 9.No Effect on Capital Structure

This Award Agreement shall not affect the right of the Company to reclassify, recapitalize or otherwise change its capital or 
debt structure or to merge, consolidate, convey any or all of its assets, dissolve, liquidate, windup, or otherwise reorganize.

Section 10.Adjustments

Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, in the event of any change in the number of outstanding Shares 
effected without receipt of consideration therefor by the Company, by reason of a merger, reorganization, consolidation, 
recapitalization, separation, liquidation, stock dividend, stock split, share combination or other change in the corporate structure of 
the Company affecting the Shares, the aggregate number and class of Shares subject to this Award Agreement shall be 
automatically adjusted to accurately and equitably reflect the effect thereon of such change; provided, however, that any fractional 
share resulting from such adjustment shall be eliminated. In the event of a dispute concerning such adjustment, the decision of the 
Board shall be conclusive.

Section 11.Amendments 

This Award Agreement may be amended only by a writing executed by the Company and the Grantee which specifically 
states that it is amending this Award Agreement; provided that this Award Agreement is subject to the power of the Board to amend 
the Plan as provided therein.  Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, no such amendment shall materially adversely affect the 
Grantee's rights under this Award Agreement without the Grantee's consent.

Section 12.Board Authority

Any questions concerning the interpretation of this Award Agreement, any adjustments required to be made under Sections 
10 or 11 of this Award Agreement, and any controversy which arises under this Award Agreement shall be settled by the Board in its 
sole discretion.

Section 13.Withholding

At the time any of the Earned Shares are delivered to you pursuant to this Award Agreement, the Company will be obligated 
to pay withholding and social taxes on your behalf.  Accordingly, the Company shall have the power to withhold, or require you to 
remit to the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy any such federal, state, local or foreign withholding tax or social tax 
requirements.  At the Company's discretion, withholding may be taken from other compensation payable to you or may be satisfied 
by reducing the number of Shares deliverable to you.  If the Company elects to reduce the number of Shares deliverable to you and 
less than the full value of a Share is needed to satisfy any applicable withholding taxes, the Company will distribute to you the value 
of the remaining fractional share in cash in an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of a Share as of the Settlement Date multiplied 
by the remaining fractional Share.   
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Section 14.Notice

Whenever any notice is required or permitted hereunder, such notice must be given in writing Any notice required or 
permitted to be delivered hereunder shall be effective upon receipt thereof by the addressee The Company or the Grantee may 
change, at any time and from time to time, by written notice to the other, the address specified for receiving notices.  Until changed in 
accordance herewith, the Company's address for receiving notices shall be Garmin Ltd., Attention: General Counsel, 
Mühlentalstrasse 2, 8200 Schaffhausen, Switzerland.  Unless changed, the Grantee's address for receiving notices shall be the last 
known address of the Grantee on the Company's records.  It shall be the Grantee's sole responsibility to notify the Company as to 
any change in his or her address.  Such notification shall be made in accordance with this Section 14.
 

Section 15.Severability

If any part of this Award Agreement is declared by any court or governmental authority to be unlawful or invalid, such 
unlawfulness or invalidity shall not serve to invalidate any part of this Award Agreement not declared to be unlawful or invalid.  Any 
part so declared unlawful or invalid shall, if possible, be construed in a manner which gives effect to the terms of such part to the 
fullest extent possible while remaining lawful and valid.  Additionally, if any of the covenants in Section 7 are determined by a court to 
be unenforceable in whole or in part because of such covenant's duration or geographical or other scope, such court shall have the 
power to modify the duration or scope of such provision as the case may be, so as to cause such covenant, as so modified, to be 
enforceable.

Section 16.Binding Effect

This Award Agreement shall bind, and, except as specifically provided herein, shall inure to the benefit of the respective 
heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto.

Section 17.Governing Law and Jurisdiction

This Award Agreement and the rights of all persons claiming hereunder shall be construed and determined in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Kansas without giving effect to the principles of the Conflict of Laws to the contrary.  Except as 
otherwise provided by mandatory forum requirements of the applicable law, the courts of the State of Kansas shall have exclusive 
jurisdiction with regard to any disputes under the Plan. The Company shall retain, however, in addition the right to bring any 
claim in any other appropriate forum.
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EXHIBIT B

[PERFORMANCE GOALS AND WEIGHTING PERCENTAGE] 

 



 

 

 

EXHIBIT 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION
 

I, Clifton A. Pemble, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Garmin Ltd.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by 
this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all material respects 
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for 
the registrant and we have:
 
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure 
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities particularly 
during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;
 
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness 
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal 
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to 
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over 
financial reporting.

Date: October 30, 2024 By /s/ Clifton A. Pemble
  Clifton A. Pemble
  President and Chief Executive Officer
 



 

 

 

EXHIBIT 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION
 

I, Douglas G. Boessen, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Garmin Ltd.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by 
this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all material respects 
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for 
the registrant and we have:
 
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure 
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities particularly 
during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;
 
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness 
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal 
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to 
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over 
financial reporting.
 
Date: October 30, 2024 By /s/ Douglas G. Boessen
  Douglas G. Boessen
  Chief Financial Officer
 



 

 

 

EXHIBIT 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the quarterly report of Garmin Ltd. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 28, 2024 as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Clifton A. Pemble, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, 
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 
 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 

Company.
 
Date: October 30, 2024 By /s/ Clifton A. Pemble
  Clifton A. Pemble
  President and Chief Executive Officer 
 



 

 

 

EXHIBIT 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the quarterly report of Garmin Ltd. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 28, 2024 as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Douglas G. Boessen, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant 
to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 
 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 

Company.
 
Date: October 30, 2024 By /s/ Douglas G. Boessen
  Douglas G. Boessen
  Chief Financial Officer
 




